THE DOCUMENTARY HISTORY OF THE RATIFICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION

Ratification of the Constitution by the States

NEW JERSEY

Supplemental Documents

THE DOCUMENTARY HISTORY OF THE RATIFICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION

Ratification of the Constitution

by the States

NEW JERSEY Supplemental Documents

John P. Kaminski Sarah K. Danforth Thomas H. Linley Anna M. Biermeier Johanna E. Lannér-Cusin Jonathan M. Reid

KI CHARLES H. SCHOENLEBER RTH MARGARET R. FLAMINGO LEY TIMOTHY D. MOORE LIER DAVID P. FIELDS -CUSIN RICHARD LEFFLER EID GASPARE J. SALADINO JOAN WESTGATE

MADISON, WISCONSIN

CENTER FOR THE STUDY OF THE AMERICAN CONSTITUTION

2 0 2 3

The Documentary History of the Ratification of the Constitution is sponsored by the National Historical Publications and Records Commission and the University of Wisconsin–Madison. Preparation of this volume was made possible by grants from the National Historical Publications and Records Commission; the Division of Research Programs of the National Endowment for the Humanities, an independent federal agency; the Lynde and Harry Bradley Foundation; the William Nelson Cromwell Foundation; and the Hamilton Roddis Foundation. Any views, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect those of the National Endowment for the Humanities.

Copyright © 2023 by The Center for the Study of the American Constitution

All rights reserved

ISBN 979-8-9879445-2-3

Contents

Introduction	ix
Symbols	х

Documents

1. Constitution of New-Jersey, 1776	1
2. New Jersey Election Law, 16 December 1783	1
3. The New Jersey Assembly and the Congressional Requisition of	
September 1785, 18 February–17 March 1786	8
3-A. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, 18 February	8
3-B. Assembly Proceedings, Monday, 20 February	8
3-C. Assembly Proceedings, Thursday, 2 March	10
3-D. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, 3 March	11
3-E. Assembly Proceedings, Monday, 13 March	11
3-F. Speech by Charles Pinckney before the Assembly, 13 March	12
3-G. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, 14 March	18
3-H. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, 17 March	19
4. The New Jersey Legislature and the Appointment of Delegates	
to the Annapolis Convention, 14 March 1786–30 May 1787	20
4-A. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, 14 March	20
4-B. Assembly Proceedings, Saturday, 18 March	20
4-C. Assembly Proceedings, Monday, 20 March	20
4-D. Council Proceedings, Tuesday, 21 March	20
4-E. Joint Session of the Legislature, 21 March	21
4-F. New Jersey Journal, 30 May 1787	21
5. Jonathan Dayton to David Brearley, [7] June 1787	21
6. Extract of a Letter from Perth Amboy to Basseterre	
British West Indies, 16 June 1787	22
7. A Friend to New-Jersey, New Jersey Journal, 29 August 1787	23
8. New Jersey Journal, 12 September 1787	25
9. A Zealous Columbian, New Jersey Journal, 12 September 1787	25
10. Robert Morris to Major Wynkoop, New York, 21 September 1787	27
11. Joseph Bloomfield to Jonathan Rhea, Burlington	
24 September 1787	28
12. Public and Private Commentaries on the Prospects of	
New Jersey Ratification, 26 September–20 December 1787	28
13. Pennsylvania Herald, 27 September 1787	30
14. County Petitions to the Legislature, 1–25 October 1787	31
14-A. Gloucester County, 1 October	31
14-B. Burlington County, 3 October	31
14-C. Middlesex County	31
14-D. Middlesex County	31
14-E. Salem County	31
14-F. Salem County	31

15. An Elector, New Jersey Journal, 3 October 1787	31
16. L.E., New Jersey Journal, 3 October 1787	32
17. Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 16 October 1787	33
18. The New Jersey Legislature and the Payment of Convention Delegates	
31 October–6 November 1787	34
18-A. Assembly Proceedings, Wednesday, A.M., 31 October	34
18-B. Assembly Proceedings, Thursday, A.M., 1 November	34
18-C. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, A.M., 2 November	34
18-D. Council Proceedings, Friday, A.M., 2 November	34
18-E. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, P.M., 2 November	34
18-F. Council Proceedings, Friday, P.M., 2 November	34
18-G. Council Proceedings, Tuesday, A.M., 6 November	35
18-H. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, A.M., 6 November	35
18-I. Council Proceedings, Tuesday, A.M., 6 November	35
18-J. Act to Pay Delegates to the State Convention, 6 November	35
19. The Final Decision, New Jersey Journal, 31 October 1787	36
20. A Farmer of New Jersey: Observations on Government	
3 November 1787–4 December 1788	39
20-A. "A Farmer, of New-Jersey," Observations on Government	
(New York, 1787)	39
20-B. New York Daily Advertiser, 3 November	39
20-C. John Stevens, Jr., to John Stevens, Sr., Hoboken, 9 December	39
20-D. John Stevens, Jr., to John Stevens, Sr., Hoboken, 30 December	39
20-E. William Ross to John Stevens, Jr., New York, 16 May 1788	39
20-F. John Stevens, Jr., to Benjamin Van Cleve, Hoboken	
21 November 1788	40
20-G. John Stevens, Jr., to Honorable John Stevens, Sr., Hoboken	
4 December 1788	40
21. Newspaper Reports of the Calling of the State Convention	
7–20 November 1787	40
21-A. Pennsylvania Journal, 7 November	40
21-B. Connecticut Middlesex Gazette, 12 November	41
21-C. Trenton Mercury, 13 November	41
21-D. Salem Mercury (Massachusetts), 20 November	41
22. Newspaper Reports of Convention Elections	
27 November – 18 December 1787	41
22-A. Brunswick Gazette, 27 November	41
22-B. Pennsylvania Packet, 1 December	41
22-C. Brunswick Gazette, 4 December	42
22-D. Trenton Mercury, 4 December	42
22-E. New York Daily Advertiser, 5 December	42
22-F. Pennsylvania Packet, 10 December	42
22-G. Trenton Mercury, 11 December	43
23. Newspaper Report of Convention Proceedings on	15
11–14 December 1787	43
24. Pennsylvania Packet, 15 December 1787	43
25. Newspaper Reports of Convention Proceedings on	11
18–20 December 1787	45
	чJ

CONTENTS

26. New Jersey Form of Ratification	
	48
	48
26-B. New Jersey Form Retained by the State, 18 December 4	48
27. Walter Rutherfurd to John Stevens, New York, 18 December 1787 4	48
28. Reports of New Jersey Ratification	
21 December 1787–11 January 1788 4	49
28-A. New York Daily Advertiser, 21 December 4	49
	49
	49
28-D. New York Independent Journal, 22 December 4	49
	49
	49
	49
28-H. Pennsylvania Mercury, 28 December 4	49
28-I. Philadelphia American Museum, December 5	50
	50
29. Margery, Letter VIII to Mr. B—n of Cumberland County Philadelphia, 7 January 1788	
Philadelphia, 7 January 1788 5	51
30. New Jersey Journal, 9 January 1788 5	51
31. Governor William Smallwood to Governor William Livingston	
	51
32. Nicholas Van Dyke, Jr., to Nicholas Van Dyke, Sr., Princeton	
	52
33. Governor Samuel Huntington to Governor William Livingston	
· J	52
	52
\mathbf{J}	53
36. New Jersey Journal, 28 May 1788 5	53
37. Abraham Clark and the Constitution	
	53
	53
\mathbf{J} \mathbf{J} \mathbf{J} \mathbf{J} \mathbf{J} \mathbf{J}	55
	55
	57
	58
	58
40. An Act for Defraying Sundry Incidental Charges, 9 September 1788 5	59
Appendix: Items printed or reprinted in New Jersey contained in	
	60
Index 7	76

Facsimiles

Facsimiles of the following items can be found on the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection website at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution.

- 1. Constitution of New-Jersey, 1776
- 14. County Petitions to the Legislature, 1-25 October 1787
 - 14-A. Gloucester County, 1 October
 - 14-B. Burlington County, 3 October
 - 14-C. Middlesex County
 - 14-D. Middlesex County
 - 14-E. Salem County
 - 14-F. Salem County
- 20-A. "A Farmer, of New-Jersey," Observations on Government (New York, 1787)
- 26. New Jersey Form of Ratification, December 1787
 - 26-A. New Jersey Form Sent to Congress, 18 December
 - 26-B. New Jersey Form Retained by the State, 18 December

viii

Introduction

The supplemental documents are intended to provide a fuller documentation and understanding of the debate over the ratification of the Constitution in New Jersey than was possible in the printed volume. This supplement contains official documents, letters, and newspaper items.

Except for some photographic reproductions (facsimiles), the documents consist mostly of literal transcripts. The documents are arranged chronologically except for those on particular subjects which are grouped together. These groupings are:

- The New Jersey Assembly and the Congressional Requisition of September 1785, 18 February–17 March 1786
- The New Jersey Legislature and the Appointment of Delegates to the Annapolis Convention, 14 March 1786–30 May 1787
- County Petitions to the Legislature, 1–25 October 1787
- The New Jersey Legislature and the Payment of Convention Delegates, 31 October–6 November 1787
- A Farmer of New Jersey: Observations on Government, 3 November 1787– 4 December 1788
- Newspaper Reports of the Calling of the State Convention, 7–20 November 1787
- Newspaper Reports of Convention Elections, 27 November–18 December 1787
- Reports of New Jersey Ratification, 21 December 1787–11 January 1788
- Abraham Clark and the Constitution, 23 July 1788–6 February 1789

Facsimiles

This Supplement contains 4 facsimiles totaling 87 individual pages. These facsimiles provide a visual representation of original documents, some of which were difficult or impossible to transcribe.

References to these facsimiles (including the document number, title, and footnotes) appear in the text portion of the Supplement with an indication to visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection's website (https://digital .library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution) to view the documents themselves.

A list of facsimiles can be found at the end of the Table of Contents.

Appendix

Many newspaper items and pamphlets in the ratification debate had a regional or national circulation. These items are printed in *Commentaries on the Constitution: Public and Private* (CC). The Appendix in this volume lists these *Commentaries* items that were printed or reprinted in New Jersey.

Symbols

Manuscripts

- ALS Autograph letter signed
- DS Document signed
- FC File Copy
- MS Manuscript
- RC Recipient's Copy
- RG Record Group

Short Titles

Evans Charles Evans, American	Bibliography (12 vols.,	Chicago, 1903-1934).
-------------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------

Cross-references to Volumes of The Documentary History of the Ratification of the Constitution

CC	References to Commentaries on the Constitution are cited as "CC"
	followed by the number of the document. For example: "CC:25."

- Mfm References to the supplements to the "RCS" volumes are cited as "Mfm" followed by the abbreviation of the state and the number of the document. For example: "Mfm:N.J. 2." "Mfm" is also used in the running headers as an aide to the reader, and are especially helpful in multipage documents.
- RCS References to the series of volumes titled *Ratification of the Constitution by the States* are cited as "RCS" followed by the abbreviation of the state and the page number. For example: "RCS:N.J., 14."

Documents

1. Constitution of New-Jersey, 1776

◆ To view this document, see Evans 14912, or visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

2. New Jersey Election Law, 16 December 1783¹

An ACT for regulating the Election of Members of the Legislative-Council and Assembly, Sheriffs and Coroners, of the State of New-Jersey, and of Delegates to represent the said State in the Congress of the United States.

Sect. 1. BE IT ENACTED by the Council and General Assembly of this State, and it is hereby Enacted by the Authority of the same, That all Elections of Representatives to serve in the Council and General Assembly, and of Sheriffs and Coroners, in this State, shall be annual, and held on the second *Tuesday* in October yearly and every Year, at the Place of holding the Courts of General Quarter-Sessions of the Peace, in the respective Counties in this State, except in the County of *Hunterdon*, where they shall be held at the House generally known by the Name of *Ringo's* Tavern; and the Council and Assembly of this State shall separately meet at *Trenton* on the second *Tuesday* next after the said Day of Election annually.

2. And be it Enacted, That the Sheriff of the County, or the first Judge of the Court of Common-Pleas, or any one of the other Judges of said Court, in case of the Non-Attendance of the Sheriff or first Judge, or the Clerk of the County, in case of the Non-Attendance of the Sheriff, or any one of the Judges aforesaid, or in case of the Non-Attendance of either of the aforesaid Officers, then, any one reputable Freeholder, who shall be chosen by a Majority of the Electors present, shall, between the Hours of ten in the Forenoon, and twelve at Noon, cause publick Proclamation to be made in Presence of the Persons met at the Place of holding the Election, requiring all Persons who intend to stand Candidates, or design to name any Persons as Candidates, to represent the County in the Legislative-Council and Assembly of the State, or for Sheriff or Coroners. to deliver in their Names to him before two o'Clock in the Afternoon of the same Day, or they will be excluded; and shall also conduct the Business of the Election so far as relates to opening the Poll when a Poll is demanded, keeping good Order during the Time of Election, and proclaiming the Persons duly elected after the closing the Poll, for which Purpose the several Clerks shall make Return to him as soon as the Poll is closed, of the Number of Voters for each Candidate: Provided always, That if any of the Officers herein directed to superintend the Business of the Election, should be set up as a Candidate for any Office or Appointment at said Election, then, and in such Case, the next in Order shall conduct the said Business.

3. *And be it Enacted*, That the Inhabitants of each County entitled to vote for Representatives in the said Council and Assembly when met, at the Place of Election, shall, between the Hours of ten in the Forenoon and twelve at Noon, choose one judicious Freeholder from each Township to serve as Inspectors of

NEW JERSEY SUPPLEMENT

the Election; and in case it should so happen that there should be no Freeholder attending from any one Township, then, and in such Case it may be lawful for the Inhabitants so met to choose any reputable Freeholder attending, that may be best acquainted with the Township, from which there is no Freeholder; and the Persons so chosen shall severally take the following Oath or Affirmation:

I ______ do swear (or affirm, as the Case may be) that I will duly and impartially serve, as one of the Inspectors of this Election; that I will neither receive nor Assent to the receiving the Vote of any Person who I shall have Reason to think is not by the Law of this State entitled to vote in this Election.

4. *And be it further Enacted*, That if any Inspector shall be set up as a Candidate at the said Election, it shall and may be lawful for the Electors who may be present to appoint some proper Person to serve in the Place of him so disqualified; and the Person so appointed shall immediately take the Oath or Affirmation before directed for the Inspectors to take.

5. And be it Enacted, That the Inspectors appointed as aforesaid, after being qualified shall, between the Hours of ten in the Morning and one in the Afternoon, choose, by Plurality of Voices, three Persons to serve as Clerks of the Election, whose Business it shall be to take down in Writing the Name of each Candidate, the Name of each Elector, and, when any Vote may be objected against, the Place of Abode of the Voter; and the Clerks so appointed shall severally, before they proceed to Business, take the following Oath or Affirmation, *videlicet*,

I ______ do swear (or affirm, as the Case may be) that I will truly and impartially serve as one of the Clerks of this Election; that I will not enter the Name of any Elector until his Vote has been received and approved by the Inspectors, nor wilfully omit to enter the Name of any Elector whose Vote shall have been approved of by the said Inspectors.

6. And be it Enacted, That every Candidate shall be nominated by some Person who is entitled to vote, and enrolled by the Clerks as a Candidate for the Council or Assembly, Sheriff or Coroner, agreeably to such Nomination before any Vote shall be for him received; and the Names of the Candidates so enrolled shall be wrote in fair Characters under the Word Council or Assembly, Sheriff or Coroners, agreeably to the said Nomination and Enrolment, and fixed up in full View at the Door of the House where the Election is held; and if any Person shall stand as a Candidate for more than one Department, his Name shall be entered accordingly, and in like Manner wrote on the Paper fixed up at the Door aforesaid; and no new Candidate shall be set up, or enrolled after two of the Clock in the Afternoon of the first Day of the Election.

7. And be it Enacted, That all Inhabitants of this State of full Age who are worth *Fifty Pounds*, Proclamation Money, clear Estate in the same, and have resided within the County in which they claim a Vote for twelve Months immediately preceding the Election, shall be entitled to vote for Representatives in Council and Assembly, and also for all other publick Officers that shall be elected by the People of the County at large, excepting such as may be herein after excluded for Offences committed against the State.

8. And be it Enacted, That if any Person's Vote shall be objected against, it shall not be received until he shall have taken the Oaths of Abjuration and Allegiance prescribed by an Act, intitled, An Act for the Security of the Government of New-Jersey, passed the nineteenth Day of September, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Seventy-six, unless he may have taken the same previous to the Time of Objection; and likewise if required, the following Oath or Affirmation, videlicet,

I VERILY believe, that I am twenty-one Years of Age, and worth Fifty Pounds, Proclamation Money, clear Estate, in this State; and that I am and have been for one whole Year last past an Inhabitant of this County.

9. And be it Enacted, That if any Person shall at any such Election give, offer, or promise any Fee or Reward, Victuals, Drink, or other Entertainment, or by any undue Influence at any Time, endeavour to prevail on any Person to vote for him, or for any other Person, he shall, for every such Offence, forfeit the Sum of *Fifty Pounds*, to be recovered with Costs of Suit, by any Person that will sue for the same in any Court of Record where the same may be cognizable; one Half to the Prosecutor, and the other Half shall be paid to the Collector of the County where the Offence is committed, to be applied for the Use of the County; and if any Person shall vote for Fee or Reward at any Election to be held for the Purposes aforesaid he shall, for every such Offence, forfeit and pay the Sum of *Fifty Pounds*, to be recovered and applied as before directed; and if any Sheriff, Judge, Inspector or Clerk, shall neglect or refuse to perform any of the Duties required by this Act, or shall be guilty of manifest Partiality, or shall attempt in an undue Manner to influence the Election, the Person so offending shall forfeit and pay the Sum of *Fifty Pounds*, to be recovered and applied as before directed.

10. And be it Enacted, That if any Person shall appear at said Election with any Weapons of War, or use any Threats that may tend to put any of the Electors in Fear of personal Danger, or shall maliciously or advisedly propagate any false Report concerning any Candidate at such Election, with a View to prevent his being elected, or that shall have an evident Tendency thereto, he shall, for every such Offence, forfeit the Sum of *Twelve Pounds*, to be recovered and applied in Manner aforesaid; and the Person guilty of Defamation shall be liable to an Action for Scandal or Defamation by the Party injured.

11. And be it Enacted, That all future Elections of Representatives to serve in the Council and General Assembly of this State, and of Sheriffs and Coroners in the Counties of Bergen, Essex, Middlesex, Monmouth, Cumberland, Cape-May, Morris and Sussex, shall be viva voce; and that all Elections for the Purposes aforesaid to be held in the Counties of Somerset, Burlington, Gloucester, Salem and Hunterdon, shall be by Ballot; and that every Elector in said Counties which vote by Ballot shall openly and in full View of all the Inspectors deliver his Vote or Ticket to one of the Inspectors, who, on Receipt thereof, shall, with an audible Voice, pronounce the Name of such Elector, and if no Objection is made to the Voter, put the Ticket immediately into the Election-Box.

12. And be it Enacted, That the Sheriff of each of the said Counties directed to vote by Ballot shall provide a good and convenient Box with a Lock and Key thereto, and deliver the same to the Inspectors of the Election as soon as they are qualified as aforesaid; and in case the Election shall be adjourned, the said

Box, with the Tickets locked up therein, shall be kept by such Person as a Majority of the Inspectors shall for that Purpose appoint, and the Key shall be kept by the Sheriff or other Person who may conduct the Election as directed in the second Section of this Act, till the Election shall be again opened; and at the Close of every Election the Box containing the Tickets shall, in the Presence of the Inspectors, be opened by one of them, and all the Tickets therein contained taken out by him one at a Time, who shall call out distinctly while the Ticket remains in his Hand, the Names contained therein, and to what Appointment, and then deliver the same to one other of the Inspectors to be by him distinctly read off, after which the Ticket shall be delivered to the Sheriff or other Person conducting the Business of the Election as aforesaid, to be by him filed; and the Clerks shall severally enter in distinct Columns all the Names contained in each Ticket, and the Appointment therein set forth; and when this is done, the Number of Votes for each Candidate shall be carefully cast up, and by the Sheriff, or other Person conducting the Business of the Election, distinctly, and with an audible Voice, be publickly declared unto the People: *Provided always*, That if any Ticket delivered in as aforesaid shall contain more Names than it ought to contain, or otherwise appear to be fraudulent, it shall be rejected as utterly void.

13. And be it Enacted, That the Sheriff or other Person conducting the Election as aforesaid, with a Majority of the Inspectors, shall have full Power to adjourn the Election from Time to Time, as Occasion may require; and also to close the same when the Votes or Tickets of all the Electors present are delivered in, or a reasonable Time for that Purpose shall have been allowed: Provided always, That the Sheriff or other Person conducting the Election in the County of Bergen shall, when a Majority of the Inspectors of the County think it expedient, adjourn the Poll to *Hopper*'s Town at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of Essex may be adjourned in like Manner to the House where Jecamiah Smith now lives in Elizabeth-Town, and where James Lashly now lives near Acquackanunck Bridge at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of Hunterdon may be adjourned in like Manner to Bonnel's Tavern, the White-House in Readingtown, to Quaker-Town, Pennington and Trenton, at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of Burlington may be adjourned in like Manner to Bordentown at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of Sussex may be adjourned in like Manner to Hardiston and Oxford at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of *Middlesex* may be removed to Bonham-Town and Cranberry at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of *Gloucester* may be adjourned to the Sign of the Blue-Anchor on the Egg-Harbour Road at any Time during such Election; and the Poll in the County of Morris may be adjourned to the House of Joshua Douglass in the Township of Roxbury, and to Henry Howell's in Troy, at any Time during such Election; and it shall and may be lawful for the Poll to be closed at any one of the said Places where the Elections are directed to be opened at or adjourned to.

14. And be it Enacted, That when the Election is over the Sheriff, or other Person conducting the Business of the Election as aforesaid, and at least three

of the Inspectors, shall deliver, under their Hands and Seals, a Certificate thereof to the Person elected to serve in Council, and a Certificate to each of the Persons elected to serve in the Assembly; the Certificate for the Member of Council shall be as follows, *videlicet*,

WE do hereby certify, to all whom it may concern, that at an Election this Day held in the County of _____ (or if it hath been held more Days than one, then at an Election in the County of _____ begun on the _____ Day of this Instant, and ended this Day) A. B. was duly elected to represent the said County in the Legislative-Council of this State, during the ensuing Year. Witness our Hands and Seals the _____ Day of October, Anno Domini 17

And the Certificates for the Members of the Assembly shall be expressed in the same Manner, save only that the Word Assembly shall be used instead of the Word Council; and the said Sheriff or other Person conducting the Business of the Election, and at least three of the Inspectors, shall deliver under their Hands and Seals one Duplicate-Certificate of the Election of the Representative for the Council, and one Duplicate-Certificate of the Election of the Representatives for the Assembly; and the said Sheriff or other Person conducting the Election shall forward the same to be laid, the one for the Member of Council, before the Council, the other before the House of Assembly.

15. And be it Enacted, That three of the Inspectors, and at least three reputable Freeholders, shall deliver under their Hands and Seals a Certificate to the Person who shall be elected to serve as Sheriff, and one to each of the Persons who shall be elected to serve as Coroners, which Certificate shall be as follows, *videlicet*, To His Excellency the GOVERNOR, or the Honourable the VICE-PRESIDENT of the LEGISLATIVE-COUNCIL of the State of *New-Jersey*.

WE do hereby certify, that, at an Election held this Day in the County of ______ (or if it has been held more Days than one, then, at an Election in the County of ______ begun on the ______ Day of this Instant, and ended this Day) A. B. was duly elected to serve as Sheriff (or as one of the Coroners, as the Case may be) of the said County for the ensuing Year. Witness our Hands and Seals the ______ Day of October, Anno Domini

16. And be it Enacted, That if any Person chosen a Member of the Legislative-Council or Assembly shall accept of the Certificate of his Election, and shall afterwards neglect to attend and take his Seat accordingly, he shall, for every Day he shall so neglect to attend, forfeit and pay the Sum of *Three Pounds*, to be sued for and recovered by the Treasurer in any Court where the same shall be cognizable with Costs of Suit, and applied to and for the Use of the State, unless it shall appear by the Minutes of the House to which he belongs, that his Reasons for Non-Attendance have been accepted as satisfactory. *Provided always, and it is hereby Enacted*, That no such Forfeiture shall extend to more than twenty Days, and if any Person so chosen shall neglect to attend for the Space of twenty Days, after the Day herein before directed for the Meeting of the Legislature, he shall, for such Neglect, be rendered incapable of taking his Seat without a new Election, in which Case the Forfeiture shall be sued for and recovered by the Collector of the County, and applied to and for the Use of the County. *Provided* *always*, That if any Person so accepting of his Certificate and not attending, shall send forward his Reasons to the President or Vice-President if chosen a Member of Council, or to the Speaker of the House if a Member of the Assembly, and they shall appear satisfactory to the respective Houses to which they are returned, the said Person shall not be liable to the Penalty inflicted by this Act, nor to have his Seat vacated for such Neglect.

17. And be it Enacted, That if any Person chosen as aforesaid to serve in Council or Assembly shall neglect as aforesaid, or refuse to take his Seat pursuant to his Election, or shall die or remove out of the State, or be expelled from his Seat by a Vote of the House to which he shall belong, then, and in every such Case the President or Vice-President of the Council, or the Speaker of the House of Assembly, as the Case may be, shall issue a Warrant to the Sheriff of the County where the Vacancy may happen, requiring him forthwith to set up Advertisements in eight of the most publick Places in the County fourteen Days at least before the Day of Election, informing the People when and where the same is to be held; and the Election shall be carried on in all Respects as the annual Elections are before directed to be carried on, and the Return thereof be made accordingly.

18. And be it Enacted, That if any Sheriff chosen as aforesaid in any of the Counties of this State shall refuse to serve, or shall neglect to apply for his Commission within one Month after his Election, or shall die or remove out of the County in which he was elected before the Term of his Office is expired, then, and in such Case the Clerk of the County shall immediately advertise a new Election in the same Manner in which the Sheriff is herein before directed to advertise, which Election shall be in every Respect conducted agreeably to the Directions before given in this Act.

19. And be it Enacted, That the Sheriff or other Person conducting the Election, and the Inspectors and Clerks of the said Elections, shall be allowed the Sum of *Seven Shillings and Six-pence* each by the Day for their Service, to be paid by the Collector of the County on producing a Certificate of the Time of their Service, signed by the Sheriff or other Person conducting the Business of the Election.

20. And be it Enacted, That no Person shall hereafter be elected as a Member of the Legislative-Council or Assembly of this State, unless he shall have been a Freeholder and Inhabitant in the same for at least two Years, and a Citizen of the United States for at least seven Years next before his Election; and also a Freeholder and Inhabitant of the County which he is to represent for one whole Year next before his Election; and if a Member of the Council, worth *One Thousand Pounds*; and if a Member of the Assembly, worth *Five Hundred Pounds*, in Real and Personal Estate in the said County.

21. And be it Enacted, That every Person who shall hereafter be elected a Member of the Council or Assembly of this State, shall, before he takes his Seat in either of the said Departments, take and subscribe the Oaths or Affirmations of Abjuration and Allegiance prescribed in an Act, intitled, An Act for the Security of the Government of New-Jersey, passed the nineteenth Day of September, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Seventy-six; and also the Oath prescribed in the twentythird Section of the Constitution of this State (except only the Word State shall Mfm:N.J. 2

be substituted instead of *Colony* in the same;) and likewise if a Member of the Council, the following Oath or Affirmation, *videlicet*,

I ______ as a Member of the Council for the County of ______ do swear (or affirm, as the Case may be) that I am and have been for two whole Years next before my Election a Freeholder and Inhabitant of the State of New-Jersey, and a Citizen of the United States of America for seven Years last past; and also a Freeholder and Inhabitant of said County for one whole Year next before my Election; and that to the best of my Knowledge and Belief, I am worth One Thousand Pounds in Real and Personal Estate in the same County.

And if a Member of the Assembly, then the following Oath or Affirmation:

I ______ as a Member of the Assembly for the County of ______ do swear (or affirm, as the Case may be) that I am and have been for two whole Years next before my Election a Freeholder and Inhabitant of the State of New-Jersey, and a Citizen of the United States of America for seven Years last past; and also a Freeholder and Inhabitant of said County for one whole Year next before My Election, and to the best of My Knowledge and Belief I am worth Five Hundred Pounds in Real and Personal Estate in the same County.

22. And be it Enacted, That any Person elected to serve as a Member of either Branch of the Legislature, shall have full Power and Authority, when a Quorum of either House are met together, to administer the said Oaths or Affirmations to any of his Fellow-Members.

23. And be it Enacted, That each and every Person being an Inhabitant of this State, who hath at any Time during the Continuance of the past War with *GreatBritain*, voluntarily joined the Enemy by taking Refuge amongst them, or who hath been, or shall hereafter be, convicted of High Treason, or who hath or shall hereafter forfeit his Estate, or who hath been, or shall be duly convicted of Treason, Felony or Misdemeanor, for going to, taking Refuge with, or affording any Aid and Assistance to the said Enemy, or who hath been fined or imprisoned for refusing to give Testimony of their Allegiance by taking the Oath or Affirmation of Abjuration and Allegiance to this State, prescribed by an Act, intitled, *An Act for the Security of the Government of* New-Jersey, each and every of the aforesaid described Persons is and are hereby declared to be incapable forever of being set up as a Candidate for any Office at the said annual Elections, or of being admitted into, holding or exercising, any Office of Trust or Profit, either civil or military, or of voting for Representatives of the Legislative-Council or Assembly, Sheriffs or Coroners, in this State.

24. And be it Enacted, That the Council and Assembly in Joint-Meeting, at the first Sitting of the Legislature after the annual Election, and at any other Time when the same may be necessary, shall elect and choose any Number of Delegates not less than three nor more than seven to represent this State in the Congress of the United States, and shall agree upon the Form of Credentials to be given them of their Appointment, which Credentials, signed by the Chairman of the Joint-Meeting, shall authorize the said Delegates to sit and vote on the Part of this State, in the Congress of the United States, during the Year or Time for which they are elected, unless in that Time superseded by a new Appointment.

25. And be it Enacted, That no Person shall be hereafter elected a Delegate to represent this State, in the Congress of the United States, unless he hath been a Freeholder within this State for at least three Years, and an Inhabitant of the same for at least seven Years next before his Election, and worth *One Thousand Pounds* in Real and Personal Estate, within this State.

26. And be it Enacted, That every Delegate who shall be appointed to represent this State, in the Congress of the United States, shall, before he takes his Seat in Congress, take and subscribe, before any one of the Judges of the Court of Common-Pleas in this State, who is hereby authorized to administer the same, the Oaths or Affirmations of Abjuration and Allegiance, prescribed by the Act, initiled, An Act for the Security of the Government of New-Jersey, passed the nine-teenth Day of September, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Seventy-six; and also the following Oath or Affirmation, videlicet,

I — do swear (or affirm, as the Case may be) that I am and have been for seven Years last past a Resident, and for three Years last past a Freeholder of the State of New-Jersey; and to the best of my Knowledge and Belief am worth One Thousand Pounds in Real and Personal Estate within the same.

A Copy of which Oaths or Affirmations shall be as soon as convenient filed in the Secretary's Office of this State by the Judge administering the same.

27. And be it Enacted, That the Act, intitled, An Act for regulating the Election of Members of the Legislative-Council and Assembly, Sheriffs and Coroners, of the State of New-Jersey; and also to direct the Election of Delegates to represent the said State, in the Congress of the United States, passed the twenty-fourth Day of December, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Seventy-nine; and the several supplementary Acts thereto, together with the Act to amend the same, shall be, and the same are hereby severally repealed.

Passed at Trenton, December 16, 1783.

1. Acts of the Eighth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey . . . (Trenton, 1784), chapter XI, 15–23.

3 A–H. The New Jersey Assembly and the Congressional Requisition of September 1785, 18 February–17 March 1786

3-A. Assembly Proceedings, Saturday, 18 February¹

The House resumed the Consideration of the Requisition of Congress of the 27th September last; and, after some Time spent thereon,

Ordered, That the further Consideration thereof be postponed until Monday next at three o'Clock, P.M.

3-B. Assembly Proceedings, Monday, 20 February

The House resumed the Consideration of the Requisition of Congress of the 27th September last; and, after some Time spent thereon,

A Motion was made by Mr. A. Clark, seconded by Mr. Nicoll, in the following Words:

That notwithstanding the Legislature of this State, to give Efficacy to the Opposition made against Great-Britain in their Attempts to subjugate these United States, did assent to the general Confederation agreed to by Congress; yet this was done upon a Remonstrance to Congress against the Injustice and Inequality of the same, and a confident Reliance upon the Wisdom, Justice and Magnanimity of the several States to make such Alterations as upon more mature Deliberation might appear equitable: Such Alterations, though often in Part recommended by Congress, have not yet been obtained; nor hath the Requisition of Congress of April 1783, for a general Impost and Revenue, been complied with by all the States, especially by the States of New-York and Georgia: Though the Requisition is founded upon the most just and equal Principles, urged by Congress in the most forcible and persuasive Language; and the same being a Measure in the general Opinion absolutely necessary to the Existence of the United States in their confederated Capacity: While our neighbouring States, by their State-Imposts, are draining this State of Sums annually to a much larger Amount, as we have Reason to suppose, than our Quota of Specie called for by the late Requisition: That although this State hath at all Times manifested a Readiness to contribute a just Proportion towards the Publick Expence of the Union; yet cannot agree to Expenditures for the Promotion of Commerce of which we have no Participation, and at the same Time submit to contribute so largely as we now do to raise Revenues for the commercial States, while we share no Part of such Revenues, and over and above such Exactions to pay our full Proportion of Publick Debts into the Treasury of the United States, especially as nearly our whole Quota of the Publick Debt is due to citizens of this State for which it is our Duty to provide: And moreover the present Requisition of Congress directs Certificates for Payment of all Arrears of Interest to be issued, which will probably amount to a much larger Sum than the Taxes called for will sink in a considerable Time; and if the Mode directed in the said Requisition for issuing Interest-Certificates should be continued in succeeding Years, those Certificates, which may happen to be a Surplus over and above the Sum called for by Taxes in any one Year, as they draw no Interest, must be reduced to little or no Value, to the great Loss and Injury of most of the Publick Creditors, especially those of this State, by Reason of the large Proportion they hold of Publick Securities: For all which and many other Reasons which might be offered,

Resolved, That this House cannot, consistent with the Duty they owe to their Constituents, comply with the Requisition of Congress of the 27th of September last in the Mode therein directed, or agreeable to the Spirit thereof, or any other of a similar Nature requiring Specie, until all the States in the Union shall comply with the Requisition of April 1783 for an Impost and Revenue; or at least until the several States, having the Advantage of Commerce which they now enjoy solely from the joint Exertions of the United States, shall forbear exacting Duties or Imposts upon Goods and Merchandise for the particular Benefit of their respective States, thereby drawing Revenues from other States whose local Situations and Circumstances will not admit their enjoying similar Advantages from Commerce.

Yeas.	Yeas.	Yeas.	Nays.
Mr. Terhune,	Mr. Bunn,	Mr. Whilden,	Mr. Sinnickson,
Mr. Blauvelt,	Mr. Blaire,	Mr. Lambert,	Mr. Swain,
Mr. Nicoll,	Mr. Kelley,	Mr. Houghton,	Mr. Sheppard.
Mr. Garritse,	Mr. R. S. Smith,	Mr. Cook,	
Mr. A. Clark,	Mr. Biddle,	Mr. Starke,	
Mr. Combs,	Mr. J. Smith,	Mr. Burgin,	
Mr. Schuurman,	Mr. Cooper,	Mr. Bowen,	
Mr. Bonney,	Mr. T. Clark,	Mr. Hankinson,	
Mr. Walton,	Mr. Davis,	Mr. Beardslee,	
Mr. Schenck,	Mr. Hall,	Mr. Longstreet.	
Mr. Stillwell,	Mr. Baker,	-	

On the Question, Whether the House agree to the said Motion and Resolution? It was carried in the Affirmative, as follows:

3-C. Assembly Proceedings, Thursday, 2 March

Mr. A. Clark, with Leave, presented the following Instructions to the Delegates representing this State in the Congress of the United States:

To the Honourable Lambert Cadwalader, John Cleves-Symmes and Josiah Hornblower, Delegates representing the State of New-Jersey in Congress.

GENTLEMEN,

We, the Representatives of the State of New-Jersey in Council and Assembly met, think it a Duty we owe to our Constituents, particularly at the present Crisis, to apprize you of our Sentiments on certain Subjects of high Publick Concern.

The Legislature of this State, early in the late Revolution, represented to Congress their Ideas on sundry Parts of the Confederation, and, among the Rest, on the general Subject of Commerce and Duties upon Trade. You observe them entered on the Journals of the 25th of June 1778. At that Time the Publick Debt was not an Object of so great Attention, otherwise doubtless it would have been first in their Thoughts upon the Appropriation of those Duties. When the Revenue-System of 18th April 1783 was passed in Congress, we were then in Hopes that our Situation, between two commercial States, would no longer operate to our Detriment; and that those States, and others in their Predicament, were at Length convinced of the selfish and palpable Injustice of subjecting others to their Exactions, and then applying those Exactions to the Augmentation of their respective private Revenues.

The same contracted and destructive Policy that hath long subsisted still continues; and as we are convinced that neither Publick Credit can be supported, the Publick Debts paid, or the Existence of the Union maintained, without the Impost-Revenue in some beneficial, effective Manner, it has become our Duty to instruct you, To vote against each and every Ordinance, Resolution and Proceeding whatsoever, which shall produce any Expence to New-Jersey, for the Promotion or Security of the Commerce of these States, or any of them, from which neither the Union in general, nor this State in particular, derives any Advantage, until all the States shall effectually and substantially adopt and carry into Execution the Impost above mentioned.

You will see, by the above Representation, that the Legislature of this State have uniformly held the same Justice of Sentiment respecting the Vacant or Crown Lands, as they were formerly called; relative to which you are instructed,

To vote against each and every Ordinance, Resolution and Proceeding whatsoever, which shall tend to charge this State with any Expence for acquiring, gaining Possession of, or defending such Territory claimed by, or which is to accrue to, the exclusive Benefit of any particular State or States, and not to the Union at large.

The Legislature has beheld, with much Concern, Gratuities, Advances of Money, and partial Payments, made by Congress to importuning Creditors and others, not regulated by any general and equal System, which not only empoverish the Treasury, but produce Discontents, and furnish bad Precedents;

You are therefore instructed not to assent to any such Payments, or to the Payment of any particular Debts, other than foreign Loans, in Preference to others of a like Nature, whereby a Discrimination of Creditors may take Place. It were well if the Publick could pay all promptly, but as that is impracticable, it is absolutely necessary to act upon settled uniform Plans in paying as far as the Revenue can extend.

The above Instructions were read, agreed to by the House, and ordered to be engrossed.

3-D. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, 3 March

The engrossed Instructions to the Delegates representing this State in the Congress of the United States was read and compared;

Ordered, That the Speaker do sign the same.

Ordered, That Mr. R. S. Smith do carry the said Instructions to the Council for Concurrence.

Mr. R. S. Smith reported, that he had obeyed the Order of the House.

3-E. Assembly Proceedings, Monday, 13 March

Agreeably to the Order of the Day the Honourable the Committee of Congress attended the House, and remonstrated against the Resolution of the House of the 20th Ultimo, and having laid before the House the Report of the Committee of Congress of the 15th Ultimo, concerning the System of general Revenue recommended by Congress on the 18th of April 1783, and a Schedule of the French and Dutch Loans shewing the Periods of their Redemption, with the annual Interests payable thereon until their final Extinction, for which Provision is yet to be made. The Committee, after having urged the Impropriety of the Resolution of this House of the 20th Ultimo, and requesting that the said Resolution might be rescinded, withdrew, and then

The House adjourned to three o'Clock, P. M.

3-F. Speech by Charles Pinckney before the Assembly, 13 March²

On Monday last, the committee of congress, consisting of the hon. Charles Pinckney, of South Carolina, the hon. Nathaniel Gorham, of Massachusetts, and the hon. William Grayson, of Virginia, had an audience of the assembly of New-Jersey, agreeably to the resolution of congress of the 7th instant, and the appointment of the house, assigning that day.

The resolution of congress, appointing the committee, and stating its purposes—and the resolutions of congress of the 15th of February last, respecting the revenue-system of [18th] April, 1783, were read; and a schedule of the foreign loan laid before the house.

Mr. Pinckney then addressed the house in nearly the following terms: Mr. Speaker,

The united states in congress assembled, have been informed, that this house on the 20th ultimo, resolved that they could not, consistently with their duty to their constituents, assent to the requisition of September last, for federal supplies. Upon this information, they conceive it incumbent on them, as guardians of the general rights and interests of the confederacy, by a deputation of their own body, to present to the view of the house, the absolute necessity there is for a strict and punctual compliance with the requisitions of congress, and the consequences which must attend an adherence to the present determination of the assembly.

When these states united, convinced of the inability of each to support a separate system, and that their protection and existence depended on their union—policy, as well as prudence, dictated the necessity of forming one general and EFFICIENT GOVERNMENT, which, while it protected and secured the whole, left to the several states, those rights of *internal sovereignty*, which it was not necessary to delegate, and which could be exercised without injury to the federal authority. In them were placed all the essential powers which constitute a nation-such are, the exclusive rights of peace and war; of sending and receiving embassies; of forming treaties and alliances; and equipping and raising fleets and armies. To them, also, was delegated the power of obtaining loans on the faith of the united states; and of apportioning to the several members of the union, their quotas of the public expenses. The mode established by the confederation, for ascertaining their respective quotas, was, at that time, supposed equal and practicable. Experience, however, has proved the contrary: and the states, though frequently urged, having neglected to furnish returns of the value of their lands, and the buildings and improvements thereon, agreeably to the article, congress were induced to recommend an alteration of it. This has been under reference for some time. Ten of the states have complied; and many of them furnished returns of their inhabitants, in conformity to the recommendation. New Jersey has done both. It is the best information we have been able to obtain, of the comparative strength and resources of the states, and the only one on which the requisitions for public supplies, could be equally or properly founded.

The states having thus, by their voluntary act, formed one government, as essential to the protection of the whole-and placed in a supreme controuling power the administration of its general concerns, and to which they were to look up for support-each state is bound, according to its abilities, to furnish a proportion of the expenses; and the whole are jointly and severally pledged for the public engagements, foreign and domestic. The mode prescribed by the confederation, being, as I have observed, impracticable, it follows, that the proportions are to be quoted agreeably to the best lights in the possession of the union: for while the government exists, its members are bound to contribute to its maintenance. New Jersey has not only assented to the mode by which she is rated, but furnished the returns on which the assessment could be made with exactness: she certainly cannot, therefore, complain of bearing an undue proportion. She will not, I trust, upon reflexion, suppose she can, either consistently with her duty to the union, or with safety to its welfare, refuse to comply with the requisition. If she has been over-rated, upon stating the excess in evidence to congress, she will always receive the relief she may be justly entitled to. If, on the other hand, she conceives herself unequally situated, or that she does not participate in those common benefits which the general government was expected to dispense to all its members—if she thinks, with, me, that its powers are inadequate to the ends for which it was instituted, and that they should be increased-there can be no doubt of the conduct she ought to pursue. She ought immediately to instruct her delegates in congress, to urge the calling of a general convention of the states, for the purpose of revising and amending the federal system. In this constitutional application, she will meet with all the attention and support she can wish. I have long been of opinion, that it was the only true and radical remedy for our public defects; and shall with pleasure assent to, and support, any measure of that kind, which may be introduced, while I continue a member of that body.

If her resentments had been otherwise directed—if her endeavours had been used to produce a compliance with the general impost, on the part of those states which have not yet acceded—so far from injuring, she would have been entitled to the applause of the union. But what can be her object in refusing the requisition? Must it not be the means of involving the states, who were friendly to her interests in the general confusion that will probably ensue? and so far from obtaining the ends she proposes, may it not divert the attention of government from that system which could alone relieve the nonimporting states, and apply it wholly to her? For with what propriety could compulsory means be used against a state, for not assenting to a measure, in which we confess she had a right to deliberate, when we suffer another in silence, and with impunity, to refuse a requisition she is constitutionally bound to comply with?

Suffer me here to remark, that the present requisition is founded upon more advantageous principles, than any hitherto adopted—I mean as far as it respects the eight northern states: for of the 11,400,485 dollars, being the total specie value of the loan-office-debt, 9,998,880, being more than seven-eighths of the whole, were loaned in the seven eastern states. The state of New Jersey is in

proportion a very considerable creditor of the union. How far, therefore, it becomes her to support the measures of congress, in providing for the interest of this debt, and in supporting its credit, is left to the good sense of the house to determine.

The several requisitions of September, 1782, April, 1784, and September, 1785, which have been just stated to the house, and their principles fully explained, obviate every objection, with respect to a larger number of certificates being issued, than are provided for; and prove that certificates will not issue from the loan-offices to a greater amount than the interest of the domestic debt to December, 1784. If all the states comply with the several requisitions, the funds, on which the interest-certificates depend, will be sufficiently extensive to discharge the whole.

Much objection is made to the commutation for half-pay, allowed the army. On this subject, I shall only remark, that the late congress found an act of a former one finally adopted, and the national faith pledged to carry it into execution. The military certificates are so exchanged, that it would be impossible now, even if it was proper, to discriminate between them and the other public securities. To an army, however, who have evinced such magnanimity and patience under every suffering, their country are surely bound by the strongest ties of gratitude and affection: and if it could be ever admissible to make a distinction between the public creditors, they certainly possess the purest claims to preference and attention.

That the commercial states are indebted to the joint efforts of the whole, for the advantages they enjoy—and that it is their duty to devote a part of them to the national service-will be readily admitted. Upon these principles, congress have again, by the address of the 15th of February last, which you have just heard read, presented the revenue-system to the view of those states that have not complied. In once more bringing this recommendation before them, they have stated that there will be due, in the course of the next year, a part of the principal of two of the foreign loans, and afterwards a part of the other loans, agreeably to the stipulations of the same, to be paid annually, by instalments, until the whole is extinguished—which must, until that event, proportionably increase the sums called for; that the whole of the domestic debt is not yet liquidated, and that its amount will probably be enlarged beyond its former estimate; that the treaties necessary for the protection of our commerce from the piratical states of Barbary—the safety of our frontiers from the savages—and the establishment of magazines in different parts of the union-may perhaps increase the estimate of the military department; and that the supplies, for federal purposes, will probably be greater than they have hitherto been; that they contemplate with pleasure the prospect of extinguishing a part of the domestic debt by the sales of western territory—but that, as a considerable time must intervene before it can be surveyed and disposed of, no immediate aid can be drawn from this source; and that since a sufficient sum for the exigencies of government, and the interest due on the public debt, was not to be expected from any of the means authorised by the confederation, it follows, that unless some more efficient and productive fund could be discovered, we should soon be exposed to the greatest national difficulties and disgrace.

While it is in the power of the states to prevent these incumbrances, and to do justice to their creditors, congress will certainly continue to urge them to it. They have again presented to their view, the system which has been so long under reference to their legislatures, as the only one calculated to assert the credit and relieve the distresses of the union.

In examining the conduct of the states, they will find that all, except New York and Georgia, have in some degree, though perhaps not effectually, complied with the first part of the recommendation for investing the united states with the power of levying the impost. The assent of so large a majority of the states, including some of the most important in commercial and other resources, shews that they were impressed with the necessity and propriety of its motives. Convinced of the importance of the federal government, and that on its existence their political welfare and consequence must depend, they have liberally dedicated to its support, a part of the advantages derived from its establishment: nor have they considered this as more than justice to the citizens of those states whose situation renders them dependent upon their imports for supplies-that they had therefore wisely determined to make the welfare of the union their first object, reflecting that in all federal regulations, something must be yielded to aid the whole; and that those who may expect support, must in their turn be ready to afford it. How far their example may induce the legislatures of those states to adopt the same liberal conduct, is now left to themselves to decide. We still, however, trust that these states will be not less mindful of the public welfare, or less disposed to give vigour and efficacy to a government upon which all must eventually depend for the protection and security of the invaluable blessings they enjoy[.]

Our latest advices inform us, that Georgia has acceded—New York is now deliberating, and it is hoped, that a measure so just in itself, and so necessary at this time, to strengthen the federal credit, will meet with her concurrence; if not—we reflect with pleasure, that a great majority of the most important states in the union, have upon every occasion, by their acts and ready assent to the recommendations of congress, manifested so warm and zealous an affection to the federal compact, as leaves no doubt of a system soon being formed, which will, in its operation, relieve every embarrassment and inequality complained of. But this will altogether depend upon the concerted measures of such states as are friendly to the system. By divisions upon the subject of the requisition, you will not only prevent congress from taking the necessary measures to obtain this desirable end, but furnish the non-complying states with new and forcible arguments against it-arguments founded on the impropriety of investing the exercise of important powers to a government so feebly and injudiciously constructed, as to be not only incapable of executing those they at present possess, but to be a very unsafe deposit of such further authorities as are required by the system under their consideration. The danger, they contend, arises from the inequality of representation, and the want of a proper distribution of the powers of government. Be assured, that whenever they have it in their power, they will attempt a reform. Perhaps I do not go too far in asserting, that a perseverance in your refusal, may afford them this opportunity, by dissolving those ties which bind us as a nation: for should the other states suspend their supplies, to the common treasury, until New Jersey complies with the requisition, the existence of the federal government must be endangered—probably cease.

It is certainly more the interest of the small, than it can be of the large states, to preserve the confederation upon its present principles. We are aware of the necessity which compelled the latter to confederate upon terms allowing each state an equal vote in the national councils. Had the system been formed in a time of peace—when no uncommon danger pressed—when deliberation was unaccompanied with apprehension, and the large states preferred conceding the point of proportionable representation, however important, to the greater evil of being again reduced to the power of Great Britain—can it be thought that any union would have been formed upon principles so unequal and oppressive as the present?

Let us for a moment suppose the confederation dissolved, and an assembly of the states convened for the purpose of adopting a system calculated to render the general government firm and energetic—is it not to be reasonably expected, that the large states would contend and insist upon a greater influence than they at present possess? Would they again consent to unite upon principles which should allow states not contributing a twelfth part of their quotas to the public expenses, an equal vote with themselves! It is not even to be hoped. It ought, therefore, to appear exceedingly important to the small states to maintain a system so advantageous to their particular interests, when they reflect that in the event of another confederation, they cannot expect to be placed in a situation, to which they are neither entitled by common justice, or an equal attention to the rights of the other members of the union.

Though our present disorders must be attributed, in the first instance, to the weakness and inefficacy of the general government, it must still be confessed they have been precipitated by the refractory and inattentive conduct of the states; most of whom have neglected altogether the performance of their federal duties; and, whenever their state policy or interests prompted, used their retained rights to the injury and disgrace of the federal head. Be assured, sir, the united states can have no danger so much to dread as that of disunion: nor has the federal government, when properly formed, any thing to fear, but from the licentiousness of its members. We have no hereditary monarchy, or nobles with all their train of influence and corruption, to contend with; nor is it possible to form a federal aristocracy. Parties may, for a time, prevail in the states; but the establishment of an aristocratic influence in the councils of the union, is remote and doubtful. It is the anarchy, if I may use the term, or rather the worse than anarchy, of a pure democracy which I fear—where the laws lose their respect, and the magistrates their authority; where no permanent security is given to the property and privileges of the citizens; and no measures pursued, but such as suit the temporary interest and convenience of the prevailing parties, I cannot figure to myself a government more truly degrading; and yet such has been the fate of all the ancient, and will, without great care, be probably the fate of all the modern republics. The progress has been regular-from order to licentiousness-from licentiousness to anarchy—and from thence to despotism. If we review the confederacies of Greece, we shall find, that each in its turn became a prey to the turbulence of its own members, who, refusing to obey the federal head, and, upon all occasions, insulting and opposing its authority, afforded an opportunity to foreign powers to interfere and subvert them. There is not an example in history, of a confederacy being enslaved or ruined by the invasions of the supreme authority; nor is it possible: for depending, as it must, upon the members for support and maintenance, it will always be in their power to check and prevent its injuring them.

It would be unnecessary in me to detail the inconveniencies which must result from your persisting in a conduct pregnant with the most alarming evils. I trust that the application which is now made, will be the means of your rescinding an act which has so much excited the public attention.

The situation of our commerce, languishing under the most ruinous and opprobrious restraints in foreign ports, demands a wise and well-concerted system of policy to support it. The hostile conduct of the savages on our frontiersthe unexampled behaviour of Great Britain in holding our posts contrary to the treaty, bridling the country, and depriving us of the advantages which would otherwise arise from it; and above all, that due and sacred regard which a nation ought ever to pay to her engagements, as the only solid basis of her honour and prosperity, at this time particularly, call for our strenuous and united exertions. To these important considerations, all motives of state policy should yield. We should recollect, that the grievances and inequalities particular states may complain of, can only be relieved by the timely and judicious interference of the federal authority, and that this once dissolved, the interests of the lesser states may not only be oppressed, but become a prey to the more important, and such a scene of intestine discord and confusion ensue, as every friend to the peace and liberties of his country must wish to avert. A temptation will be offered to the great maritime powers of Europe to interfere in our politics, and this country, which, under a wise and liberal system, might be the happiest, become one of the most miserable and contemptible in existence.

For these and a variety of reasons which might be added, but which are too obvious to render my stating them to you necessary, I am induced to hope the house will rescind their resolution. If they should not—in what other light can the united states view their conduct, than that of a breach of the confederation, and a solemn recession of this state from its union and protection?—A measure, which I am convinced, a state so deserving as this is, in point of services and exertions, could not have had in the most distant contemplation. This act has, however, exceedingly raised the public anxiety: and as the measures of congress must in a great degree depend upon your determination, either to rescind, or adhere to your refusal, we are to request an answer as soon as the importance of the subject will conveniently admit.

Mr. Pinckney used a number of other arguments, explaining and enforcing the principles of the requisition, proving that it was not intended as a substitute for, nor could, by any means, be construed to interfere with, the revenue system of April 18, 1783; stating the consequences which must result from a refusal of it, and urging the house to comply with the expectations of congress, in passing it.

Mr. Gorham and mr. Grayson followed mr. Pinckney; and by a variety of arguments, proved, in a very able and pointed manner, the impolicy of New Jersey's refusing the requisition, it being clearly her interest to support the confederation. The latter gentleman urged with great force the impropriety of this state's risquing the dissolution of the union, as in the event of another confederation, it could not be supposed the lesser states would be allowed to confederate upon equal terms with the more important.

In consequence of the above deputation the assembly passed the following resolution....

[Here follows the Assembly's resolution of 17 March rescinding its resolution of 20 February. See Assembly Proceedings, 17 March, below.]

3-G. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, 14 March

The House resumed the Consideration of the Communications made by the Honourable the Committee of Congress Yesterday; whereupon

A Motion was made by Mr. A. Clark, seconded by Mr. Schenck, that the House agree to the following Order:

That the Honourable Committee of Congress be informed, that this House, anxiously desirous of promoting among all the States a lasting Union established upon Principles of Justice and Equality, are ready to accede to any Measures founded on such a Basis.

That the present Confederation, in whatever Light the same may be considered with Regard to Equality, hath not been strictly adhered to in the Requisition of September last.

The Valuation of the Land and Buildings have not been taken by any State, nor the Mode recommended by Congress for settling the Quotas by the Number of Inhabitants, which superceded the Requisition for such a Valuation, been agreed to by all the States so far as to become a federal Rule, on which Account the Requisition of September last can be considered only as recommendatory, and therefore, for the Reasons contained in the Resolution of this House of the 20th of February last, cannot be complied with further than by providing for the annual Payment of Interest due to our Citizens, which it is supposed will nearly amount to the whole Quota of this State on the national Debt.

This House entertains the most grateful Sense of the liberal Assistance afforded by the friendly Powers in Europe, by loaning Money to the United States; and sincerely regret the Want of proper Funds to discharge the Interest. This, it must be acknowledged, is not owing to any Neglect of Congress; they have done all in their Power to raise the Sums necessary for that Purpose, and their present Inability to make prompt Payment must be charged only to those States which have refused to grant the United States the Duties and Imposts which they now collect, as well from States destitute of any foreign Commerce, as from their own Citizens, and which, if paid into the common Treasury at the Disposal of Congress, will probably be more than sufficient to raise the Specie required.

The above Motion was read, and the Consideration thereof postponed.

3-H. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, 17 March

The House resumed the Consideration of the Motion made by Mr. A. Clark on the 14th Instant; whereupon,

A Motion was made by Mr. T. Clark, seconded by Mr. R. S. Smith, to postpone the Motion of Mr. A. Clark in order to take up the following, to wit,

Whereas this House, apprehensive that a Compliance with the Requisition of Congress of the 27th September last would have a Tendency to confirm the States who have not complied with the Resolutions of Congress of the 18th April 1783 for a general Impost and Revenue in their Opposition to the Plan therein recommended, and considering all temporary Expedients inadequate to raise a Fund sufficient to discharge the Interest on the national Debt, and to provide for other Expenditures necessary for the Support of the federal Government, and for other Reasons assigned in the Preamble to the Resolution of this House of the 20th Ultimo, did resolve, that this House cannot, consistent with the Duty they owe their Constituents, comply with the Requisition of Congress of the 27th September last, until all the States in the Union shall comply with the Requisition of the 18th April 1783, or until the several States having the Advantage of Commerce shall forbear exacting Duties from other States for their own particular Benefit: And whereas a Deputation from Congress to this House have, by Order of Congress, communicated sundry Evils which may arise to the Union by the Determination of this House if adhered to:

The House therefore, having re-considered the said Resolution, are of Opinion, that, although the said Requisition, from a Want of Conformity to the Rule of adjusting the Quotas of the several States contained in the 8th Article of the Confederation, the Alteration of which Rule not having been acceded to by all the States can of Course be binding upon none, must be considered only as recommendatory; notwithstanding which, being willing to remove as far as in their Power every Embarrassment from the Counsels of the Union, and that the Failure of Supplies from temporary Demands, though clearly evinced from Experience, may not be imputed to the State of New-Jersey only, do therefore

Resolve, That the said Resolution of the 20th February last be, and the same is hereby rescinded and made void.

On the Question, Whether the House agree to postpone the Motion of Mr. A. Clark of the 14th Instant? It was carried in the Affirmative.

On the Question, Whether the House agree to the said Motion made by Mr. T. Clark? It was carried in the Affirmative.

1. The Assembly proceedings are taken from Votes and Proceedings of the Tenth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey . . . Second Sitting [15 February-24 March 1786] (Trenton, 1786).

2. Philadelphia American Museum, August 1787, pp. 153–60. The address was also printed in the New Jersey Gazette on 20 March 1786. See also Edmund C. Burnett, ed., Letters of Members of the Continental Congress, VIII (Washington, D.C., 1936), 321–30.

4 A–F. The New Jersey Legislature and the Appointment of Delegates to the Annapolis Convention, 14–30 May 1787

4-A. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, 14 March¹

A Message from His Excellency the Governor by Mr. Secretary Reed, accompanied with a Resolution of the Honourable the Delegates of Virginia, of the 25th of January last, to appoint Commissioners to meet Commissioners to be appointed by the other States to take into Consideration the Trade of the United States.

A Letter from Edmund Randolph, Esquire, of the 19th February, respecting the Time and Place of the Meeting of the Commissioners for the Purpose of framing such Regulations of Trade as may be judged necessary to promote the general Interest. And,

A Letter from His Excellency Governor Henry, of the 25th February, respecting the above Appointment.

Which Message, and the several Papers accompanying the same, were read, and ordered a second Reading.

4-B. Assembly Proceedings, Saturday, 18 March

The Message from His Excellency the Governor of the 14th Instant was read a second Time, and committed to Messrs. Sinnickson and R. S. Smith, to report thereon.

4-C. Assembly Proceedings, Monday, 20 March

Mr. Sinnickson and Mr. R. S. Smith, the Committee to whom was referred the Message from His Excellency the Governor of the 14th Instant, reported as follows:

That the Matter recommended in His Excellency's Letter, and the several Papers accompanying the same, requires the Attention of the Legislature, and thereupon submit the following Resolution:

Resolved, That the Legislature, in a Joint-Meeting of both Houses, will appoint Commissioners who, or any one of whom, shall meet such Commissioners as may be appointed by the other States in the Union at a Time and Place to be agreed on, to take into Consideration the Trade of the United States; to examine the relative Situation and Trade of the said States; to consider how far an uniform System in their commercial Regulations and other important Matters may be necessary to their common Interest and permanent Harmony; and to report to the several States such an Act relative to this great Object, as when unanimously ratified by them will enable the United States in Congress assembled effectually to provide for the Exigencies of the Union, which was read, and unanimously agreed to.

Ordered, That Mr. Marsh do carry the said Resolution to the Council for Concurrence.

4-D. Council Proceedings, Tuesday, 21 March²

The Council having taken into Consideration the Resolution from the House of Assembly relative to appointing Commissioners to meet Commissioners to be Mfm:N,J. 5

appointed by the other States to examine the relative Situation and Trade of the said States, &c.

Resolved, That the House do concur therein.

4-E. Joint Session of the Legislature, Tuesday, 21 March³

The Council and Assembly met at the House of Mr. Drake in Trenton, when the following Gentlemen were appointed Commissioners to meet the Commissioners of the other States upon commercial and other Matters, to wit:

> Abraham Clark, William C. Houston, James Schuurman, Esquires.

4-F. New Jersey Journal, 30 May 1787

We have the satisfaction of informing the public, that *eight* states, of the twelve that have appointed delegates to the Fœderal Convention, were represented in Convention, at Philadelphia, the 12th instant, and that it was expected a few days would complete the Fœderal [Re]presentatives.

Oh, my countrymen, exclaims a correspondent, through how many scenes and changes must we pass! the wide, the unbounded prospect lies before us but, shadows, clouds, and darkness rest upon it—Here will I hold—if there is a power in heaven, or if there is a power, and *wisdom*, in the FŒDERAL CON-VENTION, it must delight in obliterating every *discordant* sentence from the *Fœderal system* of government, and rendering efficient, to all the purposes of BENEFIT, HONOR, and RESPECTABILITY, the articles of confederation of the United States of America—then, that which they delight in must be happy.

1. The Assembly proceedings are taken from Votes and Proceedings of the Tenth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey . . . Second Sitting [15 February-24 March 1786] (Trenton, 1786).

2. Journal of the Proceedings of the Legislative Council of the State of New-Jersey . . . the Second Sitting of the Tenth Session [15 February-24 March 1786] (Trenton, 1786).

3. "Minutes and Proceedings of the Joint-Meeting," ibid., 47-48.

5. Jonathan Dayton to David Brearley, [7] June 1787¹

Contrary to my wish I have been nominated in the Assembly & very contrary to my expectation, appointed in the joint-meeting to a seat in the federal convention. Believe me sir, I feel about me on this occasion all that diffidence with which the consciousness of my youth & inexperience as well as inability to discharge so important a trust, cannot but impress me.

The honor which must naturally attend my being associated with such very respectable characters as colleagues. The improvement to be derived from hearing the sentiments & communications of so learned an Assembly, were, I confess, the motives which influenced me, perhaps too powerfully, to accept the appointment. Were I less assured of your friendly aid & advice wherever I might need it, were the gentlemen joined with you, men of less eminent abilities than they

are, I should have been utterly discouraged from entering upon the task—I can never, sir, pretend to lay claim to any merit in common with you all but that which my zeal to serve & be useful to my country may give me a title to. I shall return to Elizabeth tomorrow to visit my family where I shall continue until I am informed by a letter from you or one of the other gentlemen that my attendance in Philadelphia is necessary to keep up the representation. When this happens I shall immediately repair thither regretting the necessity which calls either of you from his station & leaves it to be occupied by one so very far his inferior—

Mr. Houston has formally resigned in consequence of his ill state of health— Mr. Clark has also resigned, but in his usual way that is very *informally*, because he thinks there is a kind of incompatibility in the two appointments. I am therefore unfortunately the only one on the list of supernumeraries—

You will oblige *me* much by writing to me by the return of the first post, & at such other times & as often as your leisure will permit—

1. FC, Gratz Collection, Federal Convention, Historical Society of Pennsylvania.

6. Extract of a Letter from Perth Amboy to Basseterre British West Indies, 16 June 1787¹

"This country is in a most wretched situation, their trade is cut up in such a manner that it can hardly be said they have any. There is now an additional Congress, y'clep'd a Convention now sitting at Philadelphia, to plod out ways and means to make the people still more wretched if possible. It is expected they intend to vest some man with sovereign power, by the name of protector, dictator, or king. In the back parts of the northern states, one Shays, who the Boston Assembly has declared a rebel, is now busy in raising an army, with which it is very likely, he will gain the first battle, as there are not less than one hundred thousand men able to bear arms, that espouse his cause, some of whom the Bostonians took prisoners last winter and condemned them to be hanged, but were obliged to reprieve in consequence of Shay's party taking some of their principal men to retaliate upon. There are some towns in Connecticut which have sent their militia companies to join him instead of sending them against him: and in this state as well as New-York it is thought he has two friends to one enemy, tho' they keep themselves pretty still.

"The United States of America, all the world knows, are over head and ears in debt, they cannot even pay the interest; they have no army, and cannot raise one for want of a treasury; they have not a single ship of war; they are obliged to reduce the pay of their state officers to lessen the expences of government. The only thing they can do is to make laws to cheat their creditors; whether England and France will allow themselves to be cheated by them, as individuals are obliged to, I will not pretend to say. What is above related can be proved by the most incontestible authority." (*To be a falshood.*)

1. Printed: New York Daily Advertiser, 22 August 1787. Reprinted: Pennsylvania Journal, 25 August.

7. A Friend to New-Jersey New Jersey Journal, 29 August 1787

To the CITIZENS of NEW-JERSEY.

At a time of difficulty and distress, every member of the community, who interests himself so much in the public welfare, as to employ his thoughts on what may be beneficial to the common weal, has a right to communicate them to the public; and if he conceives they may be of service, it becomes his duty so to do.—From these motives I am induced to submit mine to the consideration of my countrymen, in hopes that some person may improve the ideas, and impress the minds of the citizens of this state with proper sentiments on this occasion, by more powerful arguments than I am able to suggest.

With an anxiety natural to every well-wisher to his country, I have long beheld the legislature at a loss to raise a revenue in this state, by other means than taxing the industrious farmer, mechanic, and labourer.—The raising money by an impost upon all goods, wares, and merchandize imported into this from the neighbouring states, and by an excise upon certain goods, wares, and merchandize retailed in this state, have been the two modes proposed—the first has been referred, *shamefully* referred from session to session for several years, and the latter is now adopted by "An act for laying an excise on sundry articles retailed or consumed within this state," passed at Burlington, the fourth of July last, which is to be carried into effect from and after the first day of October next, by collectors and their deputies authorized by the said act.

This act entirely new to us, will probably be disagreeable to many, in the first attempts to carry it into execution; and it gives so great a power to the collector and his deputies, that unless they are cool considerate men, who have the interest, peace and welfare of their country at heart, great mischiefs may arise from the enforcing it, which it is the intent of this address to guard against.

To persons capable of forming an opinion on the subject, there can be little doubt but a very considerable sum of money may be raised by this act, if under proper direction, and as it is the first essay of the kind, and perhaps rather imperfect, it behoves every friend to his country, by every means in his power, to have it carried into execution by honest judicious men, acquainted with business and mankind, who disdain to enrich themselves by purchasing, for a song, the prospect, I may say *certainty*, of receiving large sums of money levied by a tax on their fellow citizens, for discharging the public debt-men whose love for their country, will influence them with proper feelings for the public as well as individuals; who will make use of their power solely for the purposes for which it was given, and employ their judgment, not only to make the collection properly, but to discover the defects of the law, and point out where it may be amended and improved-and who will honestly and disinterestedly shew to their representatives in general assembly, the utmost farthing raised by this act, and submit to them to say what shall be an equivalent for their trouble in collecting it.

And that such men as these may have it in their power to serve their country in this way, I propose that any number of the citizens of each and every county in the state, who approve of the measure, should advertise a meeting of such of the citizens as chuse to attend, at some convenient place in the county, in order to fix upon the persons proper for collector and deputies, to carry this proposal into execution, under the direction of the act, with such improvements as may occur; and that this meeting may be previous to the third Tuesday, which is the 18th day of September next, the day appointed to sell by auction the office of collector.

It is to be wished, that at these meetings the *wanton* depreciation of our paper money, in the neighbouring states of New-York and Pennsylvania, may be taken into consideration—and why we so long submit to pay these states more than 40,000*l*. per annum, without making one effort to free ourselves from so disgraceful a vassalage.

Deplorable indeed is our situation, when the credit of our money depends upon the breath of a few brokers and extortioners (the bane of society, whom no laws can controul) in our sister states, whilst we are subject to a tribute to those states, which even Great-Britain, in the hour of her greatest arrogance, would have disdained to exact. It will likewise be highly proper at these meetings to consult who will be fit men to represent the different counties of the state, in the next general assembly.

And now, my countrymen, will you set down inactive, and suffer the rapacious hands of the avaricious and self-interested, to grasp and hoard up in their coffers, the produce of a tax, justly laid on you, as a part of the small price of our glorious independence? Or, will you give one day to your country, to take into consideration, the propriety of this or some other measure, in aid of a law, which, if advisedly carried into execution, will not only answer a present good purpose, but enable those in whose hands you place it, to direct the framing of one more efficacious? Will you tamely bear the impositions of New-York and Pennsylvania, who have laid a duty on all merchandize brought into their ports, and refund a drawback on such as we purchase for our consumption, by which means we pay more than 40,000*l*. per annum, which they apply to the exigencies of their respective governments?—Between united republics the most unheard-of instance of injustice!-But what can we expect from New-York? She, at an early period, seized with an armed force, the governor and other public officers of New-Jersey, and confined them in her gaols-She prevented, by unlawful means, vessels from coming into our ports-She obstructed and distressed our trade, in such a manner, that it obliged us to raise large sums of money, to defray the expence of Agents sent to England to solicit redress—She invaded part of our territory, and detains it from us to this day, without the shadow of right.-And since the revolution, her citizens have by many mean artifices and misrepresentations to foreigners, checked the flattering prospect we lately had of introducing foreign commerce into our ports. These, my countrymen, are facts-your records will prove them to be such, and of such importance that I doubt not they will command your immediate and serious attention.

4

And here my countrymen and fellow citizens, permit me, by every power of persuasion, to call your particular attention to the choice of men to represent you in the next general assembly, before whom the proceedings and resolves of the general convention, now held at Philadelphia, will doubtless be laid for ratification. This is perhaps a matter of more importance than ever came under the consideration of the senators of New-Jersey, and on which our existence as a state, and of the united states as a nation, may probably depend.-Commit, therefore, this important trust to men of approved integrity and abilities; and, in your choice, lay aside all prejudices and partiality to either profession or calling-Seek for wisdom and knowlege, wherever they are to be found, resting assured that men acquainted with the laws of their country and of nations, will be but qualified to judge of that system of government that may be referred to their consideration.-And you, my countrymen, who may, from proper motives, be the happy choice of your fellowcitizens on this interesting occasion, will do well to consider, that you have no rite to withhold your time or services from your country, when she calls upon you for an exertion of those talents, with which nature has so bountifully endowed you, and which recommend you to this important trust.

8. New Jersey Journal, 12 September 1787¹

A letter from Philadelphia, dated the 9th inst. from a Member of the Convention, mentions, that they have gone through all the business that was before them, and are only waiting to give it the final polish, preparatory to its being laid before the public.

1. Jonathan Dayton, one of New Jersey's delegates to the Constitutional Convention, wrote his father, Elias, on 9 September 1787 that, "We have happily so far finished our business, as to be employed in giving it its last polish and preparing it for the public inspection. This, I conclude, may be done in three or four days, at which time the public curiosity and our desire of returning to our respective homes, will equally be gratified" (Max Farrand, ed., *The Records of the Federal Convention of 1787* [3 vols., New Haven, Conn., 1911], III, 80).

9. A Zealous Columbian New Jersey Journal, 12 September 1787

My Countrymen,

The eyes and expectations of our citizens from all quarters of the continent, appear to be directed towards the Grand Convention, as if they expected from them, not only immunity from the political evils which we have experienced in consequence of the present defective system of government, but also, as if they looked for the bequeathment of every thing requisite to make a people rich and happy, without any industry, activity, œconomy, or any of the like exertions of their own. It is to be hoped they may not wait till they feel before they perceive their mistake—as they have done with respect to the necessity of an amendment in the form of government, as repeatedly urged by Congress for years past, but that they might be prevailed with to pursue those measures by which they may

raise themselves to opulence, the only source of national happiness and respectability, let the system of government be what it may.

To this end every friend to his country should advise and persuade the people to adopt such measures as he should conceive would minister to public or private advantage. With this most sincerely in view, the following hints are respectfully submitted to your consideration.

1st. For encreasing the number of SHEEP and quantity of WOOL.-It is conceived that each county might keep on its commonage, even should there be no more than the highways, 5000 sheep, on the avarage, some many more, some perhaps less. This would be 65,000 in the state more than is now kept; which, by their fleece, allowing 3 lb. per head, and two shillings per pound, would enrich the state yearly the sum of 19,500*l*. the increase being allowed for each years maintenance of the flocks, which it is expected will be more than sufficient to do; and if so, it will manifestly be the best way of keeping them: for many that have money to spare have purchased sheep and have given all the increase and all the fleece (except one pound per head) to those who would keep them, and have then thought it great interest for their money; whereas they might, it is presumed, receive double or treble as much, i.e. two or three pounds per year. Would each township make up 1 or 2 flocks in proportion to its size and quantity of commonage, and put them under the care of a shepherd, who would attend them from the end of winter till it began again, for little or no other compansation but the privilege of nightly selling their manure: Though the expence of hiring a shepherd to each flock of 5 or 700, would be indeed but a trifle per head for the summering of them. And these flocks would chiefly be made up by those who have not heretofore kept any; such as live in towns and villages, and such in the country as have not pasture land of their own, who still could produce fodder sufficient for wintering a considerable number. This, be assured, is not altogether theory or unsubstantial conjecturing, but has been reduced to practice in some parts of the state, by which the advantages are proved to be sufficiently great, to encourage the trial more generally; and it is conceived there can be no objection sufficiently weighty to counter-balance so great an advantage.

Secondly, For the establishment of MANUFACTURES.—Another measure for advantaging the state, which is with diffidence suggested, regard the appropriation of our poor taxes; they, it is conceived, would make a tolerable fund for the maintainance of a woolen and linen manufactory, in each county, and still support the poor more comfortably than they have heretofore been: by reason of their being better clad, more regularly victualled, and better housed. Suppose each county was to erect a house for accommodating all its poor, and some man, or set of men, hired to take charge of them, and to purchase up wool and flax with the money raised for the support of the poor, which should be manufactured in this house, the superintendant or manager assigning to each pauper, such parts of the business as he should judge him able to perform; the provision for the house being procured by the sale of their cloths and linens.

Might not more be done by the poor of this kind of service, than the whole tax raised for their support would procure to be done by hired hands? If so,
would not the whole of this tax which amounts to from 5 to 700*l*. in each county be saved in the first instance; and also the county supplied at once with a considerable quantity of coarse cloths and linens, which could be afforded so low as effectually to discourage their importation? No doubt but it would be necessary to hire some hands, to perform the heaviest parts of the business, but still so much would be done by the poor, as greatly to lessen the expence on the whole. If it was doubted whether a manager on a fixed salary would exert himself as much for the public interest as he might; without doubt there are many men of distinguished reputation and property, in each county, who would take charge of such a house, and obligate themselves to support the poor very comfortably, for a much less sum than is yearly raised for that purpose; or they would obligate themselves to give to the county such a per centum on the sum so as not to lessen the stock: provided they were authorised to require such services from all in the house; and that they were not compelled to do more than they might with ease perform, and that it might be known that they were comfortably supplied, let it be made the duty of some man or men (to be elected in each township, still under the title of overseers of the poor) to inspect this house, and the circumstances and supplies of their own poor, and make report thereof to their respective towns. Let not any ones feelings be hurt by a proposal of exacting labor from the poor. Does charity require us to administer more than according to their necessities? Or that they should have such a supply as to exempt them from that ordination of heaven, to which all the rest of Adam's descendents are obliged to submit. Easy industry would have so salutary an effect on their minds as well as bodies, as no friend to them could wish them to miss.

And it is presumed that many poor families who are not as yet burthens to their towns, but whose situations, for want of steady employment, is very indigent, would be greatly benefited by such an institution, and still do business on such reasonable terms as would be very advantageous to the community also.

And such an institution would afford a mild, but useful mode of correction for petty crimes and misdemeanors, by exacting some days labor from every tresspassor; and vagrants might here be detained on moderate wages, until they could give satisfaction with regard to their characters, that so many objects of distress and danger, might not be seen strolling through our country, exacting undeserved charity from us. I am your brother,

10. Robert Morris to Major Wynkoop New York, 21 September 1787¹

I am just returned home & find your favor of the 18th. Instant left by Mrs. Wynkoop.—Since I saw you I have both written & spoken to the late Sheriff of Sussex, about his deputies conduct on your execution, & had fair promises.—I have since been informed by the Gentleman who does my Sussex business that the place was sold & a part of the money offered to him, which he wished me to decide whether he should receive for me, as it was not within his general instructions. As I supposed you had attended the sale and settled the matter to

your satisfaction, I thought it would be improper for me to interfere; & directed him not to receive any money unless the whole was tendered, but to tell the Sheriff I expected it would be settled with you.—My principle reason was a distrust of the Jersey money which will not now pass here under a discount of upwards of 20. per Cent. If it does not mend I have no doubt but you will be a considerable Sufferer by the Sheriffs neglect yet I am very doubtfull whether you can in Jersey make your self whole by prosecuting him. As I hardly expect to find a jury there who will say an officer is in fault for delaying a sale, or that the Money is depriciated since July. Altho' it passes here & in Philadelphia at a discount.—

This conduct in the Jersey Sheriff is a species of Malladministration that I have not hitherto been able to find any relief for either in my own or in my clients behalf. If notwithstanding you can find a Gentln of the Jersey bar, who can give you any well grounded assurances that you will stand an equal chance for justice against the Sheriff. I do not wish to discourage your attempt. Perhaps there will be a remedy under the New Constitution if it is adopted, but without this or some other beyond my expectation, we may bid farewell to justice.

1. FC, Robert Morris Papers, Rutgers University Library.

11. Joseph Bloomfield to Jonathan Rhea Burlington, 24 September 1787 (excerpt)¹

I have nothing more to add than to wish You all the Happiness You can propose to Yourself & Country, *under the New Fæderal Constitution*, which I sincerely Pray (as every Friend to America will) That the same may be adopted without a dissenting State—nay one dissenting voice.

1. ALS, Joseph Bloomfield Miscellany, New Jersey Historical Society.

12. Public and Private Commentaries on the Prospects of New Jersey Ratification 26 September-20 December 1787

Pennsylvania Gazette, 26 September (excerpt)

We hear from Delaware and New-Jersey, that the fœderal government has been received in each of those states with universal satisfaction...

James Madison to James Madison, Sr.

New York, 30 September (excerpt)¹

The eccho from Connecticut & New Jersey, as far as it has reached us, denotes a favorable disposition in those States.

Henry Knox to George Washington

New York, 3 October (excerpt)²

 \dots The people of Jersey and Connecticut who are not commercial embrace it with ardor. \dots

Mfm:N.J. 12 26 SEPTEMBER-20 DECEMBER 1787

James Madison to Edmund Randolph New York, 21 October (excerpt)³

... N. Jersey appears to be zealous. Meetings of the people in different counties are declaring their approbation & instructing their representatives....

Moore Furman to William Edgar Trenton, 22 October (excerpt)⁴

P. S. From what has transpired of the sentiments of the People in this State there is reason to believe that the Constitution will be adopted.

Lambert Cadwalader to Edward Lloyd New York, 23 October (excerpt)⁵

... In Jersey I believe there is scarcely a dissenting Voice....

John Stevens, Jr. to John Stevens, Sr. New York, 27 October (excerpt)⁶

... New Jersey will not boggle about it....

Gouverneur Morris to George Washington Philadelphia, 30 October (excerpt)⁷

... Jersey is so near Unanimity in her favorable Opinion, that we may count with Certainty on something more than Votes should the State of Affairs hereafter require the Application of pointed Arguments.

William Grayson to William Short

New York, 10 November (excerpt)⁸

... The reason assigned by it's favorers is that they derives great advantages by imposing duties on ye. imports of Jersey & Connecticut,—In Jersey, nothing is more popular [than the Constitution].

James Madison to Edmund Randolph

New York, 18 November (excerpt)⁹

... I discovered no evidence on my journey through N. Jersey, that any opposition whatever would be made in that State....

Henry Knox to Nathan Dane

New York, 21 November (excerpt) 10

New Jersey warmly for it excepting Mr A[braham] Clark who now & then gives it a Kick.

James Madison to George Washington

New York, 20 December (excerpt)¹¹

... N. Jersey is now in Convention, & has probably by this time adopted the Constitution. Genl. [William] Irvine of the Pena. Delegation who is just arrived here, and who conversed with some of the members at Trenton tells me that great unanimity reigns in the Convention.

New York Journal, 20 December (excerpt)¹²

The convention of New-Jersey is appointed. That state is much prejudiced in its favour.

There are, however, *some*, who have the supealative impudence to declare their unprejudiced sentiments.

1. RC, Madison Papers, Library of Congress.

2. RC, Washington Papers, Library of Congress (printed CC:126).

3. RC, Madison Papers, Library of Congress (printed CC:182).

4. Printed: Historical Research Committee of the Society of the Colonial Dames of America (comp. and ed.), *The Letters of Moore Furman*... (New York, 1912), 73–74.

5. RC, Edward Lloyd Papers, Maryland Historical Society (printed CC:184).

6. RC, Stevens Family Papers, New Jersey Historical Society (printed CC:200).

7. RC, Washington Papers, Library of Congress (printed CC:213).

8. RC, Short Papers, Library of Congress (printed CC:248).

9. RC, Madison Papers, Library of Congress (printed CC:270)

10. RC, Dane Papers, Beverly Historical Society (printed CC:275).

11. RC, Washington Papers, Library of Congress (printed CC:359).

12. Reprinted: New Jersey Journal, 26 December 1787 and Brunswick Gazette, 1 January 1788. See CC:362 for the entire text and national circulation.

13. Pennsylvania Herald, 27 September 1787

Extract of a letter from a gentleman in Cumberland county, West-Jersey, dated the 19th Sept. 1787.

"The sale of our Excise-Office took place yesterday after noon.—In the morning previous thereto, a very large and respectable number of freeholders convened at the court house, to devise such measures as should answer the law, at the same time obviate its pernicious effects.-Jonathan Elmer, Esq. was chosen chairman.—After a short but pertinent address from the chair, we proceeded to the election of a committee, in whom we vested full power to negotiate the business.-The persons chosen were Col. David Potter, Major Daniel Maskell, and Doctor Thomas H. M'Calla. Had you been present, there was sufficient latitude to have exercised your risible faculties.-It was put up at one penny by the Doctor, the second bidder made it six pence, the third two and six pence. No person offering higher, it was struck off, for the sole use and behoof of the county. Notwithstanding the ill reception this law has met amongst us, there are no set of people to be found who are greater friends to good order, more attached to the constitution and government, than we are here.-The design or spirit of the law created no uneasiness; the mode of collection, was the only stumbling block.-Should our assembly at their next sitting, expunge that clause,

which *forms* the *office*, and appoints officers with low and fixed salaries, it would be received with the greatest satisfaction. Whilst writing this, I have just received information by a gentleman of veracity, that the office in Salem county, was struck off at fourteen pence—We are anxious to hear what our Convention of Patriots have done. Our fervent and most sanguine wishes are, that they may have framed a government, which will make the United States in reality *One*."

14 A–F. County Petitions to the Legislature, 1–25 October 1787¹

14-A. Gloucester County, 1 October

- To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution
- 14-B. Burlington County, 3 October
 - To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution
- 14-C. Middlesex County
 - To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution
- 14-D. Middlesex County
 - To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

14-E. Salem County

 To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

14-F. Salem County

 To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library. At least one of the Salem County petitions was read in the Council on 24 October. On 25 October the Assembly received and read several other petitions, which were read a second time the following day.

15. An Elector New Jersey Journal, 3 October 1787

To the ELECTORS of Essex County.

GENTLEMEN: With all the anxiety which a good man feels for his country, I beg leave to recommend, as the objects of your choice the ensuing election, the following gentlemen for the Assembly, viz. Abraham Clark, Josiah Hornblower, and Jonathan Dayton, Esqrs. — and for Council, Elias Boudinot, Esq.

From the sapience and experience of the above characters, should they meet your approbation, what may we not expect?—They are men of *tried souls*; whose attachment to your interest preponderates every other consideration.

Too long, my countrymen, have you suffered evils from injudicious legislators.—That person who is qualified for the arduous business of legislation, must have a heart devoted to the public, and a head equal to understanding its true interest. Without these qualifications, in vain may you expect to see better times.

Divest yourselves, gentlemen, of those contracted politics that have biassed you hitherto—view things impartially, and I defy you to point out a better nomination.—This is an important era, on which much depends: For God's sake let us not abuse our privileges, by sending men unskilled in the science of government, who will heap upon us all the evils of Pandemonium, while they think they are doing us infinite service.—Take a retrospect of your laws for some time past, and see what doing and undoing has been pursued. Now, let me ask, is not ignorance the source from which this mischief flows? Yes, my friends, it is. Is not a man highly culpable, who suffers himself to be the dupe of a party, when he is sensible that a wooden statue, which could be made to articulate the adjectives *yes* or *no*, as suggested by a prompter, would answer every purpose as well.

If these gentlemen meet your acquiescence, let us, as many as possible, give them our influence; and meet in squads, as may be convenient, previous to the day of election, so that unanimity may prevail, and our election not be protracted, as is but too common the case.

16. L.E.

New Jersey Journal, 3 October 1787

Mr. Kollock,

The United States keep a table at the annual expence of 9000 dollars, for the purposes of national dignity.—Mistaken idea. Governmental dignity does not depend upon *turtle soups*, or *fricasees*, but upon the rigorous execution of the laws; the preservation of public faith, the payment of national debts, and the delicate distinction of its society.—National hospitality might be used as a state expedient to promote fœderal sentiments, and remove the prejudices of some hungry demagogues to congressional government.—The clamor of patriots is often the effect of hunger, and is as often hush'd by a *sop* in the pan. The political Cerberous should be patt'd, strok'd, and fed, not with *livers* and *lights*, but with calf's head, and they will soon, like the spaniel, crawl on their belly, wag their tail, and kiss your feet. When they are in this situation, you may put brass collars on them, engraved U. S. *Cherry-street*; and you may couple the hungry pack with fœderal chains, mount the state horses, and pursue the antifœderal Fox, with a tallio! tallio! hoiks.

If hospitality is used as a weapon of party, you may embarrass some of your opponents who would sacrifice the idol *popularity* if it cost a *dinner*.

Man is called an *animal rationalis*, but reason seldom governs him.—The passions and appetites are the keys of the instrument, which produce concord if touched with address, and discord if handled aukwardly. There are some minds Mfm:N.J. 17

16 October 1787

which would not be convinced by reasoning, yet may be influenced by four Claret and meagre Champaigne. National hospitality should have a political design, and should not be lavished on flagicious and notorious enemies of the United States, because they can return invitations; nor upon European debtors who are fugitives from their creditors, because they are strangers; nor on English *factors, ryders, pattern carriers,* &c. who will criticise your *porter* and *roast beef.* And will analize with a sensible experience, and national sagacity, your *calapashes* and *calapees.* This is not society which does credit to the hospitality of the United States.—Few of the Old Officers know the presidental-house.

Sept. 28, 1787.

17. Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 16 October 1787¹

To the Honorable the Legislature of the State of New-Jersey,

The Petition of the Justices, and Freeholders, of the County of Burlington, *Respectfully sheweth*,

That they have read, and considered with attention, the Constitution for the United States of America, as proposed by the late Federal Convention; that the same appears to them well calculated to amend the defects of the former constitution, and to promote the lasting welfare and happiness of the union.

They therefore humbly request, that your honorable body, in conformity to the opinion of the said Convention, would recommend to the people of this state, immediately to chuse delegates for a state-convention; in order to take into consideration the said federal constitution, and, if approved of, to ratify the same in behalf of the state of New-Jersey.

By order of the board,

JOSHUA M. WALLACE, Chairman.

Burlington, 3d October, 1787.

(Copy.)

At a meeting of the inhabitants of the county of Burlington, entitled to vote for representatives, in the Council and General Assembly, held at Burlington, on Tuesday the 9th day of October, 1787.

Resolved, That it is the sense of this meeting, that our representatives should be instructed, and they are hereby instructed to move in the Legislature, or to support the motion, "That the Legislature of this state recommend to the people, immediately to chuse delegates for a state-convention, in order to take into consideration the constitution proposed by the late Federal Convention, and, if approved of, to ratify the same, in behalf of the state of New-Jersey."

By direction of the meeting,

JOSHUA M. WALLACE,

Judge of the election, for representatives, held said day. (Copy.)

1. Reprinted in the *New Jersey Journal* on 24 October and the *Trenton Mercury* on 6 November and in thirteen other newspapers from New Hampshire to Pennsylvania by 7 November.

18 A–J. The New Jersey Legislature and the Payment of Convention Delegates 31 October-6 November 1787

18-A. Assembly Proceedings, Wednesday, A.M., 31 October¹

Mr. Van-Cleve, with Leave, presented the Draught of a Bill, intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of Government of New-Jersey for one Year, to commence the twelfth Day of October, Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-seven, and to end the twelfth Day of October, Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-eight;" which was read, and ordered a second Reading.

18-B. Assembly Proceedings, Thursday, A.M., 1 November

The Bill, intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New Jersey for one Year to commence the twelfth Day of October Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-seven, and to end the twelfth Day of October Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-eight," was read a second Time, debated, and ordered to be engrossed.

18-C. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, A.M., 2 November

The engrossed Bill, intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New-Jersey for one Year, to commence the twelfth Day of October Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-seven, and to end the twelfth Day of October Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-eight," was read and compared,

Resolved unanimously, That the same do pass.

* * * * * * *

Ordered, That the Speaker do sign the said Bills. *Ordered,* That Mr. Van-Cleve do carry the said Bills to Council for Concurrence.

18-D. Council Proceedings, Friday, A.M., 2 November²

Mr. Van-Cleve, from the House of Assembly, presented to this House, for Concurrence, the three following Bills: A Bill intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New-Jersey for one Year, to commence the 12th Day of October 1787, and to end the 12th Day of October 1788:"... which three several Bills were read, and ordered a second Reading.

18-E. Assembly Proceedings, Friday, P.M., 2 November

Mr. van-Cleve reported, that he had obeyed the Order of the House.

18-F. Council Proceedings, Friday, P.M., 2 November

The Bill, intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New-Jersey for one Year, to commence the 12th Day of October 1787, and to end the 12th Day of October 1788," was read a second Time, and ordered a third Reading.

18-G. Council Proceedings, Tuesday, A.M., 6 November

The Bill, intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New-Jersey for one Year, to commence the 12th Day of October 1787, and to end the 12th Day of October 1788," was read a third Time; on the Question, Whether the said Bill do pass? It was carried in the Affirmative, Nem. Con.

Ordered, That the President do sign the same.

Ordered, That Mr. Haring do wait on the House of Assembly, and acquaint them that the said Bill is passed by this House.

18-H. Assembly Proceedings, Tuesday, A.M., 6 November

Two Messages from the Council by Mr. Haring. Council-Chamber, November 6, 1787.

* * * * * * *

Ordered, That Mr. Haring do wait on the House of Assembly and acquaint them that the Bill, intitled, "An Act to provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New-Jersey for one Year, to commence the twelfth Day of October Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-seven, and to end the twelfth Day of October Seventeen Hundred and Eighty-eight," is passed by this House without Amendment."

18-I. Council Proceedings, Tuesday, A.M., 6 November

Mr. Haring reported, that he had obeyed the several Orders of the House of this Day.

18-J. Act to Pay Delegates to the State Convention, 6 November (excerpt)³

And be it Enacted by the Authority aforesaid, That the said Treasurer shall pay to each of the Delegates who shall attend on the Part of this State in the State Convention, the Sum of Ten Shillings lawful Money of this State per Day, for each Day he shall have attended, on producing a Certificate thereof, signed by the Chairman or President of the said Convention, and any two of the Members thereof.

1. The Assembly proceedings are taken from Votes and Proceedings of the Twelfth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey ... [23 October-7 November 1787] (Trenton, 1787).

2. The Council proceedings are taken from the *Journal of the Proceedings of the Legislative-Council of the State of New-Jersey* ... [23 October-7 November 1787] (Trenton, 1787).

3. An Act to Provide for the Payment of the several Officers of the Government of New-Jersey . . . , *Acts of the Twelfth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey* . . . (Trenton, 1787), chapter CCXXII, 449–51.

19. The Final Decision, New Jersey Journal, 31 October 1787

The FINAL DECISION. Awake America! extend thine eyes, A course sublime, along thy native skies; There, through the vast of ambient air, behold The lasting doors of destiny unfold. With glitt'ring pomp array'd, from realms of light, Fate all-controuling, reaches into sight; He in his hand the shining scales suspends, In which the lot of earthly pow'rs depends. Now O Columbia! now thy cause is try'd, The balance hangs well trim'd on either side; Freedom ascends the one, with garlands crown'd, And wreaths of laurel o'er her temples bound, But lately gather'd from the sanguine plain, Where brethren bled, and Britons sons were slain; Where, arm'd with terror, loud tremendous war, Spread desolation through our coasts afar. The great, the immortal Washington attends, To save the falling States, and help his friends: With zeal he takes the part for which before He bravely stood, mid seas of streaming gore. The Goddess' call he once again obeys, And yields to toilsome care his tranquil days. A constitution, for the present made, Found weak and feeble, cries for speedy aid; He now a new one to our land extends, Which he, in council with the wise commends. Wisdom, the solid base, the chiefest plan, The gen'ral good, and liberty of man. Self-Int'rest in the other, like a storm. Of blasting whirlwinds, rears her Hydra-form; Ten thousand feuds, with civil discord join'd, Around her wait, and full employment find; She strives to fill the earth with fierce alarms, And grasp the whole, with wide extending arms. If she could sway the Spanish silver shores, And gain the gold of all the eastern stores, Not satisfied with these, her lust would crave Some wealth unknown, beyond some fancied wave. She now inspir'd with horrid arts and ways, From Pluto's court, the grand attempt essays.

Thus in suspence, impends our doubtful state, While anxious, gazing nations round us wait, To see a new-born empire rise to fame, Or fall in one eternal blot of shame.-Should freedom's weight bear down, we stand confest, With heav'nly Peace, and Independence blest. Th' opprest shall find a safe asylum here, Enjoy their own, nor savage tyrants fear. A heart-felt joy shall greet the rural swain, While Ceres crowns his fields with waving grain: While, from his orchard, Bacchus fills the bowl With nect'reous juice, to cheer the panting soul. While fat'ning flocks, and snowy lambkins feed, With num'rous herds, along the flow'ry mead. Then Agriculture shall perfection gain, Improve the wilds, and bless the fertile plain; Shall, join'd with Arts, and Manufactures run, Expand and shine beneath the setting sun. Where now the Indian tribes abide, who know No pleasures but excess of human woe, Where lowly huts, and cottages abound, And death spreads horror o'er the purple ground, Fine towns and cities shall in splendour rise, And gilded spires assail the vaulted skies. Fair Science, bursting all her chains, shall blaze Through countries yet unknown, her genial rays. Our realms shall own no western bounds but those On which th' immense Pacific Ocean flows; Our ships triumphant there shall safely ride, Bound o'er the main and beat the dashing tide; The distant Indian, and Atlantic sway, While boundless wat'ry wastes, with fear obey. At once the gifts of all the trading world, In riches vast, shall be to us unfurl'd: While all the universe, in wonder round, Struck with amazement, and respect profound, Blessing our lot, shall to our union bend, Well pleas'd to serve, and fearing to offend. The pow'rs which envy fires, shall rise in vain, And we unshock'd, from age to age remain. Firm as the pond'rous rock which guards the shore, Where ever-raging seas in tumults roar; While storms and winds insult the murky deep, Convolving surge on surge, the billows sweep

A dark'ning cloud, with full collected might, Rush on, and dreadfully proclaim the sight; Unmov'd, in proud defiance stands the stone, While they fall back, and heave an awful groan. But should the other Monster take the lead, Rejecting Justice, make her wiles succeed, Our pleasing future views at once will die, And Anarchy the place of Power supply. Some daring cit, perhaps an upstart—Shays, With all the force th' infernal fiends can raise, Will spread his bloody insigns far and wide, And march to empire, through the crimson tide. Our spacious towns, the marts for foreign isles, Where business reigns, and lovely concord smiles, Will fall in flames, and in their ruins hide Their gallant sons, of Adam's race the pride. Our dearest offsspring, friends, and loving wives, Will all in one destruction loose their lives; Nor hoary hair, nor smiles of tender age, At all will melt the cruel victors rage. Myriods of furies fire a despot's soul, Which naught but his insatiate lusts controul; He makes himself an arbitrary lord. While life and death await his dreadful word; His vassals at his haughty feet must fall, Resign their liberty, their store, their all!!!

Thus now, my countrymen, before our eyes, At our own option, fame or ruin lies. Ye brave Americans! if yet you claim The glorious right, to bear so great a name, At last arouse! Let all that's dear inspire Those breasts which once display'd a gen'rous fire; Secure that property for which you fought, Which num'rous lives and free-spent treasure bought Can you so soon, in dark oblivion waste Such ard'ous toils, and ills so lately past? Can you magnanimous, to slav'ry break; Bow down your necks, the yoke of bondage take? Methinks you all declare for Freedom's cause, To prop her strength, consolodate her laws, And fix so pure a government, to sway Till time shall sink, and nature fade away.

20 A–G. A Farmer of New Jersey: Observations on Government 3 November 1787–4 December 1788¹

20-A. "A Farmer, of New-Jersey," Observations on Government . . . (New York, 1787)

 To view this document, see Evans 20465, or visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

1. The five letters in this group of documents (20 C–G) are all in the Stevens Family Papers, New Jersey Historical Society. The letter to Benjamin Van-Cleve is transcribed from a file copy, while the other four letters are taken from recipient copies.

20-B. New York Daily Advertiser, 3 November

This Day is Published, And to be SOLD by WILLIAM ROSS, in Broad-street, No. 33, and by the PRINTER hereof, OBSERVATIONS on GOVERNMENT, Including some animadversions on Mr. ADAMS's DEFENCE Of the CONSTITUTIONS of GOVERNMENT of the UNITED STATES of AMERICA: And on Mr. DE LOLME'S CONSTITUTION of ENGLAND. By A FARMER of NEW-JERSEY.

20-C. John Stevens, Jr., to John Stevens, Sr. Hoboken, 9 December (excerpt)

... I sent Col. [John] Cox a Phamphlet written by a Jersey Farmer, please to read it and let me know how you like it. The Constitution must either be wholly received or wholly rejected. It is in vain to expect that any kind of federal government can ever take place, if the State Conventions are to make amendments.

20-D. John Stevens, Jr., to John Stevens, Sr. Hoboken, 30 December (excerpt)

I have Sent Mama a political Pamphlet which was written by a very good friend of hers the sentiments of which I hope will not displease her.

20-E. William Ross to John Stevens, Jr.

New York, 16 May 1788

I am much obliged by your Note of the 13th, and in compliance with your Request have counted the Number of Books remaining in my Hands—which I find to be 364—. This, with 100 remitted Mr. Cruikshanks of Philadelphia, 24 sent you per Note, and 20 sold in this City, compleats the Number; and I shall be glad to receive your Order with respect to what remains with,

Sir

Your Humble Servant William Ross—

New-York, May 16, 1788—Received from John Stevens Jun. Esq; Seventeen Pounds Sixteen Shillings; being the Balance of an Account for printing Five Hundred Pamphlets, entitled Observations on Government, &c.

William Ross-

20-F. John Stevens, Jr., to Benjamin Van Cleve Hoboken, 21 November 1788 (excerpt)

I have taken the liberty of directing to your care a number of pamphlets, which tho' they may not contain a great many new and just observations on government, were however written with the [sincerest?] intentions of promoting the public welfare. Be pleased, sir, to present them in my name, to such of the members of the Legislature, as you think proper. They were written and sent to the press about a year ago. You are at liberty to communicate the contents of this as well as the draft of a new Constitution, to as many of the members as you please—When you have done with the Drafts be so kind as to leave it in the care of Mr. S. Stockton as I have no copy—

20-G. John Stevens, Jr., to Honorable John Stevens, Sr. Hoboken, 4 December 1788

I wrote you a few days ago by Gilbert, since which I have received yours by Mr. Rutherd. It would be very convenient to me to be a representative to Congress, tho' I am not very sanguine as I am not inclined to take the pains that some will in order to get in; I have a few days ago writen to the speaker, and have mentioned the matter to him, I also sent him a number of my pamphlets to distribute among the members, and a draught of a constitution for this state, together with a pretty long letter, which I desired he might communicate to the House. So you see I have given them a sample of my abilities, by which to judge how well I may be qualified for this Business. If therefore you think there is any chance I have no sort of objection to my name being made use of. Rachel and the Children are all well, Robert runs alone and grows very lively and diverting. Love to Mama.

21 A–D. Newspaper Reports of the Calling of the State Convention 7–20 November 1787

21-A. Pennsylvania Journal, 7 November¹

Extract of a letter from Trenton, November 1.

There is not the least probability that the tender will be taken off the Jersey Paper Money, but am inclined to think a law will pass, ordering all principal to be burned that may be paid into the Loan office, which of consequence will lessen the quantity in circulation, and perhaps may be of some use in preventing it growing worse. I am informed it keeps in pretty good credit in the eastern part of the State. Both Houses have unanimously resolved, that delegates be appointed on the fourth Tuesday of this instant, to meet in Convention at Trenton the second Tuesday in December. William Livingston, Esq; was yesterday appointed Governor.

21-B. Connecticut Middlesex Gazette, 12 November

The General Assembly of New-Jersey have passed a resolution appointing the fourth Tuesday of November instant, for the election of members of a Convention, to take into consideration the proposed plan of government for the United States: The said Convention to meet at Trenton on the second Tuesday of December next.

21-C. Trenton Mercury, 13 November²

On Thursday last the honorable the Legislature of this State rose *sine die*. During their sitting the following acts were passed, viz.

* * * * * * *

3. An act to authorise the people of this state to meet in convention to deliberate upon, agree to, and ratify the constitution for the United States, proposed by the late General Convention.

* * * * * * *

12. An act to provide for the payment of the several officers of the government of the state of New-Jersey for one year, to commence the 12th day of October, 1787, and to end the 12th day of October, 1788.

21-D. Salem Mercury (Massachusetts), 20 November

The legislature of New-Jersey have unanimously recommended the appointment of a Convention of the people of that State, to take into consideration the proposed plan of national government—and fixed the time of the meeting of said Convention on the second Tuesday in December, in Trenton.

1. Reprinted: Pennsylvania Packet, 8 November; Carlisle Gazette, 14 November.

2. Reprinted: Brunswick Gazette, 20 November; New Jersey Journal, 21 November; Pennsylvania Journal, 21 November; New York Journal, 24 November.

22 A–G. Newspaper Reports of Convention Elections 27 November-11 December 1787

22-A. Brunswick Gazette, 27 November¹

This day is appointed by the legislature of this state for the election of members to meet in convention, to take into consideration the new Fœderal Constitution.

22-B. Pennsylvania Packet, 1 December

Thomas Reynolds, George Anderson, and Joshua M. Wallace, Esquires, are elected to represent the county of Burlington in the Convention of New-Jersey.

22-C. Brunswick Gazette, 4 December²

The following is a list of the members chosen by the counties annexed, to serve in the Convention of this state.

Essex. John Chetwood, David Crane, and Samuel Hay, Esquires.

Somerset. The Rev. Jacob R. Harbenbergh, the Rev. John Witherspoon, and Frederick Frelinghuysen, Esq.

Middlesex. John Neilson, John Beatty, and Benjamin Manning, Esquires.

Hunterdon. The Hon. David Brearley, Joshua Corshon, and John Stevens, Esquires.

Burlington. George Anderson, Thomas Reynolds, and Joshua M. Wallace, Esquires.

Monmouth. Elisha Lawrence, — Breese, and — Crawford, Esquires. No other returns are yet come to hand.

Tuesday next is the day appointed by the General Assembly for the meeting of the State Convention at Trenton.

22-D. Trenton Mercury, 4 December³

Tuesday last came on the election of delegates to serve in a state convention, when the following gentlemen were elected for the under-mentioned counties.

Essex County. John Chetwood, Samuel Hay, David Cram [sic], Esqrs.

Middlesex do. John Neilson, James Schureman, John Beatty, Esgrs.

Monmouth do. Elisha Lawrence, Samuel Breese, William Crawford, Esqrs.

Somerset do. John Witherspoon, Jacob R. Hardenbergh, F. Furlinghuysen, Esqrs.

Burlington do. Thomas Reynolds, Joshua Maddox Wallace, George Anderson, Esqrs.

Hunterdon do. John Stevens, Hon. David Brearley, Joshua Corshon, Esqrs. Sussex ditto. Peter [sic] Ogden, Robert Hoops, Thomas Anderson, Esqrs.

22-E. New York Daily Advertiser, 5 December⁴

On Saturday evening last, at the close of the poll at Morris-Town, the following gentlemen were declared duly elected to serve as Members for the county of Morris, in the Convention to be holden at Trenton on Tuesday next, the 11th inst.

William Woodhull, John Jacob Faesch, and William Windes, Esquires.

22-F. Pennsylvania Packet, 10 December

The following gentlemen are elected members of the Convention of New Jersey:

For Middlesex County.-Dr. Beatty, Colonel John Neilson and Mr. Manning.

Somerset.-Dr. Witherspoon, the Rev. Mr. Hardenburgh, and Colonel Frelinghuysen.

Essex.—John Chetwood, Esq, Colonel Samuel Hay, and Mr. David Crane.

Morris.-William Woodhull, John Jacob Faesch, and William Windes, esquires.

22-G. Trenton Mercury, 11 December

Since our last, we have received the following returns of the State Convention. *Morris County*. William Winds, John J. Faisch, William Woodhull. *Bergen County*. John Fell, Peter Zabriskie, Cornelius Hennion.

1. Reprinted: New York Journal, 30 November; Providence Gazette, 8 December; and Worcester Magazine, 13 December.

2. Reprinted: New York Journal, 7 December.

3. Reprinted: Pennsylvania Mercury, 7 December.

4. Reprinted: New York Packet, 7 December.

23. Newspaper Report of Convention Proceedings on 11-14 December 1787¹

STATE CONVENTION.

December 11, 1787.

This day the Honorable the Members of Convention for this State assembled at this place.

A Correct List of the Members returned.

Bergen County. John Fell, Peter Zabriskie, Cornelius Hennion, Esqrs.

Essex county-John Chetwood, Samuel Hay, David Crane, Esqrs.

Middlesex county—John Neilson, John Beatty, Benjamin Manning, Esqrs.

Monmouth county-Elisha Lawrence, Samuel Breese, William Crawford, Esqrs.

Somerset county—John Witherspoon, Jacob R. Hardenbergh, Frederick Frelinghuysen, Esqrs.

Burlington county—Thomas Reynolds, Joshua Maddox Wallace, George Anderson, Esqrs.

Gloucester county—Richard Howell, Andrew Hunter, Benjamin Whiteall, Esqrs. Salem county—Whitten Cripps, Edmund Weatherby, Samuel Dick, Esqrs. Cape-May county—Jesse Hand, Jeremiah Eldridge, Mathew Whilden, Esqrs. Hunterdon county—John Stevens, Hon. David Brearley, Joshua Corshon, Esqrs. Morris County. William Winds, John J. Faesch, William Woodhull, Esqrs. Cumberland county—David Potter, Jonathan Bowen, Eli Elmer, Esqrs. Sussex county—Robert Ogden, Robert Hoops, Thomas Anderson, Esqrs.

December 12.

All the delegates, except one, from the several counties in this state having met in convention, proceeded to chuse, by ballot, a President, when the Honorable John Stevens, Esq. was elected. The convention then proceeded to the choice of a Secretary, when Samuel Witham Stockton, Esq. was elected.

A committee was appointed to frame rules for the government of the convention.

December 13.

The Rev. Mr. Armstrong, by a resolution of convention, was requested to open the business every morning with prayer.

After reading the act of the legislature of this state, passed at Trenton, Nov. 1, 1787, authorising the people thereof, by their delegates to meet in convention, to deliberate upon, and if approved of by them, to ratify the Constitution for the United States, proposed by the General Convention, held at Philadelphia:

And after reading also the said proposed constitution, it was resolved, That the Federal Constitution be read by sections, and upon each section's being read, every member do make his observations on the same, if any he hath to make, and that after debating on such section, the question be taken, whether any further debate be thereon had, and if the said question be determined in the negative, that the convention do then proceed in like manner to the next section, until the whole be gone through; upon which the general question shall be taken, Whether this Convention, in the name and in behalf of the People of this State, do ratify and confirm the said Constitution.

December 14.

On motion, it was ordered, That the doors of the convention be open during their sitting; and the convention proceeded to consider and deliberate upon the Federal Constitution.

They have since continued their deliberations and debates thereon, from day to day, and it is conjectured, that they will finish their proceedings by the middle of this week.

1. Trenton Mercury, 18 December 1787, Reprinted, in whole or in part, in the Pennsylvania Mercury, 21 December; Pennsylvania Journal, 22 December; Pennsylvania Packet, 22, 29 December; New Jersey Journal, 26 December; New York Journal, 28 December; Connecticut Courant, 31 December; State Gazette of South Carolina, 17 January 1788.

24. Pennsylvania Packet, 15 December 1787¹

Extract of a letter from Trenton, December 13.

"Our convention met on Tuesday, and by a resolution requested the Rev. Mr. Armstrong to open the business of the day with prayer: thus you see we hold public prayers in greater estimation in New-Jersey than they were held in Pennsylvania, notwithstanding the members of our convention consist, like yours, of gentlemen of *different* religious sects. John Stevens, esq. is elected president, and Samuel Stockton, esq. secretary of the convention."

1. Reprinted four times in New York and once in Connecticut, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania. The *Massachusetts Centinel*, 2 January 1788 partially reprinted this item under the heading, "*Extract of a letter from Trenton, December 20*." Another sentence was added stating that "On Friday they unanimously ratified and confirmed the Federal Constitution—and have since risen." The Centinel's version was reprinted twice in Massachusetts and twice in New Hampshire by 15 January.

25. Newspaper Reports of Convention Proceedings on 18-20 December 1787

[December 18]

The state of New-Jersey, by their delegates in convention, did on the 18th inst. adopt the NEW FEDERAL CONSTITUTION, proposed and agreed upon, by the deputies of the United States in General Convention held at the city of Philadelphia, on the 17th of September last, as follows:—

After reciting the several proceedings under which they were appointed.—

"NOW Be it known, That WE, the delegates of the state of New-Jersey, chosen by the people thereof, for the purposes aforesaid, having maturely deliberated on and considered the aforesaid proposed Constitution, DO HEREBY, for and on the behalf of the people of the said state of New-Jersey, agree to, ratify, and confirm the same and every part thereof.

Done in Convention, by the unanimous consent of the members present, this eighteenth day of December, in the year of our Lord 1787, and of the Independence of the United States of America the 12th."

[Brunswick Gazette, 25 December]

* * * * * * *

In order in some degree to satisfy the curiosity and wishes of the people at large, who could not with convenience attend the proceedings of our State Convention, a correspondent has favoured us with the continuation, since our last paper, of an authentic though short history of them.

STATE CONVENTION.

December 18, 1787.

The Convention have from day to day continued their deliberations on the proposed Fœderal Constitution, and after debating it by sections, agreeably to the resolution of yesterday, it was again read, after which several well connected, sensible and learned speeches were made on the subject, in which a general review was taken of all the different articles in their relation to one another, on the close of which this general question was taken "Whether this Convention, in the name and behalf of the People of this State, do ratify and confirm the said Constitution," which was determined UNANIMOUSLY in the affirmative.

Mr. Brearley, Mr. Witherspoon, Mr. Neilson, Mr. Beatty and Mr. Hunter were appointed a committee to draw up the form of the ratification, &c. which, after reciting the feederal constitution, the resolution and act of the Legislature of this State, authorising the People, by their delegates, to meet in convention, &c. concluded in these words: "Now BE IT KNOWN, that WE the Delegates of the State of New-Jersey, chosen by the People thereof, for the purposes aforesaid, having maturely deliberated on, and considered the aforesaid proposed Constitution, DO hereby, for and on the behalf of the People of the said State of New-Jersey, AGREE TO, RATIFY AND CONFIRM the same, and every part thereof.—DONE IN CONVENTION by the *unanimous* consent of the members present, this eighteenth day of December, in the year of our LORD one thousand seven hundred and eighty seven, and of the Independence of the United States of America the twelfth. In witness whereof, we have hereunto subscribed our names, &c."

On motion, it was resolved, that the Secretary be directed to cause two copies of the Fœderal Constitution, together with the form of the ratification, &c. as agreed to, engrossed on parchment, to be produced to the convention for the purpose of signature; one for the Congress of the United States, and the other to be deposited among the archives of this State.

December 19.

Agreeably to the resolve of yesterday, the before-mentioned copies were produced for the purpose of signature.—Whereupon all the members of the convention present proceeded to subscribe their names thereto and the Secretary to attest the same.

After which it was resolved, that the convention should go in procession to the Court House the same day at one o'clock, and that the Secretary be directed to read the ratification of the constitution in the hearing of the people.

The Convention accordingly at one o'clock went in procession from the place of their sitting to the Court-House, preceded by Capt. Hanlon's well disciplined Light Infantry Company, completely uniformed and accoutred, and joined by the Judges of the Supreme and Inferior Courts, and other magistrates, the Attorney General, and the gentlemen of the town and vicinity; where, after proclamation made, the ratification of the new constitution was read by the Secretary, amidst the acclamations and huzzas of the people.—After which, fifteen rounds were fired by Captain Hanlon's company; thirteen of which were for the United States of America, and a volunteer for each of the states of Delaware and Pennsylvania, they being the only states which, with this state, have as yet ratified the new fœderal constitution. The procession returned in the same order.

The Convention resolved, that the ratification &c. as agreed to by them, should be delivered by the President of the Convention to the President of Congress, in Congress assembled: and that the duplicate, thereof should be delivered by the Secretary to the Governor of this State for the purpose of being lodged among the archives of the State.

December 20.

It was this day resolved unanimously that it is the opinion of this Convention that the State of New-Jersey should offer a cession to Congress of a district not exceeding ten miles square for the seat of the government of the United States, over which they may exercise executive [sic] legislation.

On motion it was resolved unanimously, that the President be requested in the name of the Convention to thank the Rev. Mr. Armstrong for his attendance and services during their sitting.

It was also resolved unanimously, that the thanks of the Convention be presented to the President for his able and faithful discharge of the duties of the chair.—Which resolution being read, the President rose and expressed his gratitude for the honour the Convention had done him by their appointment of him to the chair, and that their approbation of his conduct gave him the most heart-felt satisfaction; adding, that during the many years of his life, which had been employed in the service of his country, he had known but few instances in publick bodies of such uniform good order and unanimity, as had prevailed in that Convention.

The business of the Convention being thus concluded. It was resolved that this Convention do adjourn, without day; whereupon the President desolved the Convention accordingly. After which the members of this honorable body, having previously invited a number of the magistrates and other gentlemen, to partake with, them, dined together at Mr. Vandergrist's tavern—at which entertainment the joy and satisfaction of the occasion was fixed in every heart, and apparently in every countenance.—After dinner the following toasts were drank.

1. The New Constitution.

2. The United States in Congress.

3. The President and Members of the late Fœderal Convention.

4. The Governor and State of New-Jersey.

5. The States of Delaware and Pennsylvania.

6. May the Independence of the Union, reared on the basis of the New Constitution, be perpetual.

7. The Princes and States in alliance with the United States.

8. May the Interest of the United States be ever deemed the Interest of each State.

9. Religion, Learning, Agriculture, Arts, Manufactures and Commerce, in harmony and mutual subserviency to each other.

10. The memory and posterity of those who have fallen in the late war.

11. May the gratitude of the American *Citizens* be equal to the valour and patriotism of the American *Soldiery*.

12. The Daughters of America.

13. May the United States be the asylum of invaded Liberty.

Volunteer.—May the American drums soon beat Reveille to the dawn of the new government, and Tattoo to Anarchy and Confusion.

Ditto. Universal Liberty, Justice and Peace.

Our correspondent observes, that it must give every real friend to his country great pleasure, when he hears of the entire cordiallity and unanimity which prevailed in the Councils of our Hon. Convention.—The representation from the several counties, except Salem, was complete and full, during the whole session; two members, from Salem, attended but the third, viz. Doctor Samuel Dick, we are informed, was unavoidably detained at home on account of the illness of some of his family. When we exammine the list of the members returned to our Convention, we shall find them to be truly respectable and among the first characters in the State; and there is not much doubt, but there will be the same unanimity among the people at large in supporting the new government, or has been found among the adopters of it. [*Trenton Mercury*, 25 December]

* * * * * * *

[December 20.]

The convention of this state the 20th ult. resolved unanimously that it is the opinion of this convention, that the state of New-Jersey should offer a cession to Congress of a district not exceeding ten miles square for the seat of the government of the United States, over which they may exercise executive [sic] legislation. [*New Jersey Journal*, 2 January 1788]

* * * * * * *

[December 20]

On Thursday the delegates of the convention, with the inhabitants of Trenton and its neighbourhood, dined at Mr. Vandegrist's tavern, in which company the most perfect harmony presided, and after dinner the following toasts were drank, viz. [*Brunswick Gazette*, 25 December]

[For the toasts, see the Trenton Mercury, 25 December.]

26. New Jersey Form of Ratification, 18 December 1787¹

26-A. New Jersey Form Sent to Congress, 18 December 1787¹

 To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

1. Engrossed MS, RG 11, Certificates of Ratification of the Constitution and Bill of Rights . . . , 1787–92, National Archives.

26-B. New Jersey Form Retained by the State, 18 December 1787¹

 To view this document, visit the University of Wisconsin Digital Collection at https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Constitution

1. Engrossed MS, Rutgers University Library.

27. Walter Rutherfurd to John Stevens New York, 18 December 1787 (excerpt)¹

... I hope this will find you returned from the Convention, we hear Delaware and Pensilvania shewed you a good Example.—apprehensive, there will be more Opposition in this State.... Jersey paper is 1/6th. discount as it reads, at the Stores and Markets, does not pass in large Payments,—much of it in Town Flour @ 36/ or 37/ **P** Barrel, and no Demand. Butter 9d. and Factors overstocked.— The Packet much looked for to decide the News of War or Peace, Sir John Temple and Mr Otto think there will be no War, the general Opinion, otherwise. France was never so ill prepared, and Britain is involved in Debt, yet they will run all hazzards to recover Holland, who you will observe by the papers have lately lent Congress one Million of Guilders equal to £90.909..Sterg—

1. RC, Stevens Family Papers, New Jersey Historical Society.

28 A–J. Reports of New Jersey Ratification, 21 December 1787–11 January 1788

28-A. New York Daily Advertiser, 21 December¹

Last Wednesday the Convention of New-Jersey *unanimously* assented to and ratified the NEW FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

28-B. New York Journal, 21 December

We learn from undoubted authority, that the state of New-Jersey adopted the new constitution, in toto, the day before yesterday; particulars of their debates on this subject are not yet come to hand.

28-C. Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 21 December²

Extract of a letter from a gentleman in Trenton to his friend in this city, dated December 18th, 1787.

"I can with pleasure inform you, that this day the Convention of New-Jersey passed and ratified the constitution of the United States *unanimously*."

28-D. New York Independent Journal, 22 December³

Extract of a letter from a gentleman in New-Jersey, to his friend in this city dated December 19.

"Yesterday the Convention of this State unanimously approved of the new Constitution for the United States."

28-E. Pennsylvania Journal, 22 December⁴

The State Convention convened at Trenton for the purpose of taking into consideration the constitution formed by the Continental Convention, after a Weeks deliberation, unanimously agreed to the same, and having finished their business, broke up on Wednesday [Thursday] last.

28-F. Moore Furman to William Edgar

Trenton, 26 December⁵

I gave you the earliest notice in my power of the Conduct of our Convention, and think it remarkable that the Legislature and Convention should be unanimous. I hope it will go on untill Nine states at least (I hope all) do confirm it—

28-G. New Haven Gazette, 27 December⁶

The State Convention of New-Jersey *Unanimously approved and ratified* the Federal Constitution on the 18th instant.

28-H. Pennsylvania Mercury, 28 December⁷

NEW BRUNSWICK, December 25.

The state of New-Jersey, by their delegates in convention, did on the 18th inst. adopt the NEW FEDERAL CONSTITUTION, proposed and agreed upon, by the deputies of the United States in General Convention held at the city of Philadelphia, on the 17th of September last, as follows:—

After reciting the several proceedings under which they were appointed.—

"NOW Be it known, That WE, the delegates of the state of New-Jersey, chosen by the people thereof, for the purposes aforesaid, having maturely deliberated on and considered the aforesaid proposed Constitution, DO HEREBY, for and on the behalf of the people of the said state of New-Jersey, agree to, ratify, and confirm the same and every part thereof.

Done in Convention, by the unanimous consent of the members present, this eighteenth day of December, in the year of our Lord 1787, and of the Independence of the United States of America the 12th."

28-I. Philadelphia American Museum, December

The convention of the state of New Jersey met at Trenton, on the eleventh instant; and continued their session by adjournments until the eighteenth, when, after a full and fair investigation of the new constitution, the adoption of it was unanimously agreed to, and the ratification of it signed by all the members.

28-J. Abraham Lott to John Neilson

New York, 11 January 1788 (excerpt)⁸

That your State have so unanimously adopted the new proposed Confederation, gains them much honor in the estimation of every real friend to America; And must hand down to the latest posterity the Names of the Members of the Convention, as Fathers of their Country.

1. Reprinted twice in both New York and South Carolina and once in Georgia by 24 January 1788.

2. The letter was written by Moore Furman to Tench Coxe (see RCS:N.J., 195). The *Gazetteer* printing of the letter was reprinted five times in Pennsylvania and once in both New York and Virginia by 12 January 1788.

3. Reprinted three times each in Massachusetts and Connecticut, and twice in Rhode Island by 3 January 1788.

4. Reprinted eleven times from Massachusetts to Virginia by 9 January 1788.

5. RC (photostat), Edgar Papers, New York Public Library.

6. Reprinted three times in Connecticut by 10 January 1788.

7. The *Mercury* printed this account under the dateline "New-Brunswick, December 25." The only extant copy of the *Brunswick Gazette* of 25 December is partially mutilated, and therefore the *Mercury* has been used to transcribe this news item. It was reprinted three times in Massachusetts, twice in New York, and once each in Rhode Island and Connecticut by 14 January 1788.

8. RC, Neilson Papers, Rutgers University Library.

29. Margery, Letter VIII to Mr. B—n of Cumberland County Philadelphia, 7 January 1788 (excerpt)¹

Dear Sir,

I thank you kindly for the small fillip your riot at Carlisle has given to my hopes.—My spirits have indeed for some time past been upon a rapid ebb— The three adoptions in the course of a fortnight, treading as it were "upon the kibe" of each other, untoned my whole frame—Things went in Delaware and Pennsylvania nearly as we could have expected; but what hurt me exceedingly was the *unanimity* of New-Jersey—we had at least expected a dissentient or two from the county of Essex, which would have saved appearances—It had been proposed to send Jonathan [Bayard Smith] up to Trenton, at the time the Convention was sitting, to try what he could do; but it was overruled on account of his having been driven out of that state with disgrace—However I was of opinion he might as well have gone; things could not have been worse, and there was not a man among us could have put on his effrontry, after so many severe *manual exercisings*.

1. This fictitious letter, possibly written by Federalist publicist, Benjamin Rush, was printed in the *Pennsylvania Mercury* on 20 March 1788. For the entire letter, see Mfm:Pa. 549. "Margery" was a reference to George Bryan.

30. New Jersey Journal, 9 January 1788

A pigmy antifederal frigid reptile, of Staten-Island [John C. Dongan], who surreptiously obtained a seat in the legislature, has been heard to exult that the blood of the federalists of New-Jersey would make excellent manure for their impoverished land.—What this Vicar of Bray, who, a few years since, was a vehement supporter of loyalty, but now a strenuous republican, meant to convey by the expression we shall not attempt to define; it is obvious—and should the nefarious miscreant put his foot on this shore, he may be treated according to his demerit.

31. Governor William Smallwood to Governor William Livingston Annapolis, 19 January 1788¹

Sir,

I have the Honõr of acknowledging the receipt of your Excellencys Letter acquainting me that the State Convention of New Jersey has unanimously ratified the fœdral Constitution.

The Legislature have appointed the third Week in April next for the meeting of the State Convention in this City and I flatter myself that the fœdral Constitution will then be [ratified?] here 'tho perhaps not without [much] opposition.

1. RC, Livingston Papers, Massachusetts Historical Society. Smallwood was governor of Maryland.

32. Nicholas Van Dyke, Jr., to Nicholas Van Dyke, Sr. Princeton, 22 January 1788 (excerpt)¹

No doubt you have before this time been informed by the faithful Centinel of the Delaware state,² of the ratification of the proposed Constitution, by the State of New-Jersey. This gave occasion to a gentleman [John C. Dongan], at present a member of the Legislature of Staten Island, whom Some of the Caesareans stile, "a *pygmy antifederal, frigid reptile,* to exult that the blood of the federalists of N. Jersey, would make excellent manure for their impoverished land." The sharpness of this witticism so wounded the inhabitants of N: Jersey, that one of them has ventured to assert, "that if the nefarious miscreant should ever put his foot on this shore, he will be treated according to his demerit." From this it appears, that the opposers of that almost perfect plan, have not all been removed by the solid arguments adduced by its advocates.

1. RC, Papers of Descendants, The Longwood Manuscripts, Group 4, Box 11, Eleutherian Mills Historical Library, Greenville, Delaware.

2. The Delaware Gazette, or, the Faithful Centinel.

33. Governor Samuel Huntington to Governor William Livingston Norwich, 23 January 1788¹

Sir

I am honoured with your Excellency's favour of the 9th Instant, acquainting me that the State over which You have the honour to preside, hath unanimously ratified the foederal Constitution.

I have now the pleasure to inform You, that this State hath also ratified the same Constitution, by a majority of more than three to one.

 $1.\ {\rm RC},$ Livingston Papers, Massachusetts Historical Society. Huntington was governor of Connecticut.

34. A Babbler

New York Daily Advertiser, 19 February 1788

The Federalists are often induced to laugh at old *Margery's* bombastical intimations of conspiracy, &c. the following anecdote, shews something of this kind more worthy of public notice; altho' perhaps, equally contemptible, as to the danger of its consequence: A leading Jersey character, was lately on his way from this State, to the Legislature of Jersey, with an intention to procure the defection of that State from Federal measures: By some means his secret got air, upon which being publicly charged with the design, he denied his having said he was authorised from Government, but acknowledged that he was assured by several leading men here, that Jersey should fully participate of our impost, provided her Legislature could be brought to retract.

February 18.

35. John Stevens, Jr., to Richard Price, Spring 1788 (excerpt)¹

"To form a national government, sufficiently energetic to coerce obedience, and at the same time to leave such a degree of independent sovereignty to the states individually as would prevent a complete consolidation, was no easy task. Local interests and prejudices, the pride of state sovereignty, an avertion to innovation; these, and such like considerations, had well nigh rendered abortive the labours of our genuine and best-informed patriots. Yet the features of the new Constitution are, I trust, so happily blended as to produce one WHOLE which, for strength and beauty, I may venture to call unrivalled."

1. Printed: Archibald Douglas Turnbull, John Stevens: An American Record (New York and London, 1928), 96.

36. New Jersey Journal, 28 May 1788

It has been said, and perhaps with truth, that all governments incline to decay, and that the most free must end in tyranny. This observation will be acknowledged to be at least founded on probability, when we contemplate the rise and fall of ancient nations, and compare them with the origin, progress, and present State of MODERN. Civilization and corruption are ever found to advance with equal steps. A nation, therefore, as it increases in age, must increase the power of her magistrates, as the only resource for controling the multiplied vices of the people. Hence a Democracy has usually been succeeded by Aristocracy, and aristocracy by a Monarchy. But though it may be impossible to prevent the Free Republics of America from *finally* meeting the fate of the other kingdoms of the earth, yet it is undoubtedly in the power of the citizens of them to *place the* sad catastrophe at a distance. And, if it is in their power, it would be a sacriligious contempt of the noblest gift of Heaven, to be inattentive to those measures necessary to effect so great a purpose.-WHAT THEN IS TO BE DONE? This is a question addressed to ALL, and to which PATRIOTISM and RELIGION demand a manly and deliberate attention. Nothing is more true, than that Civil and Religious Tyranny are twin Monsters; and that he, who dares surrender his LIBERTY, dares, in contempt of his GOD, to SUBMIT HIS SOUL TO A SHACLE.

37 A-D. Abraham Clark and the Constitution, 23 July 1788-6 February 1789

37-A. Abraham Clark to Thomas Sinnickson

New York, 23 July¹

I am favoured with yours of the 12th instant by Major Story which I recd. yesterday,—his Journey I find has been unsuccessful.

As to my sentiments respecting the New System of Government, altho' you do not ask, yet, as I find by your Letter it will be Acceptable, I think it not amiss to give them.—They have at no time been concealed.—I never liked the System in all its parts. I considered it from the first, more a Consolidated government than a federal, a government too expensive, and unnecessarily Oppressive in its Opperation; Creating a Judiciary undefined and unbounded.—with all these imperfections about it, I nevertheless wished it to go to the States from Congress just as it did, without any Censure or Commendation, hoping that in Case of a general Adoption, the Wisdom of the States would soon amend it in the exceptionable parts; Strong fears however remained upon my mind untill I found the Custom of Recommending amendments with the Adoptions began to prevail.-This set my mind at ease. It became clear in my opinion from the Oppositions, and the general concurrence in proposing amendmts. that the present plan must undergo some alterations to make it more agreable to the minds of the great Numbers who dislike it in its present form. The Amendments I wish are not numerous;-many proposed by the different Conventions appear of but little Consequence, yet some are important and must be Acceded to if ever the Government sits easy. From this State of the matter, wishing amendmts. as I do, you will readily conclude I anxiously wish every state may come into the adoption in order to effect a measure with me so desireable; in which case, from the general current of amendments proposed, we shall retain all the important parts in which New Jersey is interested.

To your quere about our paper money, I dare not venture a Conjecture what effect the new Government will have upon it: I Suppose however, no interference will be had in that or any Law now in force so far as respects Citizens of the same State. In Continental affairs, and between Citizens of different States I Suppose the case will be otherwise. our paper probably will not then be received in the Treasury of the United States, or in our State by Citizens of another State, in which Case it will cease to be a legal tender.

As to the Arrears of Taxes payable to the Continental Receiver, I believe our paper will readily be received: The difficulty of obtaining money from the exhausted state of our finances makes our money, notwithstanding the loss sustained upon it, eagerly sought after; I know public Creditors are anxious to Obtain orders on our Loan officers when they can hear he hath any of our paper on hand; large orders have been given upon him which the holders Accepted in expectation of receiving paper only: As to Specie they know at present none is expected.

If any remedy is applied to our paper money it must come through our Legislature: I believe it would have a good effect if the Interest and such of the principle as may be paid in was destroyed, and the amount of the Interest raised by taxes.

It is said the Speaker is about calling our Legislature on account of the Adoption of the New Constitution; this is altogether unnecessary as the New Congress will not be convened before February, the Situation of several States require such a distant time; the Usual time of meeting in October will be soon enough to make the necessary provision for appointing officers &c.

We have been some time in Suspense about the event of the New Constitution in this State [New York]; The Accounts of last evening were that the Convention had Adjourned to a future day; if that is the Case they mean at next meeting to adopt it. before I seal this I may likely hear whether the above report is true or not.

P.S. I cannot find that the Acct. of the Conventions Adjourning is Supported by any good Authority.

37-B. Deposition of Joseph Riggs Essex County, 31 January 1789²

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on the 31st day of January, Anno Domini 1789, personally appeared before Matthias Ward, Esq. one of the Judges of the Inferior Court of Commonpleas for the county of Essex—Joseph Riggs, Esq. who being duly sworn, saith, that he is an inhabitant of the city of New-York, and that Abraham Clark, Esq. a member of congress from New-Jersey, was frequently at his house after the new constitution had been published; and the said Abraham Clark, Esq. frequently expressed his disapprobation of it—declaring that he did not like a consolidated government—but wanted each state to retain its independent sovereignty—And said he only wanted the present congress to have a little more authority; and that he would oppose the new constitution [with] all in his power.—These sentiments he not only expressed once, but frequently in the hearing of this deponent, and that of a number of other persons who were from time to time in his house.

JOSEPH RIGGS.

Sworn before me the day and year above written. MATT. WARD.

37-C. Abraham Clark, New Jersey Journal, 4 February 1789

To a person desirous of passing quietly through life with as little show and parade as possible, wishing rather to deserve esteem, than to obtain applause, any address to the public respecting himself, must be disagreeable, and, in some cases improper; yet in others, not only excusable but a duty. A charge, however false, which remains uncontradicted is readily believed. Every man in public life must expect to pass through ill, as well as good report, and though his calumniators are often too insignificant to merit a reply, or even occasion any resentment, yet it may sometimes happen otherwise. At present I am attacked, not openly in the public prints that I have heard of, but in a secret manner by letters, certificates, &c. sent privately into every part of the state, containing gross misrepresentations, and the most palpable falshoods, in order to prejudice the minds of the citizens against me at the coming election, and prevent my being appointed to a confidential trust: A trust of so much importance to the citizens of New-Jersey, that a diffidence of my abilities to execute it in a proper manner to their advantage, forbids any attempt of mine to push myself into it. It is however my duty, as well in private as in public life, to remove every unjust and illiberal charge against me, more especially, as in the present case, when coming from persons who, if they had a disposition for it, might render useful services to the community; I need not name them, they are characters well known in Jersey, as is also the cause of their clamours which may be considered as very remote from their regard to the interest of the citizens of the state. Those letters and certificates I have mentioned though intended as private stabs, from their number and circulation are become public and very notorious. One of their insinuations is that I am antifœderal, and an enemy to the new government. The charge of antifederalism is of so general and undefined a nature, that had it not been followed by that of an enemy to the government, I should not have thought it worthy of notice, as that epithet is frequently given to all those who dare venture to suspect the least defect in the Constitution, in which is included by far the greatest part of the inhabitants of the United States: How far this charge is applicable to me, I leave the impartial public to judge. That I used every means in my power in the different stations I filled, to obtain an efficient government, is well known and cannot be denied. When the plan of the new government appeared, I found it not such as I had wished and expected; I perceived, as I supposed, some parts of it bearing too hard upon the liberties of the people, and giving some unnecessary powers to those who were to administer it: This I never scrupled to mention when my opinion was desired. Notwithstanding my dislike to some parts, considering the situation the United States was in, and the provision made in the Constitution for amendments, I cheerfully gave my assistance to send it to the states for their consideration, judging that New-Jersey, from its local situation and circumstances, could not with propriety reject it, notwithstanding its imperfections; presuming at the same time, that the new Congress would endeavor to amend it as soon as other important business for putting the government into operation would admit. This I yet hope and expect will, in a proper time, be effected in Congress, but not by a future general convention, which would be inexpedient and dangerous to the union by leaving us without government for years to come. The story so industriously propagated, that I made offers to, and used endeavors with the Convention of Jersey to prevent their ratifying the Constitution, is so far from being true, that I never exchanged one word to my remembrance or belief, with any one member of our Convention on the subject of the Constitution, until long after its ratification, or ever wrote to one of them upon that subject; nor did I use any means whatever tending to a rejection of it, which I had a right to do if I thought proper, when the Constitution was under consideration; a right which I trust I shall at all times, if necessary, exercise without fear or scruple, when our liberties are the subject of deliberation. This in brief, as near as I can state it, is the sum total of my antifœderalism and enmity to the new government, if any are pleased to call it such.

One of my opposers, in concurrence as I am told with others, has gone so far as to obtain, or fabricate which has been circulated through the state, certifying, that I had tendered state securities in discharge of a debt, there being a law for that purpose in certain cases; a silly charge if true, too trifling to be noticed, were it not that great things are expected from it by its publishers. The truth after all is, that I never was possessed of such a kind of certificate as the law authorized a tender of, and that I never by myself or by any other person, either tendered or offered a certificate of any kind in payment of a debt, or for sale, except for the purchase of land over the Ohio.

Another insinuation of those civil gentlemen, my opposers (from which they draw an inference that I shall promote dessentions in the government) is, that I am opposed to a certain gentleman which it is expected will be the highest officer in the government: A gentleman high in my estimation, and who in preference to all others, I wish may have the appointment to that important station.

This insinuation, I am told, is founded upon a supposed transaction in Congress many years ago, which I have good reason to believe never happened, and which I never heard any intimation of till a few months past.

In addition to the above, my letters are taken up and secreted, or the direction altered, and sent a contrary way to what was intended; in order to prevent a seasonable discovery of the nefarious practices of my enemies.

From this short statment of facts, which duty obliges me to make, the public will judge what kind of gentlemen I have to contend with; I shall not however, at this time, make any remarks upon their illiberal and indecent conduct, but leave them to such farther measures as they may think proper to pursue; they will no doubt continue very busy, and should they confine themselves to truth, or alledge that I have not abilities equal to the important trust of a representative, I shall not contend with them. It is strange they should attempt to propogate falshoods about me, when, from the errors I have probably committed in a long course of public service, one would imagine they might have mustered up truths sufficient to publish to my disadvantage.

I must not conclude without observing, that the present is an important crisis; a new united government is to be put into operation, every thing under providence, depends upon the persons who are to conduct it; for unless wisdom and cool deliberation direct our councils, dissentions will probably arise that may end in our final ruin; which may Heaven prevent, is the sincere prayer of the public's Most obedient and humble servant,

ABRA. CLARK.

37-D. Deposition of Adam Boyd Hackensack, 6 February 1789³

Being called upon to certify what Mr. Abraham Clark said to me on the subject of the Federal Constitution, when serving in quality of a member of the general assembly for the county of Bergen, in the fall of 1787, at Trenton; and conceiving it to be proper, in order to prevent mistakes, I beg leave to give a fair state of the matter as far as I can recollect. On the evning of the day on which the assembly adjourned [6 November 1787], Mr. Clark came to my lodging and enquired if the assembly was like to break up, and being answered that they had already adjourned, he expressed a regret that he had missed the opportunity of conversing with the members previous to their adjournment-said he thought it necessary that a convention should be appointed to alter the state constitution, as its powers were almost destroyed or swallowed up by the new government; that he thought New-Jersey had been too precipitate in adopting the new plan of government, since he was well informed that New-York would have made large concessions to this state in consideration of their declining that measure; and that they would not only have given up the impost, but would be willing to refund the amount of the duties by them collected in a state capacity-that people talked of taring and feathering him, but that if they would provide him with a good coat, which would last five or six years, he would be satisfied; for that within that time, they would build a temple for it. He said farther, that the new government would be very respectable abroad, but oppressive at home, if it was exercised as it then stood—declared himself an enemy to the appellate jurisdiction by the new constitution allowed to congress—that he was opposed to the power of altering the times and places of election therein given—to direct taxation without controul—and that he thought the executive and legislative branches were too much blended, &c. &c.

1. RC, Conarroe Autograph Collection, Signers, Declaration of Independence, Historical Society of Pennsylvania.

2. New Jersey Journal, 4 February 1789.

3. Brunswick Gazette, 10 February 1789.

38. The New Jersey Assembly, Thursday, 28 August 1788

Proceedings, P.M.¹

The Speaker laid before the House a Letter from the Secretary of the late Convention, accompanied with a Copy of the Minutes of the said Convention; which Letter was read, and the said Minutes ordered to be preserved among the Papers of this House.

1. Votes and Proceedings of the Twelfth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey ... (27 August-9 September 1788] (Trenton, 1788).

39. An Act Ceding to Congress a District of Land, 9 September 1788¹

An ACT ceding to Congress a District of Land, not exceeding ten Miles square, and Powers of exercising a Jurisdiction over the same, for the Seat of the Federal Government.

Whereas in and by the Constitution for the United States, lately ratified and confirmed by the People of this State, duly met in Convention for that Purpose, among other Things it is provided, that the Congress of the United States therein mentioned shall have Power to exercise exclusive Legislation in all Cases whatsoever over such District, not exceeding ten Miles square, as may by Cession of particular States, and the Acceptance of Congress, become the Seat of the Government of the United States: And whereas the Convention aforesaid did recommend as their Opinion, that the State of New-Jersey should offer a Cession to Congress of a District not exceeding ten Miles square, for the Seat of Government of the United States, over which they may exercise an exclusive Legislation: And also whereas from the local Situation of this State, and the many relative Advantages it derives therefrom, it becomes an eligible Situation for the Seat of the Government of the United States; it is therefore the Duty of the People thereof to cede to the Congress of the United States, if they should think proper to accept the same, any such District and Tract of Land within this State as they may hereafter elect and choose for the Seat of Government agreeably to the said Constitution; therefore,

Sect. 1. BE IT ENACTED by the Council and General Assembly of this State, and it is hereby Enacted by the Authority of the same, That this State shall and will and do hereby cede to the Congress of the United States all such District and Tract of Land within this State as shall be elected, chosen and actually appropriated by Mfm:N.J. 40

9 September 1788

the said Congress, not exceeding ten Miles square, as and for and so long as the same shall continue the Seat of Government of the said United States, so far as relates to the Exercise of the Powers, Jurisdiction and Authorities vested in said Congress by the Constitution aforesaid, reserving to all and every Person whomsoever their Estates, Real and Personal within the same, and all other Rights, Franchises and Privileges, not vested in the said Congress by the Constitution aforesaid.

2. And be it further Enacted by the Authority aforesaid, That, after such District and Tract of Land shall be so as aforesaid elected, chosen and appropriated, to and for the Seat of Government of the United States as aforesaid, all Authority, Power and Jurisdiction whatsoever, of this State, in and over the said District and Tract of Land, excepting such Authority, Power and Jurisdiction, as are not vested in the Congress aforesaid by the Constitution aforesaid, during the Time the same shall continue the Seat of Government as aforesaid, shall cease, be discontinued and wholly relinquished, any Law, Usage or Custom, to the contrary notwith-standing.

Passed at Trenton, September 9, 1788.

1. Acts of the Twelfth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey . . . (Trenton, 1788), chapter CCXXX, 462–63.

40. An Act for Defraying Sundry Incidental Charges 9 September 1788 (excerpt)¹

BE IT ENACTED by the Council and General Assembly of this State, and it is hereby Enacted by the Authority of the same, That it shall and may be lawful for the Treasurer of this State, and he is hereby required to pay to the several Persons herein after named the following Sums, to wit,

* * * * * * *

To William Rogers, for his Attendance as Doorkeeper for the Convention, Two Pounds Ten Shillings.

* * * * * * *

To Samuel-W. Stockton, Esquire, Secretary to the late Convention, for Days Wages, Stationary, and Hire of Clerks, for copying the Minutes of Convention, Twenty-one Pounds Eight Shillings.

* * * * * * *

To Francis Witt, for the Use of a Room, Firewood and Candles, for the late Convention, Three Pounds Eleven Shillings.

1. Acts of the Twelfth General Assembly of the State of New-Jersey . . . (Trenton, 1788), chapter CCXXXV, 469–70.

Appendix

Items Printed and Reprinted in New Jersey Contained in Commentaries on the Constitution: Public and Private, 1787–1788

New Jersey Newspapers, 1787-1788

Brunswick Gazette, New Brunswick Federal Post, Trenton New Jersey Journal, Elizabeth Town Trenton Mercury

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:1	Resolution of Congress, 21 February 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 28 February
CC:3-A	The Idea of Separate Confederacies Boston Independent Chronicle, 15 February 1787 New Jersey Journal, 28 February
CC:3-C	Lycurgus New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 2 April 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 23 May
СС:5-В	Extract of a letter from Halifax, via St. Johns, dated 8 February 1787 <i>New York Journal</i> , 15 March 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 21 March
CC:7	Providence United States Chronicle, 29 March 1787 New Jersey Journal, 25 April
CC:11	Virginia Independent Chronicle, 11 April 1787 New Jersey Journal, 25 April
CC:12	Massachusetts Centinel, 11 April 1787 New Jersey Journal, 25 April
CC:13	Newport Herald, 12 April 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 May
CC:16-A	John Adams: A Defence of the Constitutions Preface, Massachusetts Gazette, 20 April 1787 New Jersey Journal, 23 May
CC:16-B	Letter LIII New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 9 May 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 23 May

Appendix

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:16-F	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 12 September 1787 Trenton Mercury, 18 September
CC:18-A	Agrarian Unrest and the Constitution Albany Gazette, 3 May 1787 (not extant) New Jersey Journal, 23 May
CC:18-B	Massachusetts Centinel, 16 May 1787 New Jersey Journal, 30 May
CC:20-A	Worcester Magazine, 17 May 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 23 May
CC:22	Richard Price: On the American Government Philadelphia <i>Independent Gazetteer</i> , 16 May 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 23 May
CC:24	Pennsylvania Herald, 19 May 1787 New Jersey Journal, 30 May
CC:26	Baltimore <i>Maryland Gazette</i> , 22 May 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 6 June (excerpt)
CC:29	Harrington: To the Freemen of the United States Pennsylvania Gazette, 30 May 1787 New Jersey Journal, 6 June (excerpts)
CC:30-B	Reports of Constitutional Convention Proceedings Pennsylvania Herald, 2 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 13 June
СС:30-С	Pennsylvania Herald, 13 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 20 June
CC:30-D	Extract of a Letter from Philadelphia, 15 June 1787 Baltimore <i>Maryland Gazette</i> , 19 June <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 4 July
CC:30-F	Pennsylvania Gazette, 18 July 1787 New Jersey Journal, 25 July
CC:30-J	Pennsylvania Herald, 8 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 15 August
СС:30-К	Pennsylvania Herald, 15 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 22 August
CC:30-L	Pennsylvania Gazette, 5 September 1787 New Jersey Journal, 12 September
CC:31	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 5 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 13 June (paragraph 1)
CC:35-A	Pennsylvania Herald, 9 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 13 June

62	New Jersey Supplement
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:38	Richard Price to William Bingham Philadelphia <i>Independent Gazetteer</i> , 20 June 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 27 June
CC:40-D	Pennsylvania Gazette, 8 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 15 August
CC:42	Civis Pennsylvania Packet, 25 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 22 August (paragraph 2)
CC:43	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 26 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 4 July
CC:44	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 27 June 1787 New Jersey Journal, 4 July
CC:46-D	New York Journal, 12 July 1787 (excerpt) New Jersey Journal, 18 July
CC:47-B	David Daggett: Oration Delivered in New Haven, 4 July 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 16 January 1788 (excerpts) No New Jersey reprints
CC:51-C	Pennsylvania Herald, 18 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 22 August Trenton Mercury, 11 September
CC:53	Charleston <i>Columbian Herald</i> , 26 July 1787 <i>Trenton Mercury</i> , 11 September
CC:54	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 27 July 1787 New Jersey Journal, 8 August
CC:57	Pennsylvania Gazette, 1 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 8 August
CC:59	An American Massachusetts Centinel, 4 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 22 August
CC:63	Pennsylvania Gazette, 15 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 22 August
CC:64	New York Journal, 16 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 22 August
CC:67	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 22 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 29 August (omits last sentence)
CC:68	Pennsylvania Gazette, 22 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 29 August
CC:69	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 29 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 12 September Brunswick Gazette, 18 September
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
----------	---
CC:70	Pennsylvania Gazette, 29 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 5 September
CC:71	Pennsylvania Gazette, 29 August 1787 New Jersey Journal, 5 September
CC:72	Pennsylvania Gazette, 5 September 1787 New Jersey Journal, 12 September Brunswick Gazette, 18 September Trenton Mercury, 25 September (paragraph 1)
CC:73	Pennsylvania Gazette, 12 September 1787 New Jersey Journal, 19 September
CC:74	Pennsylvania Gazette, 12 September 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 18 September New Jersey Journal, 19 September
CC:77-A	 Benjamin Franklin's Speech (Northern Version) Boston Gazette, 3 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 19 December Benjamin Franklin's Speech (Southern Version) Virginia Independent Chronicle, 5 December 1787 Trenton Mercury, 25 December
CC:87	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 21 September 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 2 October
CC:94	Daniel Shays to the Antifederal Junto in Philadelphia Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 25 September 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 2 October Trenton Mercury, 2 October
CC:96-A	Destiny and George Washington Delaware Gazette, 26 September 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 9 October New Jersey Journal, 10 October
CC:96-B	Pennsylvania Gazette, 10 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 23 October Trenton Mercury, 6 November
CC:98	Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 26 September 1787 Trenton Mercury, 30 October
CC:100-A	An American Citizen I: On the Federal Government Philadelphia <i>Independent Gazetteer</i> , 26 September 1787 <i>Trenton Mercury</i> , 9 October
CC:101	Pennsylvania Gazette, 26 September 1787 New Jersey Journal, 3 October (paragraphs 3–8) Trenton Mercury, 9 October (paragraph 3)
CC:108	Maryland Journal, 28 September 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 16 October

64	NEW JERSEY SUPPLEMENT
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:110-A	Massachusetts Centinel, 29 September 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 16 October (paragraph 1 only)
CC:112	An American Citizen III: On the Federal Government Philadelphia <i>Independent Gazetteer</i> , 29 September 1787 <i>Trenton Mercury</i> , 23 October
CC:123	New Hampshire Spy, 2 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 24 October Trenton Mercury, 30 October
CC:124	Foreign Spectator Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 2 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 31 October (excerpt)
CC:128	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 3 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 10 October
CC:130	Social Compact New Haven Gazette, 4 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 31 October (excerpt)
СС:131-Е	The Press and the Constitution A Citizen Massachusetts Gazette, 16 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 6 November
CC:131-G	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 24 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 6 November
СС:131-К	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 31 October 1787 Trenton Mercury, 13 November
CC:134	James Wilson: Speech at a Public Meeting in Philadelphia Pennsylvania Herald, 9 October 1787 Trenton Mercury, 23 October
CC:135	The Grand Constitution Massachusetts Centinel, 6 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 11 December
CC:149	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 10 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 16 October
CC:150	Foederal Constitution Pennsylvania Gazette, 10 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 16 October
CC:151-B	Pennsylvania Gazette, 31 October 1787 Trenton Mercury, 20 November
CC:156-A	Meeting of Philadelphia Association of Baptist Churches New York Packet, 12 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 7 November Trenton Mercury, 13 November

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:161	Boston Gazette, 15 October 1787 Trenton Mercury, 30 October (paragraph 2) New Jersey Journal, 31 October
CC:162	Marcus New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 15 October 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 14 November <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 20 November <i>Trenton Mercury</i> , 20 November
CC:168	One of the People Massachusetts Centinel, 17 October 1787 Trenton Mercury, 13 November (excerpt)
CC:171-A	Pennsylvania Journal, 17 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 24 October
CC:177	Governor John Hancock: Speech to the Massachusetts General Court Massachusetts Gazette, 19 October 1787 Trenton Mercury, 20 November
CC:183-A	An American Citizen IV: On the Federal Government Broadside, Philadelphia, 21 October 1787 <i>Trenton Mercury</i> , 30 October <i>Massachusetts Centinel</i> , 7 November 1787 (paragraph 15 of broadside) <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 11 December
CC:192	The Report of Connecticut's Delegates to the Constitutional Convention New Haven Gazette, 25 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 28 November
CC:198	Newport Herald, 25 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 20 November (paragraph 1 only)
CC:203	M.C. Pennsylvania Herald, 27 October 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 6 November
CC:225	Foreigner I Philadelphia <i>Independent Gazetteer</i> , 2 November 1787 <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 1 January 1788
CC:227-A	Elbridge Gerry to the Massachusetts General Court Massachusetts Centinel, 3 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 28 November
CC:233-B	Anecdote Pennsylvania Herald, 7 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 14 December

CC N	
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:235	Mathew Carey: The Prayer of an American Citizen Philadelphia American Museum, 7 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 January 1788
CC:Volume 1 Appendix I	New York Journal, 27 September 1787 Trenton Mercury, 6 November
CC:Volume 1 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 10 October 1787 New Jersey Journal, 17 October (paragraphs 3, 5–6) Brunswick Gazette, 23 October (paragraphs 2, 6)
CC:Volume 1 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Herald, 3 November 1787 Trenton Mercury, 20 November
CC:Volume 1 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 3 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 14 November Brunswick Gazette, 27 November
CC:Volume 1 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 7 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 21 November
CC:Volume 1 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 7 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 14 November
CC:251	Massachusetts Centinel, 10 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 28 November Trenton Mercury, 4 December (excerpt from paragraph 2 only)
CC:253	Boston Gazette, 12 November 1787 Trenton Mercury, 4 December (paragraphs 1–2)
CC:268	An American: The Crisis Massachusetts Centinel, 17 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 16 January 1788
CC:276-A	George Mason: Objections to the Constitution Massachusetts Centinel, 21 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 12 December
CC:280	Pennsylvania Gazette, 21 November 1787 Trenton Mercury, 4 December
CC:284	A Countryman II New Haven Gazette, 22 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 5 December
CC:289	James Wilson's Speech of 24 November 1787 in the Pennsylvania Convention Summary, <i>Pennsylvania Packet</i> , 27 November 1787 <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 4 December <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 5 December Summary, <i>Pennsylvania Herald</i> , 28 November 1787 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 12 December

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:329	Massachusetts Gazette, 7 December 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 1 January 1788
CC:339-A	President John Sullivan on the Constitution Salem Mercury, 18 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 January 1788
CC:Volume 2 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 21 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 28 November (paragraph 2)
CC:Volume 2 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Herald, 21 November 1787 New Jersey Journal, 28 November
CC:Volume 2 Appendix I	New Jersey Journal, 5 December 1787 Trenton Mercury, 18 December
CC:Volume 2 Appendix I	Connecticut Courant, 10 December 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 1 January 1788
CC:362	New York Journal, 20 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 26 December Brunswick Gazette, 1 January 1788
CC:377	One of the People: Antifederal Arguments Maryland Journal, 25 December 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 8 January 1788
CC:386-A	Maryland Journal, 1 January 1788 Trenton Mercury, 22 January New Jersey Journal, 23 January Brunswick Gazette, 12 February
CC:388	Samuel Adams and the Constitution Massachusetts Gazette, 28 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 9 January 1788
CC:395	The New Roof Pennsylvania Packet, 29 December 1787 Trenton Mercury, 22 January 1788
CC:402	New Hampshire Spy, 1 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 30 April Brunswick Gazette, 6 May
CC:407	An Old Man Carlisle Gazette, 2 January 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 15 January New Jersey Journal, 16 January
CC:413	Oliver Ellsworth and William Samuel Johnson: Speeches in the Connecticut Convention, 4 January 1788 Connecticut Courant, 7 January 1788 (Ellsworth) Brunswick Gazette, 29 January

68	New Jersey Supplement
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:424-D	Massachusetts Centinel, 9 January 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 5 February
CC:448	Pennsylvania Packet, 14 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 23 January
CC:481	State Gazette of South Carolina, 28 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 18 March
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 19 December 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 25 December
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 19 December 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 1 January 1788
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Newspaper Reports of the Calling of State Conventions Pennsylvania Packet, 20 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 January 1788 Massachusetts Centinel, 22 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 January 1788
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 21 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 January 1788
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 25 December 1787 New Jersey Journal, 2 January 1788
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	<i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 26 December 1787 No New Jersey reprints
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Herald, 29 December 1787 Brunswick Gazette, 15 January 1788
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Political Society of Richmond, Virginia Pennsylvania Gazette, 2 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 19 March
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pillars of the American Republic Massachusetts Centinel, 9 January 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 5 February Massachusetts Gazette, 15 January 1788 (paragraph 2) Brunswick Gazette, 29 January (incomplete) New Jersey Journal, 6 February
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 19 January 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 19 February (paragraph 1 only)
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 19 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 30 January
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	The Minority of the Connecticut Convention New Haven Gazette, 24 January 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 26 February

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 30 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 6 February
CC:Volume 3 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 30 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 6 February (paragraph 2) Brunswick Gazette, 12 February (paragraph 2)
CC:508	Massachusetts Convention: Amendments to the Constitution Hancock's Original Proposal Massachusetts Centinel, 2 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 20 February
CC:523	Charleston <i>City Gazette</i> , 11 February 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 2 April
CC:529-A	New Haven Gazette, 14 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 4 March New Jersey Journal, 5 March
CC:552	A Yankee Pennsylvania Mercury, 21 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 5 March (verse only)
CC:554-B	Massachusetts Centinel, 27 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 12 March
CC:557	John Adams on the Constitution New York Journal, 23 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 2 April
CC:559	John Williams on the Constitution Albany Federal Herald, 25 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 11 March
CC:594	Pennsylvania Gazette, 5 March 1788 New Jersey Journal, 12 March
CC:602	Arthur Lee's Report on Virginia Antifederalism Philadelphia Independent Gazetteer, 7 March 1788 New Jersey Journal, 12 March
CC:608-A	The Fabrick of Freedom Philadelphia <i>Federal Gazette</i> , 8 March 1788 <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 21 October
CC:622	A Landholder XII Connecticut Courant, 17 March 1788 New Jersey Journal, 9 April (excerpt)
CC:627	Massachusetts Centinel, 19 March 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 8 April New Jersey Journal, 9 April

70	New Jersey Supplement
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:629	Virginia Independent Chronicle, 19 March 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 8 April
CC:638-A	George Washington to Caleb Gibbs Massachusetts Centinel, 22 March 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 8 April New Jersey Journal, 9 April
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	New York Packet, 1 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 5 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 2 February 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 6 February <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 12 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	False Reports on North Carolina Ratification Massachusetts Gazette, 5 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 20 February New York Journal, 14 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 4 March Pennsylvania Gazette, 5 March 1788 New Jersey Journal, 12 March
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 5 February 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 13 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	A Correspondent Observes Newport Herald, 7 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 25 March (excerpt)
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Last Intelligence from Boston New York Journal, 7 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 19 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 8 February 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 13 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 13 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 20 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Newport Herald, 14 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 5 March
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Accounts from England Pennsylvania Packet, 18 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 27 February
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Massachusetts Gazette, 19 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 5 March Brunswick Gazette, 11 March
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 20 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 5 March (paragraphs 1, 3 only) Brunswick Gazette, 11 March (paragraphs 1, 3 only)

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 20 February 1788 New Jersey Journal, 27 February (paragraphs 2–6) Brunswick Gazette, 4 March (paragraph 2 only)
CC:Volume 4	Pennsylvania Mercury, 21 February 1788
Appendix I	New Jersey Journal, 27 February
CC:Volume 4	New York Packet, 29 February 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 11 March
CC:Volume 4	Providence Gazette, 1 March 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 18 March
CC:Volume 4	New York Morning Post, 3 March 1788
Appendix I	New Jersey Journal, 5 March (both extracts)
CC:Volume 4 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 8 March 1788 New Jersey Journal, 19 March (paragraph 3 only) Brunswick Gazette, 25 March (paragraphs 1–2 only) New Jersey Journal, 26 March (paragraph 1 only)
CC:Volume 4	Massachusetts Centinel, 15 March 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 1 April
CC:Volume 4	Pennsylvania Gazette, 19 March 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 25 March (paragraphs 1–2)
CC:Volume 4 Appendix II	Thomas Greenleaf New York Journal, 10 January 1788 New Jersey Journal, 16 January
CC:Volume 4 Appendix II	Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 16 January 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 22 January New Jersey Journal, 23 January
CC:Volume 4	Brunswick Gazette, 22 January 1788
Appendix II	No New Jersey reprints
CC:Volume 4	Brunswick Gazette, 29 January 1788
Appendix II	No New Jersey reprints
CC:Volume 4	<i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 30 January 1788
Appendix II	No New Jersey reprints
CC:Volume 4 Appendix II	Massachusetts Centinel, 16 February 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 11 March New Jersey Journal, 12 March
CC:Volume 4	Maryland Journal, 29 February 1788
Appendix II	New Jersey Journal, 12 March (paragraphs 1–2)
CC:Volume 4 Appendix II	Philadelphia Newspaper Printers' Petition, 20–29 March 1788 Pennsylvania Packet, 31 March 1788 Philadelphia Freeman's Journal, 2 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 15 April

NEW JERSEY SUPPLEMENT

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:Volume 4 Appendix II	New Hampshire Spy, 28 March 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 15 April
CC:658	Pennsylvania Gazette, 2 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 15 April
CC:680	Benjamin Rush to David Ramsay Charleston <i>Columbian Herald</i> , 14 April 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 11 June <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 24 June
CC:683	A Citizen of New-York: An Address to the People of the State of New York Pamphlet, New York, 15 April 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 7, 14 May
CC:685	Peter Prejudice: The New Breeches Philadelphia <i>Federal Gazette</i> , 15 April 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 30 April
CC:710	Fabius VII Pennsylvania Mercury, 26 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 6 May
CC:716-A	Amendments Proposed by William Paca in the Maryland Convention Maryland Journal, 29 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 13 May New Jersey Journal, 14 May
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Annapolis <i>Maryland Gazette</i> , 10 April 1788 <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 29 April
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Philadelphia Federal Gazette, 12 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 29 April
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	The Federal Hat New Hampshire Spy, 15 April 1788 New Jersey Journal, 11 June
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Salem Mercury, 15 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 6 May New Jersey Journal, 7 May
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 30 April 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 6 May (paragraphs 1–2)
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Mercury, 1 May 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 6 May
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 2 May 1788 New Jersey Journal, 7 May
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 7 May 1788 New Jersey Journal, 14 May (paragraph 1)

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:Volume 5 Appendix I	Maryland Journal, 9 May 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 27 May
CC:747	Maryland Journal, 16 May 1788 New Jersey Journal, 4 June
CC:753	South Carolina Convention Amendments, 23 May 1788 Charleston <i>Columbian Herald</i> , 26 May As Part of the Form of Ratification Read in Congress on 6 June <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 10 June
CC:784	New Jersey Journal, 18 June 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 24 June
CC:785	New Hampshire Convention Amendments, 21 June 1788 <i>New Hampshire Spy</i> , 24 June <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 16 July
CC:790	Virginia Convention Amendments, 27 June 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 22 July New Jersey Journal, 23 July
CC:793	Pennsylvania Mercury, 28 June 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 22 July Federal Post, 5 August
СС:799-Е	James Wilson Oration, Philadelphia, 4 July 1788 Pennsylvania Gazette, 9 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 23 July
CC:799-F	Francis Hopkinson: An Ode Broadside, Philadelphia, 4 July 1788 <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 22 July
CC:815	Massachusetts Spy, 24 July 1788 Trenton Federal Post, 12 August (partial)
CC:816	William Pitt Smith: Ode on the Adoption of the Constitution New York Journal, 24 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 30 July Brunswick Gazette, 5 August
CC:818-A	New York Declaration of Rights and Form of Ratification Poughkeepsie, N.Y., <i>Country Journal</i> , 29 July 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 6 August
CC:818-B	Recommendatory Amendments Poughkeepsie, N.Y., <i>Country Journal</i> , 12 August 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 6 August
CC:818-C	New York Convention Circular Letter, 26 July 1788 Poughkeepsie, N.Y., <i>Country Journal</i> , 5 August <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 13 August <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 26 August

74	NEW JERSEY SUPPLEMENT
CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:845	Resolution of Congress Calling the First Federal Elections Broadside, New York, 13 September 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 18 September <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 23 September
CC:Volume 6	New Hampshire Spy, 13 May 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 3 June
CC:Volume 6	Massachusetts Gazette, 13 May 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 3 June
CC:Volume 6	New Jersey Journal, 14 May 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 20 May
CC:Volume 6	Pennsylvania Gazette, 14 May 1788
Appendix I	New Jersey Journal, 21 May (paragraph 2)
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 26 May 1788 <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 3 June <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 4 June
CC:Volume 6	New York Journal, 29 May 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 10 June (both paragraphs)
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Providence United States Chronicle, 5 June 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 24 June New Jersey Journal, 25 June
CC:Volume 6	New York <i>Daily Advertiser</i> , 7 June 1788
Appendix I	<i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 11 June
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 11 June 1788 First paragraph (Extract of a letter from Virginia, 4 June) New Jersey Journal, 18 June
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 14 June 1788 New Jersey Journal, 25 June Brunswick Gazette, 1 July
CC:Volume 6	Pennsylvania Packet, 16 June 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 24 June
CC:Volume 6	Massachusetts Centinel, 18 June 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 1 July
CC:Volume 6	<i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 25 June 1788
Appendix I	No New Jersey reprints
CC:Volume 6	Pennsylvania Gazette, 25 June 1788
Appendix I	Brunswick Gazette, 8 July
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Ship News—Extra Massachusetts Centinel, 2 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 16 July Brunswick Gazette, 22 July

CC:No.	Item/New Jersey Reprints
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	The American Convention Massachusetts Centinel, 2 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 30 July
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 16 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 30 July Brunswick Gazette, 5 August
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 23 July 1788 Brunswick Gazette, 5 August (paragraph 1) New Jersey Journal, 6 August (paragraph 1)
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 23 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 30 July
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Mercury, 29 July 1788 New Jersey Journal, 6 August
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	The Alterations Pennsylvania Gazette, 6 August 1788 New Jersey Journal, 13 August
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Virginia Gives a President Pennsylvania Gazette, 6 August 1788 New Jersey Journal, 13 August
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Gazette, 13 August 1788 New Jersey Journal, 20 August (paragraph 2)
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Massachusetts Centinel, 20 August 1788 Federal Post, 9 September (all 3 paragraphs)
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Lansingburgh, N.Y., <i>Federal Herald</i> , 25 August 1788 <i>New Jersey Journal</i> , 10 September <i>Brunswick Gazette</i> , 16 September
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Newport Herald, 28 August 1788 New Jersey Journal, 24 September
CC:Volume 6 Appendix I	Pennsylvania Packet, 3 September 1788 New Jersey Journal, 10 September

Index

ADAMS, JOHN (Braintree, Mass.): Defence of the Constitutions, 39

AGRICULTURE: toasted, 47

AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLES OF CONFEDER-ATION: failure to adopt, 9, 25; recommended as remedy for N.J. grievances, 13. *See also* Articles of Confederation

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION: Constitution should not be delayed for, 25–26, 39; needed after adoption of Constitution, 53–54, 56. *See also* Constitution, U.S.

AMERICAN REVOLUTION: toast to fallen soldiers of, 47

ANDERSON, GEORGE (Burlington Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 41, 42; in Convention, 43

ANDERSON, THOMAS (Sussex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43

ANNAPOLIS CONVENTION: appointment of commissioners to, 20–21

ANTIFEDERALISTS: discerning viewers of Constitution labelled as, 55–56; N.J. early ratification of Constitution criticized by, 51, 52

 described as: foxes, 32; pigmy frigid reptiles, 51

ARISTOCRACY: democracy leads to, 53; doubtful under Constitution, 16. *See also* Government, debate over nature of; Monarchy

Armstrong, James Francis (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): in Convention, 44, 46

ARMY: debt owed to soldiers, 14; toast to fallen soldiers of Revolution, 47. See also Military

ARTICLES OF CONFEDERATION: commerce suffering greatly under, 17; is defective, 25; inequality of representation under, 15; necessary amendments have not been added to, 9, 13, 25; small states benefit under, 16. *See also* Amendments to Articles of Confederation; Confederation Congress BAKER, JOHN (Cape May Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BARBARY STATES: U.S. debt increase for protection against, 14

BEARDSLEE, CHARLES (Sussex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BEATTY, JOHN (Middlesex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43, 45

BIDDLE, JOSEPH (Burlington Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BLAIRE, ROBERT (Somerset Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BLAUVELT, ABRAHAM (Bergen Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BLOOMFIELD, JOSEPH (Burlington Co., N.J.)

-letter from, 28

BONNEY, JAMES (Middlesex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BOUDINOT, ELIAS (Essex Co., N.J.): recommended for Council, 31

Bowen, JONATHAN (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10; in Convention, 43

Boyd, Adam (Bergen Co., N.J.): deposition of, 57–58

BREARLEY, DAVID (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43, 45 —letter to, 21–22

BREESE, SAMUEL (Monmouth Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43

BROADSIDES, PAMPHLETS, AND BOOKS: John Adams, Defence of the Constitutions, 39; Jean-Louis DeLolme, Constitution of England, 39; "A Farmer, of New Jersey" (John Stevens, Jr.), Observations of Government, 39–40. See also Newspapers

BUNN, EDWARD (Somerset Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BURGIN, JOHN (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

BURLINGTON COUNTY, N.J.: petitions N.J. legislature to call state convention, 31

"A BABBLER": text of, 52

INDEX

- CADWALADER, LAMBERT (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): as delegate to Congress, 10 —letter from, 29
- CAPITAL, U.S.: N.J. cedes land to Congress for, 46, 48, 58–59
- Celebrations: Trenton, 46; toasts, 47, 48
- CHETWOOD, JOHN (Essex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- CLARK, ABRAHAM (Essex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 9, 10, 18, 19, 21; resigns, 22; recommended for Convention, 31; criticizes Constitution, 29, 53–58
- —letter from, 53–54
- --- speeches of, 9-10, 10-11
- Clark, Thomas (Gloucester Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10, 19
- Сомвя, John (Middlesex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- Commerce: domination of N.J. by N.Y. and Pa., 9, 24; federal government needed to regulate, 17, 24–25; increase in sheep needed, 26; increase of domestic manufactures needed, 26–27; protection of from Barbary pirates, 14; toasted, 47. *See also* Economic conditions under the Confederation; Impost
- Common Defense: requisitions needed for, 14, 17
- CONFEDERATION CONGRESS: inability to collect requisitions by, 12–18; N.J. Convention delivers ratification of Constitution to, 46; N.J. refuses compliance of requisition by, 9–10; N.J. rescinds noncompliance of requisition by, 19; toasted, 47. *See also* Articles of Confederation
- **CONNECTICUT:** ratifies Constitution, 52
- CONSTITUTION, U.S.: final edit of, 25, 25n; N.J. ratification of sent to Congress, 46; N.J. ratification of read to the people, 46; toast to, 47
- —described as metaphor: almost perfect plan, 52; federal compact, 15; noblest gift of Heaven, 53; one whole, 53
- See also Amendments to Constitution; Ratification, prospects for
- CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION: difficult task of, 53; members of toasted, 47
- CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION, SECOND: would endanger Union, 56
- Cook, Ellis (Morris Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

- COOPER, JOSEPH (Gloucester Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- CORRUPTION: advances in step with civilization, 53; Articles of Confederation lacks defense against, 28; leads to anarchy, 16–17; U.S. Constitution will lack monarchical, 16
- Corshon, Joshua (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- Cox, John (Sussex Co., N.J.), 39
- COXE, TENCH (Philadelphia)
- -letters to, 49; cited, 50n
- CRANE, DAVID (Essex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- CRAWFORD, WILLIAM (Monmouth Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- CRIPPS, WHITTEN (Salem Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43
- Cruikshanks, William (Philadelphia), 39
- DANE, NATHAN (Beverly, Mass.)
- —letter to, 29
- DAVIS, WILLIAM (Monmouth Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- DAYTON, ELIAS (ESSEX CO., N.J.)
- -letter to quoted, 25n
- DAYTON, JONATHAN (Essex Co., N.J.): recommended for Convention, 31
- —letter from, 21–22; quoted, 25n
- DEBT, U.S.: foreign creditors may use force to recover, 48; owed to Eastern States, 13–14; owed to soldiers, 14; N.J.'s share of, 9, 11; requisitions needed to pay, 12–18; sale of western lands to pay, 14. *See also* Requisitions
- DEBTS, STATE: paper money for, 54. See also Requisitions
- DELAWARE: ratifies Constitution, 48; toasted, 47
- DEMOCRACY: danger of foreign invasion under, 17; danger of, 16; is historically followed by aristocracy, 53. *See also* Government, debate over nature of
- DESPOTISM: anarchy leads to, 16-17
- DICK, SAMUEL (Salem Co., N.J.): listed as a Convention delegate, 43; illness prevents attendance in Convention, 47
- DONGAN, JOHN C. (Richmond Co., N.Y.): criticizes N.J. Federalists for ratification of Constitution, 51, 52

- Drake, Mr. (Trenton, N.J.): in Assembly, 21
- ECONOMIC CONDITIONS UNDER THE CON-FEDERATION: crippling public debt, 12– 18. *See also* Commerce; Debt, U.S.; Debts, state; Manufactures
- EDGAR, WILLIAM (Union Co., N.J.)
- -letters to, 29, 49
- Education: toasted, 47
- ELDREDGE [ELDRIDGE], JEREMIAH (Cape May Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43
- ELECTION LAW, N.J.: N.J. Assembly passes act regarding, 1–8
- "An Elector": text of, 31-32
- Elmer, Eli (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in Convention, 44
- Elmer, Jonathan (Cumberland Co., N.J.): as chair of county meeting, 30
- ESSEX COUNTY, N.J.: recommendations to electors of for Assembly election, 31–32
- EUROPE: threat of subversion by without Union, 17; possibility of war with, 48. *See also* France; Governments, ancient and modern; Great Britain
- FAESCH, JOHN JACOB (Morris Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- "A FARMER, OF NEW JERSEY" (John Stevens, Jr.): text of, 31, 39
- FEDERALISM: poem praising, 36-38
- Fell, John (Bergen Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 43; in Convention, 43
- FRANCE: toasted, 47. See also Europe; Governments, ancient and modern
- FRELINGHUYSEN, FREDERICK (Somerset Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- "Friend to New-Jersey": text of, 23-25
- FURMAN, MOORE (Hunterdon Co., N.J.)
- -letters from, 29, 49; cited, 49, 50n
- GARRITSE, HENRY (Morris Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- GLOUCESTER COUNTY, N.J.: petitions legislature to call state Convention, 31
- GORHAM, NATHANIEL (Charlestown, Mass.): in Assembly, 12, 18
- -speech cited, 18
- GOVERNMENT, DEBATE OVER NATURE OF: anarchy leads to, 16–17; aristocracy will not be created under Constitution, 16;

danger of pure democracy, 16–17; republics must be attempted, 53; all governments end in tyranny, 53; democracy can lead to monarchy, 53. *See also* Aristocracy; Democracy; Monarchy; Republican form of government; Tyranny

- GOVERNMENTS, ANCIENT AND MODERN: all Greek confederacies were subverted by foreign powers, 17
- -The Netherlands: toast to, 47; U.S. debt owed to bankers of, 48

See also Europe; France; Governments, ancient and modern; Great Britain

- GRAYSON, WILLIAM (Prince William Co., Va.): in Assembly, 12, 18
- -letter from, 29
- -speech citied, 18
- GREAT BRITAIN: could assist The Netherlands in recovering U.S. war debt, 49; retains possession of western posts, 17. *See also* Europe; Governments, ancient and modern
- HAND, JESSE (Cape May Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43
- HANKINSON, AARON (Sussex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- HANLON, CAPT. (Hunterdon Co., N.J.), 46
- HAPPINESS: only a federal government will bring, 17; opulence is the only source of national, 25–26
- HARDENBERGH, JACOB R. (Somerset Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- HARING, PETER (Bergen Co., N.J.): in Council, 35
- HAY, SAMUEL (Essex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- HENNION, CORNELIUS (Bergen Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 43; in Convention, 43
- HENRY, PATRICK (Prince Edward Co., Va.) —letter from cited, 20
- HOOPS, ROBERT (Sussex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- HORNBLOWER, JOSIAH (Essex Co., N.J.): as delegate to Congress, 10; recommended for Convention, 31
- HOUGHTON, JOAB (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- HOUSTON, WILLIAM C. (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 21; resigned, 22

- HOWELL, RICHARD (Gloucester Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43
- HUMAN NATURE: man is driven mostly by passions and appetites, 32
- HUNTER, ANDREW (Gloucester Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43, 45
- HUNTINGTON, SAMUEL (Norwich, Conn.)
- -letter from, 52
- -letters to cited, 52
- IMPOST: of N.Y. and Pa. dominate N.J. commerce, 9, 24. *See also* Commerce; Taxation
- IMPOST OF 1783: read before N.J. Assembly, 12; N.J. rejects requisition due to lack of compliance with, 9–11; N.Y. rejects, 14–15. *See also* Commerce; Taxation
- INDIANS: federal government needed to combat, 17; U.S. debt increases from war with, 14
- IRVINE, WILLIAM (Carlisle, Pa.): says Convention supports Constitution, 30
- JUDICIARY, U.S.: is weak under Articles of Confederation, 28; will have too much power under Constitution, 53–54
- KELLEY, DAVID (Somerset Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- KNOX, HENRY (Boston/New York City)
- -letters from, 28, 29
- Kollock, Shepard (Essex Co., N.J.) —letter to 32–33
- LAMBERT, JOHN (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- LARGE VS. SMALL STATES: small states benefit under Articles of Confederation, 16
- LAWRENCE, ELISHA (Monmouth Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43

"L.E.": text of, 32-33

- LIBERTY: surrender of submits one's soul to a shackle, 53. *See also* The People; Sovereignty
- LIVINGSTON, WILLIAM (Essex Co., N.J.): appointed governor, 41; in Convention, 46; toasted, 47
- -letters from cited, 38, 51, 52
- -letters to, 51, 52
- LLOYD, EDWARD (Talbot Co., Md.)
- -letter to, 29

- Longstreet, Christopher (Sussex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10 Lott, Abraham (New York City) —letter from, 50
- M'CALLA, THOMAS H. (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in county meeting, 30
- MADISON, JAMES (Orange Co., Va.)
- -letters from, 28, 29, 30
- MADISON, JAMES, SR. (Orange Co., Va.)
- —letter to, 28 Magazines
- —American Museum (Philadelphia) (Mathew Carey): reports N.J. ratification of Constitution, 50
- See also Broadsides, pamphlets, and books; Newspapers
- MANNING, BENJAMIN (Middlesex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43

MANUFACTURES: employing the poor with domestic, 26–27; toasted, 47. *See also* Commerce

- "MARGERY": fictitious letters of, 51, 52
- MARSH, DANIEL (Essex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 20
- MASKELL, DANIEL (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in county meeting, 30
- MIDDLESEX COUNTY, N.J.: petitions legislature to call state Convention, 31
- MILITARY: U.S. war debt and, 14. See also Army
- MONARCHY: democracy can lead to, 53; Constitution will lack corruption of, 16. *See also* Aristocracy; Government, debate over nature of; Great Britain
- MORRIS, GOUVERNEUR (Philadelphia)
- —letter from, 29
- MORRIS, ROBERT (Middlesex Co., N.J.)
- —letter from, 27–28
- NEILSON, JOHN (Middlesex Co., N.J.): elected to N.J. Convention, 42; in Convention, 43, 45 —letter to, 50
- New JERSEY: burdened by imposts of N.Y. and Pa., 9; gains honor by unanimous ratification of Constitution, 50; large creditor to U.S., 13–14; ratifies Constitution, 45–50, 51, 52; will benefit from federal regulation of commerce, 17, 24–25
- New JERSEY ASSEMBLY: act on payment of officers, 34–35; appoints commissioners

to Annapolis Convention, 20–21; cedes land to Congress for federal capital, 58– 59; counties petition for Convention, 31, 33; Charles Pinckney's speech to regarding unpaid requisitions, 12–18; election law, 1–8; pays incidental charges for Convention, 59; proceedings of, 8–19, 20, 21, 34–35, 58

- New Jersey Constitution (1776): document of, 1
- New JERSEY CONVENTION: election of delegates to, 41–43; proceedings of, 43– 44, 45–48; ratification celebration at Mr. Vandergrist's tavern, 47, 48; ratification procession by, 46; ratifies Constitution, 45; recommends cession of land for federal capital, 46, 48
- New Jersey Governor: toasted, 47
- New Jersey Legislative Council: proceedings of, 20–21, 34–35
- New YORK: commercially dominates N.J., 9, 24; rejection of Impost of 1783 by, 14–15; will ratify Constitution, 54. *See also* Antifederalists
- NEWSPAPERS: N.J. Convention proceedings in, 43–44, 45–48; reports on calling of N.J. Convention, 40–41; reports on election of delegates to N.J. Convention, 41– 43; reports of N.J. ratification, 49–50

CONNECTICUT NEWSPAPERS — Middlesex Gazette: printed, 135–36 — New Haven Gazette: printed, 168

DELAWARE NEWSPAPERS —Delaware Gazette, 175, 175n

MASSACHUSETTS AND MAINE NEWSPAPERS — Salem Gazette/Mercury: printed, 41

NEW JERSEY NEWSPAPERS

- -Brunswick Gazette: printed, 41, 42, 45, 50n
- -New Jersey Journal: printed, 21, 23, 25-
- 26, 31-32, 36-38, 48, 51, 53, 55-58
- Trenton Mercury: printed, 41, 42, 43, 45-48

New York Newspapers —Daily Advertiser: printed, 39, 42, 49 —Independent Journal: printed, 49

-New York Journal: printed, 30, 49

PENNSYLVANIA NEWSPAPERS — Independent Gazetteer: printed, 33, 49

- -Pennsylvania Herald: printed, 30-31
- -Pennsylvania Journal: printed, 40-41, 49
- -Pennsylvania Mercury: printed, 49-50, 50n

See also Broadsides, pamphlets, and books; Magazines

NICOLL, ISAAC (Bergen Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 9, 10

- OATHS: for N.J. delegates, 8; for N.J. election officials, 2; for N.J. electors, 3; for members of N.J. legislature, 5, 6–7
- Ogden, Robert (Sussex Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- OTTO, LOUIS-GUILLAUME (France): says European war unlikely, 48
- PAPER MONEY: could cease to be legal tender under Constitution, 54; depreciation of N.J., 24, 28, 48. *See also* Economic conditions under the Confederation
- PENNSYLVANIA: commercially dominates N.J., 9, 24; ratifies Constitution, 48; toasted, 47
- THE PEOPLE: civilizations advance in concurrence with vices of, 53; N.J. Convention procession reads ratification of Constitution to, 46. *See also* Sovereignty
- PETITIONS: to the legislature calling for Convention, 31, 33
- PINCKNEY, CHARLES (Christ Church Parish, S.C.): in Assembly, 12, 18 —speech of, 12–18
- POETRY: The Final Decision, 36–38
- POLITICAL CONDITIONS UNDER THE ARTI-CLES OF CONFEDERATION: anarchy leads to despotism, 16–17
- POTTER, DAVID (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in county meeting, 30; in Convention, 43
- POVERTY: domestic manufacturing will alleviate, 26–27

PRICE, RICHARD (England)

-letter to, 53

- PROPERTY, PRIVATE: valuation of inadequately reported by Confederation states, 18
- PSEUDONYMS: A Babbler, 52; An Elector, 31–32; A Farmer, of New Jersey (Stevens), 31; A Friend to New-Jersey, 23– 25; "L.E.," 32–33; Margery, 51, 52; A Zealous Columbian, 25–27
- RANDOLPH, EDMUND (Henrico Co., Va.)
- -letter from cited, 20
- -letters to, 29

REED, Bowes (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 20

RELIGION: civil and religious tyranny are twin monsters, 53; toasted, 47

REPRESENTATION: disproportionate under Articles of Confederation, 15. Republican form of government

REPUBLICAN FORM OF GOVERNMENT: is a gift that must be attempted regardless of historical failures, 53. *See also* Government, debate over nature of

REQUISITIONS: Charles Pinckney's speech to N.J. Assembly on unpaid, 12–18; Confederation states' obligations regarding, 12–13, 18; N.J. rescinds noncompliance with, 19; N.J.'s non-compliance with, 9–11. *See also* Debt, U.S.; Taxation

REYNOLDS, THOMAS (Burlington Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 41– 42; in Convention, 43

Rhea, John [Jonathan] (Sullivan Co., N.C.)

-letter to, 28

RIGGS, JOSEPH (Essex Co., N.J.): deposition of, 55

- ROGERS, WILLIAM (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): pay for, 59
- Ross, WILLIAM (New York City): ad in newspaper as book seller, 39 —letter from, 39–40
- RUSH, BENJAMIN (Philadelphia): possible author of fictitious letter, 51n
- RUTHERFORD, WALTER (New York City/ Hunterdon Co., N.J.): delivers letter, 40 —letter from, 48
- SALEM COUNTY, N.J.: partial attendance at Convention, 47; petitions N.J. legislature to call Convention, 31
- SCHENCK, PETER (Monmouth Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10, 18
- SCHUREMAN, JAMES (Middlesex Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10, 42
- SHAYS, DANIEL (Pelham, Mass.), 22; in poem, 38
- SHEEP: increasing numbers of recommended, 26
- SHEPPARD, JOHN (Cumberland Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

SHORT, WILLIAM (Surry Co., Va./France) letter to, 29 SINNICKSON, THOMAS (Salem Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10, 20 —letter to, 181–84 SMALLWOOD, WILLIAM (Charles Co., Md.) -letter from, 51 -letter to cited, 51 SMITH, JONATHAN BAYARD (Philadelphia): in satirical letter, 51 SMITH, JOSEPH (Burlington Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10 SMITH, RICHARD S. (Burlington Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10, 11, 19, 20 —speech cited, 12 SOVEREIGNTY: of states as obstacle to Constitution, 53. See also The People Spain: toasted, 47 STARKE, JOHN (Morris, N.J.): in Assembly, 10STATES UNDER THE ARTICLES OF CONFED-ERATION: fail to pay federal requisitions, 12–18; Constitution was challenged by sovereignty and local interests of, 53 STEVENS, JOHN, JR. (Bergen Co., N.J.) -letters from, 29, 39, 40, 40, 53 -letters to, 39-40, 48 STEVENS, JOHN, SR. (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; elected president of Convention, 43, 44; in Convention, 46-47; toasted, 47 -letters to, 29, 39, 40 STILLWELL, JOSEPH (Monmouth Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10 STOCKTON, SAMUEL WITHAM (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): to share a letter, 40; elected secretary of Convention, 43, 44; in Assembly, 45-46; pay for, 59 letters from cited, 58 SWAIN, NEZER (Cape May Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10 SYMMES, JOHN CLEVES (Sussex Co., N.J./ Ohio): as delegate to Congress, 10 TAXATION: Confederation states' obligations regarding, 12-13; N.J. excise tax, 23, 31; N.J. paper money to Continental receiver, 54. See also Impost; Requisitions

Temple, John (England): says European war unlikely, 48

—letter from, 352

TERHUNE, JACOB (Bergen Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10

Toasts, 47

- TYRANNY: all governments end in, 53. See also Monarchy
- UNITED STATES: as asylum of invaded Liberty, 47; federal government will be too expensive, 53; citizens of toasted, 47. *See also* American Revolution
- VAN CLEVE, BENJAMIN (Hunterdon Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 34 —letter to, 40
- VAN DYKE, NICHOLAS, JR. (Princeton, N.J.) —letter from, 52
- VAN DYKE, NICHOLAS, SR. (Princeton, N.J.)
- —letter to, 52
- VIRTUE: declines as nations age, 53
- WALLACE, JOSHUA M. (Burlington Co., N.J.): chairman Burlington Co. election board, 33; elected Convention delegate, 41, 42; in Convention, 43
- WALTON, ELISHA (Monmouth Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10
- WAR: possibility of with Europe, 48. See also American Revolution; Army; Military
- WARD, MATTHIAS (Essex Co., N.J.): as county judge, 55

- WASHINGTON, GEORGE (Fairfax Co., Va.): in poem, 36 —letters to, 28, 29, 30
- WESTERN LANDS: sale of to pay U.S. debt, 14
- WETHERBY, EDMUND (Salem Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43
- WHILLDIN, MATTHEW (Cape May Co., N.J.): in Assembly, 10; in Convention, 43
- WHITALL, BENJAMIN (Gloucester Co., N.J.): in Convention, 43
- WINDES, WILLIAM (Morris Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43
- WITHERSPOON, JOHN (Somerset Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42; in Convention, 43, 45
- WITT, FRANCIS (Trenton, N.J.): pay for, 59
- WOMEN: toasted, 47 WOODHULL, WILLIAM (Morris Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 42, 43; in Convention, 43
- Wynkoop, Major (Sussex Co., N.J.)
- -letter to 27-28
- ZABRISKIE, PETER (Bergen Co., N.J.): elected Convention delegate, 43; in Convention, 43
- "A Zealous Columbian": text of, 25–27

1. Constitution of New-Jersey, 1776.

O F

NEW-JERSEY.

BURLINGTON: Printed and Sold by ISAAC COLLINS, 1776.

紫紫紫紫紫紫紫紫紫紫紫

CONSTITUTION ° ' NEW-JERSEY.

HEREAS all the conftitutional Authority, ever possessed by the Kings of Great-Britain over these Colonies, or their other Dominions, was, by Compact, derived from the People, and held of them for the common Intereft of the whole Society; Allegiance and Protection are, in the Nature of Things, reciprocal Ties, each equally depending upon the other, and liable to be dissolved by the other's being refused or withdrawn. And whereas George the Third, King of Great-Britain, has refufed Protection to the good People of these Colonies; and, by affenting to fundry Acts of the British Parliament, attempted to subject them to the absolute Dominion of that Body; and has also made War upon them in the most cruck and unnatural Manner, for no other Gaufe than afferting their just Rights, all civil Authority under him is necessarily at an End, and a Diffolution of Government in each Colony has confequently taken Place.

AND

AND WHEREAS in the prefent deplorable Situation of thefe Colonies, exposed to the Fury of a cruel and relentles Enemy, some Form of Government is absolutely necessary, not only for the Prefervation of good Order, but also the more effectually to unite the People, and enable them to exert their whole Force in their own necessary Defence; and as the Honourable the Continental Congress, the Supreme Council of the American Colonies, has advised such of the Colonies, as have not yet gone into the Measure, to adopt for themselves respectively such Government, as shall best conduce to their own Happiness and Safety, and the Well-Being of America in general; We, the Representatives of the Colony of New-Jersey, having been elected by all the Counties in the freest Manner, and in Congress assessed have, after mature Deliberation, agreed upon a Set of Charter-Rights, and the Form of a Constitution, in Manner following, Videlicet:

I. THAT the Government of this Province shall be vested in a Governor, Legislative Council, and General Assembly.

II. THAT the faid Legislative Council and Affembly shall be chosen, for the first Time, on the fecond *Tuesday* of *August* next; the Members whereof shall be the fame in Number and Qualifications as is herein after mentioned; and shall be and remain vessed with all the Powers and Authority to be held by any future Legislative Council and Affembly of this Colony, until the fecond *Tuesday* in October, which will be in the Year of our Lord Gae Thousand Seven Hundred and Seventy-feven.

III. THAT

III. THAT on the faid fecond Tuefday in October, yearly and every Year for-ever (with the Privilege of adjourning from Day to Day as Occasion may require) the counties shall feverally choose one Person to be a Member of the Legislative Council of this Colony, who shall be and have been for one whole Year next before the Election, an Inhabitant and Freeholder in the county in which he is chofen, and worth at least One Thousand Pounds, Proclamation Money, of Real and Perfonal Eflate within the fame county: That, at the fame Time, each county shall also choose three Members of Affembly; provided, that no Perfon full be entitled to a Scat in the faid Affembly, unlefs he be and have been for one whole Year next before the Election, an Inhabitant of the county he is to represent, and worth Fine Hundred Pounds, Proclamation Money in Real and Perfonal Effate in the fame county: That, on the fecond Tuefday next after the Day of Election, the Council and Affembly shall separately meet; and that the confent of both Houses shall be neceffary to every Law, provided that feven shall be a Quorum of the Council for doing Business; and that no Law shall pass, unless there be a Majority of all the Reprefentatives of each Body perfonally prefent and agreeing thereto. Provided always, That if a Majority of the Reprefentatives of this Province in Council and General Affembly convened, shall, at any Time or Times hereafter, judge it equitable and proper to add to or diminish the Number or Proportion of the Members of the Affembly for any county or counties in this Colony, then, and in fuch cafe, the fame may, on the Principles of more equal Reprefentation, be lawfully done, any Thing in this Charter to the contrary notwithflanding; fo that the whole Number of Reprefenta-

tives

[6]

tives in Affembiy shall not at any Time be less than thirty-

IV. THAT all Inhabitants of this Colony of full Age, who are worth *Fifty Pounds*, Proclamation Money, clear Eftate in the fame, and have refided within the county in which they claim a Vote for twelve Months immediately preceding the Election, fhall be entitled to vote for Reprefentatives in Council and Affembly; and alfo for all other publick Officers that fhall be elected by the People of the county at Large.

V. THAT the Affembly, when met, fhall have Power to choofe a Speaker, and other their Officers; to be Judges of the Qualifications and Elections of their own Members; fit upon their own Adjournments; prepare Bills to be paffed into Laws, and to empower their Speaker to convene them, whenever any extraordinary Occurrence fhall render it neceffary.

VI. THAT the Council shall also have Power to prepare Bills to pass into Laws, and have other like Powers as the Affembly, and in all Respects be a free and independant Branch of the Legislature of this Colony; fave only that they shall not prepare or alter any Money Bill, which shall be the Privilege of the Assembly; that the Council shall, from Time to Time, be convened by the Governor or Vice-President, but must be convened at all Times when the Assembly sits; for which Purpose the Speaker of the House of Assembly shall always immediately after an Adjournment give Notice to the Governor or Vice-President of the Time and Place to which the House is adjourned. VII. THAT the Council and Affembly jointly at their first Meeting, after each annual Election, shall, by a Majority of Votes, elect some sit Person within the Colony to be a Governor for one Year, who shall be constant President of the Council, and have a cassing Vote in their Proceedings; and that the Council themselves shall choose a Vice-President, who shall act as such in the Absence of the Governor.

VIII. THAT the Governor, or, in his Abfence, the Vice-Prefident of the Council, shall have the Supreme executive Power, be Chancellor of the Colony, and act as Captain-General and Commander in chief of all the Militia, and other military Force in this Colony; and that any three or more of the Council shall, at all Times, be a Privy Council to advife the Governor in all cafes, where he may find it neceffary to confult them; and that the Governor be Ordinary or Surrogate General.

IN. THAT the Governor and Council (feven whereof shall be a Quorum) be the Court of Appeals in the last Refort in all Causes of Law as heretofore; and that they posses the Power of granting Pardons to Criminals after Condemnation in all Cases of Treason, Felony, or other Offences.

X. THAT Captains, and all other inferior Officers of the Militia, fhall be chosen by the companies in the respective counties; but Field and General Officers by the Council and Affembly.

XI. THAT the Council and Affembly shall have Power to make the Great Seal of this Colony, which shall be kept by the the Governor, or, in his Absence, by the Vice-President of the Council, to be used by them as Occasion may require; and it shall be called *The Great Seal of the Colony of* New-Jersey.

XII. THAT the Judges of the Supreme Court thall continue in Office for feven Years, the Judges of the Inferior Court of Common Pleas in the feveral counties, Juffices of the Peace. Clerks of the Supreme Court, Clerks of the Inferior Courts of Common Pleas, and Quatter-Seffions, the Atterney-General and Provincial Secretary, thall continue in Office for five Years, and the Provincial Treafurer thall continue in Office for one Year; and that they thall be feverally appointed by the Council and Affembly in Manner aforefaid, and commiffioned by the Governor, or, in his Abfence, by the Vice-Prefident of the Council. *Provided always*, 'That the faid Officers feverally thall be capable of being re-appointed at the End of the 'Terms feverally before limited; and that any of the faid Officers thall be liable to be difmiffed, when adjudged guilty of Mitbehaviour by the Council on an Impeachment of the Affembly.

XIII. THAT the Inhabitants of each county, qualified to vote as aforefaid, fhall, at the Time and Place of electing their Reprefentatives, annually elect one Sheriff, and one or more Coroners; and that they may re-clect the fame Perfon to fuch Offices, until he fhall have ferved three Years, but no longer; after which three Years fhall elapfe before the fame Perfon is capable of being elected again. When the Election is certified to the Governor or Vice-Prefident, under the Hands of fix Freeholders of the county for which

they

[9]

they were clected, they shall be immediately commissioned to ferve in their respective Offices.

XIV. THAT the Townships, at their annual Town-Meetings for electing other Officers, shall choose Constables for the Districts respectively; and also three or more judicious Freeholders of good Character to hear and sinally determine all Appeals relative to unjust Assessments in Cases of publick Taxation; which Commissioners of Appeal shall, for that Purpose, sit at some suitable Time or Times to be by them appointed, and made known to the People by Advertisements.

XV. THAT the Laws of this Colony thall begin in the following Style, viz. Be it enacted by the Council and General Affembly of this Colony, and it is bereby enacted by the Authority of the fame: That all Commissions, granted by the Governor or Vice-Prefident, thall run thus—The Colony of New-Jerfey to A B &c. Greeting: And that all Writs thall likewife run in the Name of the Colony: And that all Indictments thall conclude in the following Manner, viz. against the Peace of this Colony, the Government, and Dignity of the fame.

XVI. THAT all Criminals shall be admitted to the fame Privileges of Witnesses and Counsel, as their Profecutors are or shall be entitled to.

XVII. THAT the Effates of fuch Perfons as shall destroy their own Lives shall not, for that Offence, be forfeited; but shall descend in the same Manner as they would have done had such Perfons died in a natural Way; nor shall any Article, which may occasion accidentally the Death of any

C

one, be henceforth deemed a Deodand, or in anywife forfeited on Account of fuch Misfortune.

XVIII. THAT no Perfon shall ever within this Colony be deprived of the inestimable Privilege of worthipping Almighty God in a Manner agreeable to the Dictates of his own Conficience; nor under any Pretence whatfoever compelled to attend any Place of Worthip, contrary to his own Faith and Judgment; nor shall any Perfon within this Colony ever be obliged to pay Tithes, Taxes, or any other Rates, for the Purpose of building or repairing any Church or Churches, Place or Places of Worthip, or for the Maintenance of any Minister or Ministry, contrary to what he believes to be Right, or has deliberately or voluntarily engaged himself to perform.

XIX. THAT there shall be no Establishment of any one religious Sect in this Province in Preference to another; and that no Protestant Inhabitant of this Colony shall be denied the Enjoyment of any civil Right merely on Account of his religious Principles; but that all Persons, professing a Belief in the Faith of any Protestant Sect, who shall demean themtelves peaceably under the Government as hereby established, thall be capable of being elected into any Office of Profit or Trust, or being a Member of either Branch of the Legislature, and shall fully and freely enjoy every Privilege and Immunity enjoyed by others their Fellow-Subjects.

XX. THAT the Legislative Department of this Colony may, as much as possible, be preferved from all Suspicion of Corruption, none of the Judges of the Supreme or other Courts,

Courts, Sheriffs, or any other Perfon or Perfons possefield of any Post of Profit under the Government, other than Justices of the Peace, shall be entitled to a Seat in Assembly; but that, on his being elected and taking his Seat, his Office or Post shall be considered as vacant.

XXI. THAT all the Laws of this Province contained in the Edition lately published by Mr. Allinfon, shall be and remain in full Force, until altered by the Legislature of this Colony (fuch only excepted as are incompatible with this Charter) and shall be, according as heretofore, regarded in all Respects by all civil Officers, and others, the good People of this Province.

XXII. THAT the Common Law of England, as well as fo much of the Statute-Law, as have been heretofore practifed in this Colony, thall still remain in Force, until they thall be altered by a future Law of the Legislature; fuch Parts only excepted as are repugnant to the Rights and Privileges contained in this Charter; and that the ineftimable Right of Trial by Jury shall remain confirmed, as a Part of the Law of this Colony without Repeal for-ever.

XXIII. THAT every Perfon, who thall be elected as aforefaid to be a Member of the Legiflative Council or Houfe of Affembly, fhall, previous to his taking his Seat in Council or Affembly, take the following Oath or Affirmation, viz. I,A B do folemnly declare, that, as a Member of the Legiflative Council (or Affembly as the Cafe may be) of the Colony of New-Jerfey, I will not affent to any Law, Vote or Proceeding, which fball appear to me injurious to the publick Welfare of faid Colony,

[12]

Colony, nor that shall annul or repeal that Part of the third Section in the Charter of this Colony, which establishes that the Elections of Members of the Legislative Council and Assembly shall be annual, nor that Part of the twenty-second Section in faid Charter respecting the Trial by Jury, nor that shall annul, repeal or alter any Part or Parts of the eighteenth or nineteenth Sections of the fame. And any Person or Persons, who shall be elected as aforesaid, is hereby empowered to administer to the faid Members the faid Oath or Athermation.

Provided always, and it is the true Intent and Meaning of this Congress, That if a Reconciliation between Great-Britain and these Colonies should take Place, and the latter be again taken under the Protection and Government of the Crown of Great-Britain, this Charter shall be null and void, otherwise to remain firm and inviolable.

In Provincial Congress. New-Jersey, . Burlington, July 2, 1776.

By Order of Congress,

SAMUEL TUCKER, Prefident.

Extract from the Minutes,

WILLIAM PATERSON, Sec.



to the Ronable the genal atember of the Mate The Petition of the inhalitants of the fairle uspectfully sheweth. sen with great Pleasare the propared Constitu hon of the United Males sus they conceive it to he willy calculated to form a perfect Union of the states, as well as to fecure to Themselves The Blipings of Peace Leberly Highly they have takin this Method of & prepary their earnest desues that the said Constitution may he adopted as freedely as for the by the Note of hew ferrey in the manner recommended by the Resolutions of the late Honorable forwarding Deteter 1:1737 .-----In Butham Auchh James Hopkins 0 Charlowest harland Darms

14-A. Gloucester County Petition to the Legislature, 1 October.¹

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library.

2 of 3

ala. wisha Chulle nis present Somas Bashenter in Bene Idun' antes mathemery Valle St. 6 sizes they Fina: fana. 15 Ind Sumito. Manue Lattach Thomas an What Bats and daingly Robert Ofufn. 12 million Giglor Samuel Aller Glich Milles Section. Valling " Juan may sarkan Hackey William Ellis mess H. H. and Tolar Hane mat Anny 64 As draitery Robert Sparks James Hawley

14-B. Burlington County Petition to the Legislature, 3 October.¹

To the Hon "the Segustature of the State of New Jersey. The Petetion of the fustices & Frechelders of the bounty of Bustengton, respectfully shewelk First they have read and considered with Montion the Constitution for the United States of Somewice ? as proposed by the late Federal Convention; that the same aligness to them well calculated tramind the Defuts of the former boner lucion and to promote the casting Hilfare and Happingto of the Union . They these for human come that Some tomorate Beaugen Conformely to the Gunion of the case & meen tion, would recommend to the Replied there take on - mediating to chen Delegates to a State Convention, in Case to take into Conversion the said Side ben litertion and if apparent of to rat for the warne in Schall of the Mate of Very mey. By Cater of the Round Joshur M. Wallace. Chairman Bustinglow 3 cel 178

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library.


14-C. Middlesex County Petition to the Legislature.¹

Je the Homeralis the Legulation Council and General abuntly of the State of her foring The Setucion of the Subenders O Sugoth That your Sectioners have sur with entir saligacia. in from of a forderal Government agree To by the Concention of Lefantes from the second states composing the Uner. tally hel in the Sile of Theladelphia, new munder by the Hover able the Congry. to the sweed states by their unarrienous Cusche basing date the 25 Septemi - 1787 -Cliens Outitions by leave to take they · carlist of portainily to communicate to your Honorable is ay this approbation of the ofrended proceedings and pray init The Amasure for appointing a Some contron for the propose of adopting the said from of Government may wetwent dela William Sheatt Jam Beurshinsh Che aborderord William Tenbrog , Fairid poriels Vans and Whinail S Thrulances Luparia Som Bowen Plentille Tonn fulon + I cha Sonteer Sermich Giviles ich her: dun 34 ouph Ruhard T Jos fels curres

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library.

Saph blogd 93

14-D. Middlesex County Petition to the Legislature.¹

O the Armonable the excelitive invite and general is formbly of the there of them The Sellannes the Valvenber o thewith. Thek your dilationer fine ver Both on the valupation, the form of a forderal Gournmont, agreed to by the concention of Sabetas from the verse stated composing the lenon, astaly held in the buly of Philed siphing recommends & by the domental the Congress to the vecorele states, by there unsonenes thearles bearing sate the 20 0/2/ 0/37-Gour Petitioners beg levar to take berry their approbation of the Houssil proceedings, and Forey that the measure of appointing a Concretion for the Fundance of adopting the wind form of Goormount may with Alley the provedent for dip French John Chowood Oligh Olim Late Milliamfen jul Toton (Dermins! Sil in: Oc. im. talista dury gali Poter francie Vamer De mien games Cole the Contract John Taylor Thomson Sillie ____

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library.

Schuyles George Brach Matthe Stalle ght Thomas Caus, - Auton Tras Co Fude de hourses John Guest Joeburg S. C. Shandlow Spannis ther Sector burn foine tile chanous - Olicher Ton Acristaleri min Roch Vorhers ser but Hory Sillesta ist James Hartwich ilian with " Appleinte ider a Bereile Mathew Eyerton John Vorthers fun? ito Dum William S Allery Warnord Con son John Vham Sen Brech new for Rehermon the Setter 17.75 che c.h Jord Rute Ache Segure chomas Court Shelly arnett.

Je the Howerable legelating (curred on www. al formbly of the flate of S. w Jerry the Patcher of a number of the handelevery other Inhabite al of the bernaty of Humily chework that the your Policement have sun & malugely deliberation for the not Constitution framed & specumended by the timer able Convention lad y belo in the thin the ser continued after the most erecous and unprojudices examination of his diff. ment its Tider & factions of Antidas of En benshlution that welling but the immediate adoption of it INA enve the mailed States in General She Tale in pertender from abelich sure. We herefor pray that without lefe of terme you will sinone menergy weater upon i reling a bendenker reverble to the verommentaling a front bonumber Soften juger calle fucher of the New Constitution. " Jullies 1244.1.1.1 and I what

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library.

Vamiel Jnach Thomas Came avil follow Sucah onni John Gotting avide - -54 " Athingor part Suctoriova Uliver Brendis Core asland Act fine bout Gus Morrison Storen diamas sos une: Fairie. Ench Ballinger William Dickouche algelleys. Sance Barber Jun Samal Silen Flister Hand amus of hand Bungamen Ro Ginson 0206 machis In is less. ames Hunny Barton gane forriler High Sicholen Junin Jugh Hunce he Thin inc owneline dustin und hault Millamfor Jamuel Hallande Francis Paroin John M. Benk_ (reparenti duris pratien for for lipha the les c. Hele withman? blames allinian ten I rode Poter Pulin familie Tels unitis plante formes Timon Millingelspick illiam Horter Willium Level Maxwell

Ionas Kean

2 of 2

14-F. Salem County Petition to the Legislature.¹

to in honera Isulation Councils in al Abemte a conte de number of the marte ve and other provisionthe of the Commi Handy oberth falite your. how our & walnung dellevaled uper the ne iren chiner inmed. veromminghe have the Comming takle nilisistan in the before carrenner sh he Mil esperent innen (1.mmmal 11111 the Constitution that const of anticker a 200 affing, and the mover ale indeprin of stean der the Masted in instantine from There on h re man will penal errent. 17 . 2 an 1. 1500 mendall hon S chenny mal hint nerrys inning of the Protein hen & prove prove fy an compliant is some they and Se Se A stranger in 101. Dound 1. . . 14 The 1 00 ere apres destain 15- get Sarrane, Main 10.14 2 ., er 6. . 1.10 minterination - Flower Liepole Calman &

1. DS, Bureau of Archives and History, New Jersey State Library.

13 ١. THE SAME ikon

20-A. "A Farmer, of New-Jersey," Observations on Government . . . , New York, 1787.

OBSERVATIONS

O N

GOVERNMENT,

INCLUDING SONE

ANIMADVERSIONS

Mr. ADAMS'S' DEFENCE

CONSTITUTIONS or GOVERNMENT

Ó P

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

NO GRA

Mr. DE LOLME'S

CONSTITUTION OF ENGLAND.

BY A FARMER, OF NEW-YERSEY.

HEW-TORK, PRINTED BY W. ROSS, IN BROAD-292807. . M.DCC.LEXXVII.

OBSE R GOVERNMENT,

N procuting Mr. Adams's book, I fet down with the utmost cagearness and impatience to the perufal of it. I'rom its title I had formed high expectations that all the intricate and perplexing circumfances which have embarrafied this fubject, would be clearly developed; judge then of my extreme mortification, when, after having followed the Doc-tor thro' all the rubbage which with projected erudition and infinite pains he has collected from the ftorehouses and magazines of catiquity. I came to the conclusion, without encountering one single passage or argument which could be filled "A Defence of the " Conflictutions of Government of the United " States of America." In fhort we must be conftrained to call him, notwithfunding his great abilities, nothing more than a flate empiric, who preferibes one fingle remedy for all diforders : Let what will be the fituation of the patient, let the diforder proceed from what caule it may, you have only to administer a dofe

(4)

Jofe of "Orders" and "Balances," and the body politic will be immediately reftored to heaith and vigour. But what winds up the ridicule of this bufinefs to the higheft pitch, is, that not a fingle feruple of this univerfal and fo much boafted political noftrum, is to be found in any one of the governments of the United States. But leaft I may be thought to have mifunderftood the meaning Mr. Adams has annexed to the term "Orders," I fhall tranferibe a few paffages from his book; which puts this matter, I think, out of all doubt.

He tells us, " That a nobility and gentry, " in a popular government, not over-balancing " it, is the very life and foul of it."

The writings of philofophers " are very "much to our purpofe, to shew the utility " and *necessity* of different orders of men, and " of a equilibrium of powers and privileges."

"The only remedy is to throw the rich and the proud into one group, in a feparate affembly, and then tie their hands.

"There can be no government of laws with-"out a balance; and there can be no balance "without three orders; and that even three "orders can never balance each other, unlefs "each in its department is independent and "abfolute.

"The Lacedemonian republic may then, "with propriety, be called monarchical, and had the three effential parts of the beft possible government; it was a mixture of "monarchy, ariftocracy, and democracy.

" Unlefs

" Unlefs three powers have an abfolute vote " or negative to every law, the conflictution " can never be preferved.

"Orders of men, watching and balancing "each other, are the only iecurity;—power "oppofed to power, and intereft to intereft.

"Experience has ever flewn, that education as well as religion, ariftocracy as well as democracy and monarchy, are, fingly, totally inadequate to the bufine's of reftraining the paffions of men, of preferving a fleady government, and protecting the laws, liberties, and properties of the people. Nothing has ever effected it but *three different orders of men*, bound by their intereft to watch over each other, and fland the guardians of the Haws.

But that we may not flatter ourfelves that we poffers in any fhape this invaluable political noftrum, he tells us exprefsly, that " in Ame-" rica the balance is nine-tenths on the fide of " the people : indeed there is but one order."

Thus then we have neither "Balances" nor "Orders." And that we may no longer entertain the fond delusive idea of having established our governments and our liberties on a firm basis, he tells us further, that " without three "orders, and an effectual balance between them, "in every American constitution, it must be "destined to frequent unavoidable revolutions." Again, " It is impossible to erect even the "fmallest government, among the poorest peo-"ple, without different orders, councils, and " balances."

(6)

" balances." This is certainly a most fingular mode of defending a cause.

Here I might leave the Doctor to reconcile these absurdities and inconfistences in the best manner he can; but as the doctrine of the neceffity of orders and balances in government has had a number of powerful advocates among the men of letters in Europe, it becomes us therefore to beftow the utmost care and attention towards investigating this subject, so particularly important to us at this time. Should the principles advanced by Adams, Le Lolme, and others, prove to be well founded, we have hitherto been only in pursuit of a phantom. The delusive dream which has amused the imaginations of generous exalted natures in every age and country, must at length be abandoned. We must at last be constrained to open our eyes; we must make the humiliating and mortifying acknowledgment that man is incapable of governing himself, but must of necessity refign himfelf to the guidance of one or more masters. And is the cause of human nature to be thus abandoned? Must the ætherial spark of liberty, which has ever been to ready to kindle into a flame in the human breaft, be fuffered to expire? No, my fellow countrymen! let us make one more generous effort in favour of human nature; let us endeavour to rifque her from the opprobium which these writers have caft upon her.

The following observations therefore, tho' they may fail of conviction, will, I trust, be taken

(7)

taken in good part by my fellow countrymen, as the well-meant, tho' perhaps unavailing endeavours of a fellow citizen, in defence of our democratic forms of government.

Man is by nature a gregarious animal. Intereft urges him, with an impulse almost irrefiftible, to affociate with his kind; and reason and experience convinces him how neceffary fociety is to his welfare. In a folitary state his corporial powers are exceeded, and his mental faculties are nearly equalled by many other animals. It is aftonishing indeed to reflect to what a degree the powers of his body and the faculties of his mind are increased and enlarged by means of fociety. But thro' the influence of paffion, and not always comprehending that " true felf-love, and focial, are the fame," he is often induced to violate the natural rights of his companions: Hence the neceffity of civil government.

But is it not furprifing that tho' government has been eftablished among various nations of mankind from time immemorial, its principles should be so little understood. The art of government seems by no means to have kept an equal pace with other arts, in advancing towards perfection; it still remains in its infancy, whils other arts have almost attained to maturity. The reason why mankind have made so flow a progress in an art, which of all others is of the greatest confequence to happiness in this life, I take to be this,—that fince the times we have any records of, to this day,

(8)

no fair experiments have been made of the effects which the various forms of which government is capable, would produce. Since the revival of letters it has been difcovered that it is only from a great variety of well conducted experiments that a fystem of true philosophy can be established. Of the multitude of different governments which have fublished in the world, all that history furnishes us any account of, were the effect either of chance or violence. As we have not yet fufficient data whereon to ground our conclusions, we should therefore be extremely cautious of deciding in favor of any one form of government in exclusion of every other poffible form. Mr. De Lolme found, on comparison, that the government of England dispenses to its subjects a greater degree of civil liberty than that of any other country; he has therefore been led to fix on what he calls the conftitution of England, as the model of perfection: I fay, what he calls the constitution of England, for I cannot find that the people of that country have any thing like what a subject of these States would denominate a constitution; that is, an original compact entered into by every individual of fociety, wherein a certain form of government is chalked out and eftablished.

Mr. De Lolme, in his book on " the conftitution of England," has endeavoured to prove that all the various parts which go into the composition of the prefent government of England, are indifpenfably necessary to fecure liberty

(9)

liberty to the people; but what must appear very extraordinary to a subject of these States, is the great pains he takes to prove that liberty cannot be fecured without introducing a king into government. Towards the close of his book, he has this remarkable passage, " If we " could, for an inftant, fuppofe the English " form of government, inftead of having been " the effect of a lucky concurrence of fortunate " circumstances, had been established from a " fettled plan, by a man who had difcovered " beforehand, and by reafon, all those advan-" tages refulting from it which we now per-" ceive from experience; and had undertaken " to point them out to other men capable of " judging what he faid to them; the following " is, no doubt, the manner in which he would " have fpoken to them:

" Nothing is more chimerical (he would " have faid) than a state of either total equa-" lity or total liberty amongst mankind. In " all focieties of men, fome power will necef-" fary arife: this power, after gradually be-" coming confined to a finaller number of " perfons, will, by a like neceffity, at last fall " into the hands of a fingle leader; and these " two effects (of which we fee conftant exam-" ples in hiftory) flowing from the ambition " of one part of mankind, and the various " affections and paffions of the other, are ab-" folutely unavoidable. Let us therefore admit " this evil at once, fince it is impoffible to avoid " it ; let us of ourfelves eftablish a chief among " us. B

(10)

us, fince we must, fometime or other, fubmit " to one."

Wretched indeed would be the condition of mankind was the doctrine here inculcated, true. Indeed, by his too great earnestness to establish a favourite fystem, Mr. De Lolme has involved himfelf in inconfistencies, and destroyed the foundation which was necessary for the support of it; for it furely would be idle and prepofterous to propole any one form of government in preference to another, if from the nature of human affairs power must unavoidably fall into the hands of a fingle leader. Was this really the cafe, defpotifm would have been univerfally established in the world long before the prefent æra; and what would have rendered the fituation of mankind truly deplorable, would have beer the impoffibility of effecting a change. To fuppose a people incapable, by any system of government which can be contrived, of preventing the fupreme power of the state from centering ultimately in the hands of a fingle leader or chief, appears to me a very abfurd position : and indeed when we look into history we shall find it by no means warranted by experience; for notwithstanding all the popular governments, of which we have any account, have been most miferably defective in guarding against the usurpations of power, yet we find that most of them have subsisted for ages, and that many of them still subsist. " The total " ruin of the Roman republic (Mr. De Lolme " tells us) was principally brought about by " the

(11)

" the exorbitant power to which feveral of it's " citizens were fucceffively enabled to rife;" and that " one of these powerful citizens, in " procefs of time, found means to exterminate " all his competitors : he immediately affumed " to himfelf the whole power of the State, and " established forever after, an absolute mo-" narchy." But an appeal particularly to the history of the Roman republic, is by no means favourable to his principles. Romulus, who was the founder of the city, established therein a monarchical government; which after a continuance of no lefs than 250 years, was finally overthrown by the people, without any kind of intervention or affiftance of foreign nations. On the expulsion of Tarquin, and fubversion of monarchy, a republican form of government was erected; which continued with very little variation until the perpetual dictatorship of Sylla; a period of upwards of four hundred years. In all this tract of time, fo far were the fenate (who long continued to possifies the largest share in government) from encreasing their power, that the hiftory of this period exhibits to us a continued feries of encroachments made by the people, upon their privileges. And indeed it must appear manifest to every attentive and impartial refearcher, that the subversion of the republic was ultimately owing to caufes purely extrinsic. Had Rome been fatisfied with her own territories, inftead of extending her empire over the greater part of the then known world, the might poffoly

C

(12)

have remained free even to this day; but by means of the enormous adventitious power and wealth, which fome of her citizens had acquired by the conqueft of large kingdoms, they were enabled to turn their arms against the flate itself, and finally to subvert the government.

But let us contrast the principles above mentioned, viz. that all power must finally, by an unavoidable neceffity, become united in a fingle leader; with what he advances a little farther on. "It is also necessary (fays he) " that we the people, should have an influence " upon the government; it is necessary for our " own fecurity; it is no lefs neceffary for the " fecurity of the government itself;-let us " therefore, as we are unfit, collectively, to " manage public affairs, appoint express and " acknowledged reprefentatives, who will be " accountable to us for the evils of the ftate." Here he lays down the neceffity, as well as poflibility of reftraining power. But how are the people to appoint representatives, after having refigned the government into the hands of a fingle leader? "The power (he tells us) " which neceffarily arifes in all focieties of men, " will at last fall into the hands of a single " leader ;" and if this " is abfolutely unavoid-" able," it is furely to no purpose to talk of appointing representatives; if the people cannot prevent the eftablishment of a fingle leader, it is idle to expect they can reftrain the exercise of his power.

(13)

Mr. De Lolme tells us that " the first pe-" culiarity of the English government, as a " free government, is its having a king,--its " having thrown into one place the whole " mass (if I may use the expression) of the " executive power, and having invariably and " forever fixed it there. By this very circum-" stance also, has the depositum of it been " rendered facred and inexpugnable; by mak-" ing one great, very great man in the state, " has an effectual check been put to the pre-" tentions of those who otherwise would strive " to become fuch; and diforders have been " prevented, which, in all republics, have " brought on the ruin of liberty, and before " it was loft, obstructed the enjoyment of it."

But this is in direct contradiction to hiftory. The depositum of the executive power, has not been preferved facted and inexpugnable; for did not the parliament strip Charles the 1st, of all his prerogatives, and finally take even his life? Did not the nation expel his fon from the kingdom, and place the crown on the head of a stranger ? Again, " disorders have been pre-" vented." What a ftrange affertion is this; there is fcarce a page of the hiftory of England but contains ample testimonials to the contrary. What shall we call the contest between the two houses of York and Lancaster? What name shall we give to the reigns of Henry VIII, and his daughter Mary? What shall we call the war between Charles and his fubjects? The reigns of Charles the IId, and his brother James? And even

(14)

even in the prefent century, what fhall we call the rebellions in 1715 and 1745? So far from preventing diforders, was not the crown the fole caufe of all thefe interme wars and civil broils? In truth, a government like that of England, confifting of three independent powers, two of which felf-exifting, must of neceffity have the feeds of diforders in the very conftruction of it. On any difpute arifing among these powers, as two of them are not only independent of each other, but of the people alfo, there can be no tribunal in the nation whose authority can command the peace; the fword only must decide the controversy.

The fecurity of the liberties of a people or state, depends wholly on a proper delegation of power. The feveral component powers of government should be fo distributed that no one man, or body of men, thould poffefs a larger share thereof than what is absolutely neceffary for the administration of government. That the dangerous confequences accruing to liberty, from the necessity arising in all governments of delegating power fomewhere, are to be prevented by accumulating into one majs not only a variety of powers, which, if difunited, might be executed as well, or perhaps better, but many of which are dangerous and inimical to liberty, and by no means effentially neceffary, appears wholly irreconcilable to my ideas of just reasoning. But if we look into the history of England, we shall find that experience has confirmed what reafon to plainly dictates.

(15)

From the conqueft of the kingdom by William the Norman, to the revolution in 1688, it is demonstrable that the prerogatives claimed and exercised by the crown, during this long period of the English history, have been totally incompatible with liberty. The constitution afforded no protection to the liberties of the people, when attacked by the regal power; they had no alternative left but either to submit quietly to despose show, or to take up arms against their sovereign; and indeed during the short period of forty years before the revolution they were reduced to the necessity of beheading one king, deposing another, and altering the line of succession.

It is the boaft of Englishmen, that at the revolution the prerogatives of the crown were affertained, limited and reftrained. But if we take a view of the powers the fovereign is at this time possefield of, it will be found that tho' a number of odious but infignificant prerogatives have been furrendered; the real power of the prince is greater than ever. To evince this I shall first give a detail of the prerogatives now possefield by the crown.

- 1. The king is invefted with imperial dignity.
- 2. His kingship, or imperial dignity, is hereditary, perpetual and immortal. The king never dies ;— Henry, Edward, or George, may die, but the king survives them all.
- 3. He has the fole prerogative of making war and peace.

(16)

- 4. Of making treaties, leagues, and alliances with foreign flates and princes, on whatever conditions he thinks proper.
- 5. Sends and receives ambaffadors.
- 6. He is a conftituent part of the supreme legislative power.
- 7. He has the fole command of the fleets and armies, with the appointment of all the offices and places dependent thereon, both military and civil: he alone can levy troops, equip fleets, and build fortrefles.
- 8. He is the fource of all the judicial power in the ftate; he is the chief of all the tribunals, and the judges are only his fubftitutes; every thing is transacted in his name; the judgments must be with his feal, and are executed by his officers.
- 9. By a fiction of the law he is looked upon as the universal proprietor of the kingdom.10. He can pardon offences.
- 11. He is the fountain of honour, office, and privilege; creates peers of the realm, and diffributes titles and dignities.
- 12. He is the head and fupreme governor of the national church. In this capacity he appoints the bifhops, and the two archbifhops; he alone convenes, prorogues, or diffolves the covocation of the clergy; his affent likewife is neceffary to the validity of their acts.
- 13. He is the fuperintendent of commerce; he has the prerogative of regulating weights and measures; he alone can coin money, and can give currency to foreign coin.

(17)

14. In fine, what feems to carry fo many powers to the height, is its being a fundamental maxim that THE KING CAN DO NO WRONG. He is above the reach of all courts of law; he is accountable to no power in the nation whatever, and his perfon is facred and inviolable.

In addition to this formidable catalogue of the prerogatives of the crown, I shall take the liberty of transcribing a passage taken from the commentaries of the late judge Blackstone .---" It is to be confidered (fays he) that every " prince, in the first parliament after his accef-" fion, has by long usage a truly royal addition " to his hereditary revenue fettled upon him " for his life; and has never any occasion to " apply to parliament for fupplies, but upon " some public necessity of the whole realm. " This reftores to him that conftitutional inde-" pendence, which at his first accession feems, " it must be owned, to be wanting. And then, " with regard to power, we may find perhaps " that the hands of government are at least " iufficiently strengthened; and that an English " monarch is now in no danger of being over-" borne by either the nobility or the people. " The inftruments of power are not perhaps " fo open and avowed as they formerly were, " and therefore are the lefs liable to jealous and " invidious reflections; but they are not the " weaker upon that account. In short, our " national debt and taxes (befides the inconve-" niences before mentioned) have also in their " natural C

(18)

" natural confequences thrown fuch a weight " of power into the executive scale of govern-" ment, as we cannot think was intended by " our patriot anceftors; who glorioufly ftrug-" gled for the abolition of the then formidable " parts of the prerogative, and by an unac-" countable want of forefight established this " fystem in their stead. The entire collection " and management of fo vaft a revenue, being " placed in the hands of the crown, have given " rife to fuch a multitude of new officers, crea-"ted by and removeable at the royal pleafure, " that they have extended the influence of " government to every corner of the nation. "Witnefs the commissioners, and the multi-" tude of dependents on the cuftoms, in every " port of the kingdom; the commissioners of "excife, and their numerous fubalterns, in "every inland district; the postmasters, and " their fervants, planted in every town, and " upon every public road; the commissioners " of the stamps, and their distributors, which " are full as scattered and full as numerous; " the officers of the falt duty, which, though " a species of excise and conducted in the same " manner, are yet made a distinct corps from " the ordinary managers of that revenue; the " furveyors of houses and windows; the recei-" vers of the land tax; the managers of lot-" teries; and the commissioners of hackney " coaches; all which are either mediately or " immediately appointed by the crown, and " removeable at pleasure, without any reason " affigned :

(19)

" affigned : these, it requires but little pene-" tration to fee, must give that power, on " which they depend for fubfiftence, an influ-" ence most amazingly extensive. To this may " be added the frequent opportunities of con-" ferring particular obligations, by preference " in loans, fubscriptions, tickets, remittances, " and other money-transactions, which will " greatly increase this influence; and that over " those perfons whose attachment, on account " of their wealth, is frequently the most defi-" rable. Al' this is the natural, though per-" haps unforefeen confequence of erecting our " funds of credit, and to fupport them eftab-" lishing our present perpetual taxes: the whole " of which is entirely new fince the reftoration " in 1660; and by far the greatest part fince " the revolution in 1688. And the fame may " be faid with regard to the officers in our " numerous army, and the places which the " army has created. All which put together, " gives the executive power fo perfuative an " energy with respect to the persons themselves, " and fo prevailing an interest with their friends " and families, as will amply make amends for " the lofs of external prerogatives.

"But though this profusion of offices should have no effect on individuals, there is still another newly acquired branch of power; and that is, not the influence only, but the force of a disciplined army: paid indeed ultimately by the people, but immediately by the crown; raifed by the crown, officered by "the

(20)

" the crown, commanded by the crown. They are kept on foot it is true only from year to year, and that by the power of parliament: but during that year they muft, by the nature of our conftitution, if raifed at all, be at the abfolute difpofal of the crown. And there need but a few words to demonstrate how great a truft is thereby reposed in the prince by his people. A truft, that is more than equivalent to a thousand little troublefome prerogatives.

"Add to all this, that befides the civil lift, "the immense revenue of seven millions sterling, which is annually paid to the creditors of the public, or carried to the finking fund, is first deposited in the royal exchequer, and thence issued out to the respective offices of payment. This revenue the people can never refuse to raise, because it is made perpetual by act of parliament : which also, when well considered, will appear to be a trust of great delicacy aud high importance."

Cloathed with fuch imperial majefty,—invefted with fuch an accumulation of power,—a numerous well difciplined standing army at his command,—and an immense permanent revenue, (which the people can never refuse to raise, because it is made perpetual by act of parliament) deposited annually in the royal exchequer; which it is at any time in his power to divert to what purposes he pleases;—what force remains in the nation to withitand the efforts of an enterprising prince?

21)

If Charles the If, who had no ftanding army, and whofe revenues were comparatively triffing, was however able to fupport a war against his subjects for a dozen years together, we may very fairly conclude that a British king has it now in his power to make himself an absolute monarch whenever he chuses.

But when we confider the means, which from long practice have become almost absolutely necessary, and to which a minister is constrained to recur in order to acquire and maintain an influence in parliament, and in the nation at large, it really becomes a question whether the nation would not be a considerable gainer by such a revolution.

In a government fo fystematically venal as that of England at prefent, when administration can expect to be fupported in their measures by pecuniary motives alone, an unbounded diffipation of the public revenue becomes unavoidable, nay, it becomes absolutely necessary; abuses are not only to be winked at, but the authors of them, at all events, fupported. Contracts are given, not to those who make the most advantageous offers, but to those who have the greatest parliamentary interest; thus, from the minister of state, down to the lowest officer, a combination is formed to plunder the nation. Venality and corruption become one common tie, whereby the various parts of this infamous fystem of administration are knit together in one common intereft.

Viewing

(22)

Viewing matters in this light, it would be evidently to the advantage of the nation that the government was an abfolute monarchy, rather than the prefent limited one. All this profusion of expence would then become unneceffary. Ministers then, no longer dependent on a purchased majority, instead of encouraging, would glory in the detection of abuses, and would study conomy in the management of the finances, as the most effectual means of recommending themselves to the favour of their prince.

It is justly observed by Montesquieu, that to leave the crime of high treafon indeterminate, is alone fufficient to make any government degenerate into arbitrary power; and hiftory fnews us how ready the kings of England have ever been to avail themselves of this terrible engine of state. By creating a multiplicity of constructive treafons, they have been enabled most wantonly to fport with the lives of their fellow creatures. A knight, in Edward the IIId's time, was found guilty of this crime, merely for detaining one of the king's fubjects till he paid him 901. Killing the king's father or brother, or even his messenger, has also been deemed treasonable. We have two instances in the reign of Edward the IVth, of perfons executed for treafonable words : the one a citizen of London, who faid he would make his fon heir to the crown, (meaning the fign of the house in which he lived); the other a gentleman, whole favourite buck the king killed in hunting:

hunting; whereupon he wished it, horns and all, in the king's belly.

(23)

By means of this infernal engine were the famous Sidney, the virtuous Ruffel, facrificed to glut the vengeance of offended royalty. The one for a treatife on government, found in his clofet; the other for being prefent at a converfation faid to be treafonable. Their diftinguifhed patriotifm, inflexible integrity, and fuperior abilities, it feems had gained them too great an influence with the wife and virtuous part of the nation; and it was apprehended, were they fuffered to live they might prove an invincible bar to the arbitrary defigns which were then carrying on by a wicked king and a wicked miniftry.

In the fubsequent reign, how many hundreds were butchered by the inhuman Jefferies, for daring to take up arms against a tyrant, whom the nation were obliged shortly after to expel the kingdom.

Blackstone has given us a dreadful catalogue of strange and unheard of treasons, invented at different times, between the reigns of Edward the IVth, and queen Mary; but particularly in the reign of that bloody tyrant Henry the VIIIth. Some of these were preposterous and ridiculous to the last degree; for instance, a woman, not a virgin, marrying with the king. The believing the king to have been lawfully married to Anne of Cleves.

To have fome idea of the high notions of regal fway, which fome of the princes of that kingdom

(24)

kingdom had imbibed, I will just repeat what James the Ist, has more than once advanced in his speeches to parliament.—" As it is atheism " and blasphemy in a creature to dispute what " the Deity may do, so it is presumption and " fedition in a subject to dispute what a king " may do in the height of his power: good " christians will be content with God's will, " revealed in his word; and good subjects will " reft in the king's w?", revealed in his law."

One would naturally be led to fuppofe that in forming a free government, that this would be univerfally admitted as a fundamental maxim,---that no more power be delegated than is necessary to the due administration of government. To those who are unacquainted with the mysterious and hidden virtues of " Orders " and Balances," it would appear unaccountably inconfistent in a band of patriots engaged in forming a conftitution of government for freemen, to place a king, cloathed with all the dignities and prerogatives of a British monarch, at the head of it. Is hereditary fuccession,the difposition of honors,---the creation of nobility,--the fupremacy of an eftablished church, --- to be accountable to no one for the administration of affairs,-added to all the other prerogatives of the crown of England, the exercise of which the administration of government may neceffarily require : I fay, are the whole of these unessential but dangerous prerogatives, to be vested in a first magistrate for no other purpose but that the balance of power

(25)

may be preferved? For according to this fyftem of orders and balances, the equilibrium muft be fupported " with the utmost exactnefs." To deprive him therefore of the least foruple of this huge collection of formidable, but totally unneceffary prerogative, would instantly overturn the balance, and of course the government. Bu further, let not these framers of a constitution, imagine that equal representation and frequent elections, would be an improvement; either more prerogatives, in this case, must be thrown into the scale on the fide of the crown, or it would infallibly kick the beam.

Had Mr. Adams been a native of the old, instead of the new world, we should not have been fo furprifed at his fystem. When he looks around him there, he fees wealth and power every where in the hands of a few,--nobility almost universally established. When human affairs have already come to this pass, I know of no contrivance which the wit of man has yet invented, by means of which this aristocracy may be kept within bounds, but by placing the people on one fide of them, and the king on the other; but it must be acknowledged, that even this celebrated expedient of balancing powers, derived from different fources, felfexisting and independent, is liable to great objections. Reafon and experience both teach us how extremely difficult it must be to adjust the balance fo as to preferve an equilibrium. By the struggles of one or other of these powers for mastery, the commonwealth is in continual danmer D

(26)

danger of being fubverted, and more than once has the government of England been actually shaken to it's centre by the conflict's between them.--Hiftory furnishes us with abundant proofs of this. William, when he had conquered the country, parcelled it out among his barons; they foon began to feel their power; they made war on their king, reduced him to their own terms, and the people to the vilest degree of vafalage and flavery. Then came on the contest between the two houses of York and Lancaster, which lasted near a century, and fpread devastation and flaughter thro' every part of the kingdom. The two rofes at length were united in Henry the VIIIth. By this time, what with forfeitures, the statutes of alienation, the incorporation of cities, and the great increase of commerce, property had in a great measure shifted hands; the barons were no longer in a condition to contend with royalty; indeed, after Henry had stripped and plundered the church of their immense wealth, the aristocratic and democratic parts of the government were nearly annihilated; nay, he may with the ftrictest propriety be stilled an absolute monarch, for by one act, his fervile parliament transferred to him the whole of the legislative power without referve, by giving the king's proclamation the force of a law. Indeed Blackfrone confesses " that this statute must have proved fatal to the " liberties of England, had it not been luckily " repealed in the minority of his fucceffor, " about five years after."

(27)

At the acceffion of James, the people began to feel their importance. James injudiciously broached doctrines and infifted on prerogatives which was not adapted to the times; Charles purfued his father's policy, and the confequence was the loss of his head, and a total subversion of the government. The former government was however again restored, and Charles the IId. afcends the throne; but in lefs than thirty years another revolution happens,-his brother James is dethroned and driven from the kingdom. Since this period two attempts have been made to restore the crown to James's lineal descendant. Thus we will find that fince the conquest, even in the best of times, liberty has been very infecure; and that the ftruggles among these independent powers, for mastery, are continually throwing the government into diforder; and, as might reasonably be expected, are generally terminated by a civil war and a revolution.

These evils are inherent in the very nature of this fystem; the equilibrium of these independent powers so much talked of. never has been, and probably never will be effected in the English, or in any other government elected on this plan. But were we for a moment to admit the possibility of this scheme of balancing, and that a government was set in motion in which these powers were exactly possed; how long, I would ask, could this fanciful equilibrium be preferved? So fluctuating is the tide of human affairs, that in an instant the scales would be josted out of place; one side or other would inevitably

(28)

inevitably preponderate; the heavieft file would foon become fenfible of its fuperiority, and never be at reft until it had acquired the whole weight of power, or until it was ftopped in its career by fome violent convultion in the ftate, by which a new adjustment of the balance might be brought about.

Now what I would infer from this, is, that however eligible this fcheme may be where an ariftocracy is already established, yet as we are clearly not yet in this predicament,—as there is not the last trace or vestige of an aristocracy to be discovered yet in any one of these States, it surely would be prudent in us to be thoroughly convinced of the absolute and unavoidable necessfity of the case, before we submitted ourselvesto a system of government so manifestly defective.

One would naturally fuppole that, in the conftruction of a free government, we should endeavour so to connect the interest of those in power with that of the community at large, as to make the promotion of the public good, and their own private advantage, inseparable; but the writers whose schemes I am combating, have pursued a mode the very reverse of this. By introducing " independent and self-existing " powers" in the government, an interest is erected in the state distinct and separate from that of the community at large. That good government should consist is making the interest of the governed, appears incomprehensible

(29)

to me, and repugnant to all my ideas of right and wrong.

To think of fecuring liberty, and giving permanency to government, by an operation fo delicate in its nature as the nice adjustment of independent and opposing powers, on the pivot of a balance, is furely a most chimerical attempt.

There may be some fort of propriety in the expression, for aught I know, when we talk of the balance of power fubfifting between independent nations and states; but I never could be reconciled to the propriety, or indeed comprehend the meaning of this figure of rhetoric, when applied to the conftituent parts of one and the fame government. This martialing of power against power, in battle array, does not accord with my idea of perfection in government. There is certainly a degree of abfurdity in this fanciful allufion, this fupposed fimiltude subfisting between the powers of government and the powers of the balance. Good government requires constant activity; but to be fuspended in equilibrio, is to be in a state of total inaction. All government necessarily requires a fupreme authority lodged fomewhere, to fuperintend and direct the operations of every other part: now, this office belongs exclusively to the legislature. To suppose otherwise would be to crect a power in the state, superior to the laws; that is, to be above government, confequently not a part of it. Equilibrium implies an equality of oppofing weights or powers. The legiflative
legislative power, as I have just proved, is fupreme; but the executive, in order to produce an equipoise or balance, must be equal to it; and therefore must be supreme also. Here are then two supreme independent powers in one government; which is to the full as absurd as to suppose the soul actuated by two independent wills.

Mr. Adams's exposition of the true meaning of a balance of power, is entertaining enough. He tells us, " it is best conceived by confider-"ing what the nature of a balance is. lt " fuppofes three things: first, the part which " is held, together with the hand that holds it; " and then the two scales, with whatever is "weighed therein. In a state within itself, " the balance must be held by a third hand, " who is to deal the remaining power, with " the utmost exactness, into the feveral scales. " The balance may be held by the weakest, " who by his address, removing from either " fcale, and adding his own, may keep the " fcales duly poifed: when the balance is bro-" ken by mighty weights falling into either " scale, the power will never continue long, " in equal division, between the two remain-" ing parties; but, till the balance is fixed " anew, will run entirely into one. This is " made to appear by the examples of the De-" cemviri in Rome, the Ephori in Sparta, the " four hundred in Athens, the thirty in Athens, " and the Dominatio Plebis in Carthage and " Argos."

(3**1**)

Would any man, who heard Mr. Adams defcanting in these terms, imagine himself to be listening to the wife aphorisms of a grave Doctor of Laws? Would he not rather suppose him, by his language, to be forme posture master, or rope dancer? Indeed the Doctor has done more towards overturning the "balance," and forever banishing the word from the republic of letters, than all my weak efforts can possibly do.

If we must recur to mechanical, in order to explain the operations of political powers, I would compare a well constituted government to a jack. The weight is the power from whence the motion of every part originates. However complicated in its conftruction, tho' one wheel may be made to impel another ad infinitum, yet without the weight, the machine must forever remain at rest. Thus too, if the weight should be opposed by an equal weight, the fame effect will be produced; the machine must of course cease to move. But as the friction of the wheels will be greater in one part than in another; and as the meat too, if not very nicely spitted, will give more resistance in one part of its revolution than in another; to counteract therefore the irregularities which these causes would produce in the movements of the machine, a flyer has been added, by the operation of which an equability of motion is all times preferved. The flyer indeed is of admirable use; let the tendency to diforder proceed from what caufe it may,-whether the weight

(32)

weight should at times be too great or too little,—the friction in some parts increased for want of cleaning or oiling,—the meat put on the spit without sufficient attention to its true centre of gravity: whether the tendency to disorder arises from one or from a complication of these causes, the efficacy of the flyer in preferving regularity and equability of motion, is constantly and invariably the same. It is fcarcely necessary to add, that in government the weight or origin of power, is the people, and the people only; the jack is the machinery of the government; the motions of which are regulated by adding a check or flyer.

The government of England is held up to us as the mode of perfection. The moft extravagant encomiums have been beftowed indiferiminately upon every part of it. That it difpenfes to its fubjects more civil liberty than any other we are acquainted with (except these States) whether antient or modern, is readily admitted. It becomes then the business of philosophy to investigate the sources from whence these beneficial effects have flown, and to discover whether in its construction it contains any thing *peculiar* to itself.

In the first place then, we find at the head of the government a king vested with very extensive powers and prerogatives, which are by no means friendly to liberty. Next we find a body of upwards of 300 nobles, whose honors and privileges are hereditary, and who constitute a separate branch of the legislature. But

(33.)

But kings and nobles are no new things in the world, as mankind have found to their coft. In these respects, the government of England is certainly not singular; and it is matter of surprise to me, that Messers. Adams, De Lolme, and others, should ever have thought of rearing a temple to liberty with such materials as these. It muss be from some other quarter that this celebrated government derives its superior degree of excellence.

What conflitutes then the diftinguishing characterific of the English government, is its having adopted a mode of framing and executing laws totally different from all the world besides, if we except these States. From two of the most easy and most simple expedients imaginable, have flown all those beneficial effects which have excited the wonder and admiration of the world. By choosing representatives for a limited time, to make laws, and judges merely pro bac vice from among themselves, to enforce these laws, have the people in England been able to attain to, and preferve a degree of liberty before unknown.

It is legislation by *reprefentation*, and trial by *jury*, which form the strong and striking features of the English government; to these *peculiarities*, and these only, must its pre-eminence be attributed.

Wherever an attempt has been made to eftablifh a democratic government, one very grofs error feems to have prevailed univerfally.— In order to fecure the general liberty of the whole, it has been thought abfolutely neceffary E that

(34)

that each individual should be entitled to a perfonal vote, in the administration of government. Now this privilege, however specious it may appear in theory, has ever been productive of infinite michief, when reduced to practice. The people are constantly duped by artful and defigning men; they are inftruments ever ready to be converted to the worst of purposes; this fatal evil has, and ever will, render the eftablifhment of a perfect democracy, a thing impracticable. Large bodies of people assembled together in a tumultuous manner, are in their very nature, incapable of deliberating; they of confequence can do no more than affent to, or reject fuch propositions as are made to them. Now those who are entrusted with the right of proposing, fometimes by inflaming the passions of the multitude with harangues on popular topics, at other times by artful and infidious contrivances, find no great difficulty in winding them to their purpose: thus it is that laws come to be enacted very prejudicial, and often fubverfive of liberty.

It was thus the tribunes in the Roman republic, were enabled to abufe their truft.—I fhall here recite two remarkable inftances: upon the expulsion of the decemviri (a tyranny erected by the fenate) the tribunes taking advantage of the great popularity they had gained by their activity on that occasion, prevailed with the people to confent to a law, by which the resolutions of the *comitia tributa* (an affembly in which they were admitted to propose new laws) was made binding upon the whole commonwealth.

(35)

monwealth. By this manœuvre they became, in a great measure, masters of the legislature, and raised to themselves an imperium in imperio. But they did not rest satisfied here; they aimed next at the executive power; and to this end they proposed a law, by which one of the two confuls was to be taken from the body of the people; and to induce them to a compliance with their views, they at the fame time proposed a law for lowering the interest of money; and another, that no citizen should possess more than five hundred acres of land: the two latter were laws of the most popular nature, and accordingly were affented to by the tribes; whilft the former was rejected. They then infifted that the three rogations should be voted for jointly; and by that artifice, overcoming both the opposition of the senate and the reluctance of the people, they at length obtained their ends; and, by means fimilar to these, they became capable of filling all the other great offices of state.

These then are striking inftances of the extreme folly of the people at large attempting to exercise legislative power. The plebeians, at Rome, for a long time infissed to have particular magistrates chosen from their own body, to protect their interests, and defend their persons against the arbitrary power exercised by the confuls. After much struggling they at length gained their point, and tribunes were appointed; but what unaccountable conduct was it to raise, by their own suffrages, those tribunes to a participation of the very power they were intended

(36)

to be a check upon; but to fuch an extravagant length did they carry this miftaken notion of retaining power in their own hands, as neceflary to fecure liberty, that they often infifted upon the privilege of trying and determining caufes.

When Mr. Grenville moved the Houfe of Commons, that a remedy fhould be provided for "the infamous manner in which the houfe "exercifed its jurifdiction on elections," he "abjealed to the confeiences of every gentlefram in the houfe, whether any of them "would clufe to determine their property before a Houfe of Commons, if a jury of "porters or chairmen, could be obtained for "that purpole." But if a Houfe of Commons, confifting of three or four hundred members, made for wretched a court of judicature, what fhall we fay of one confifting of citizens to the amount, perhaps, of as many hundreds of thoufands.

Thus it may be eafily conceived, that fo long as mankind remained under the influence of this mistaken opinion, no attempt to establish a popular government could fucceed. The people ever have been, and ever will be unfit to retain the exercise of power in their own hands; they must of necessity, delegate it fomewhere; hence the immense importance of those admirable contrivances which the English have had the honor of inventing and adopting; viz. a reprefentative legislature, and a trial by jury.

By the first of these happy expedients, are the people enabled most effectually to guard against the

(37)

the abufes in the exercise of the legislative authority, and that too in a way the most easy and gentle, without the least commotion or violence. At certain flated periods the people in their respective districts convene together, and proceed to the election of a determinate number of reprefentatives; these reprefentatives are immediately cloathed with the powers of legislation; but at the expiration of the term for which they were delegated, they become immediately divested of all the authority which was conferred upon them at their election, and are again reduced in every respect to the condition of private citizens: thus, should the people at any time be diffatisfied with the conduct of a representative; should he betray or neglect to fludy the interests of his constituents, the remedy is always at hand, and can be applied without endangering in the leaft the peace of the community; they have only to difmifs him from their fervice, and employ fome other more worthy of this important truft.

I muft however observe, that the people of England do by no means enjoy this ineftimable bleffing of a representative legislature, in its fullest extent. The legislature with them is composed of three diffinct independent branches, only one of which depends for its existence on the suffrages of the people, the other two posfess an hereditary right to legislation. But even this dependent branch is not so much so as it might and ought to be; owing to the great inequality of representation, and the want of more frequent elections.

(38)

We come now to the trial by jury.-When we reflect how frequently the fword of juffice has been (even in the beft governments, and in those whose object has been professedly to secure liberty to the people) diverted from the punishment of the guilty, to the perpetration of the most horrid cruelties on the innocent, we cannot sufficiently admire the wisdom or good fortune of our English ancestors, in adopting and transmitting to us a mode of trial by which the judicial authority is happily confined to its proper objects, and is dreaded by none but the guilty alone.

The powers of legislation may be delegated to the fame man or body of men, for a confiderable length of time, (for one, two, three, or even *leven* years) without great danger; for as their acts refpect the ftate generally, their powers will not probably be wantonly abused; but, the dispensing of justice is a trust of so delicate a nature, so dreadful in its operations, when not kept within due bounds, that to give it without referve, to a body of men possessing any degree of permanency, would be highly dangerous.

By means of this excellent contrivance of a trial by jury, the fword of juffice is divefted of half its ufual terrors. It is intrufted in the hands of no man or body of men, one moment longer than is neceffary; when the occasion no longer exists it is again locked up, and no one knows who next shall wield it. Mr De Lolme has very justly observed that "fuch is the happy "nature of this institution, that the judicial "power

(39)

" power (a power fo formidable in itfelf) which " is to difpofe, without finding any refiftance, " of the property, honor, and life of individu-" als; and which, whatever precautions may " be taken to reftrain it, muft in a great degree " remain arbitrary, may be faid in England to " exift,—to accomplifh every intended end,— " and to be in the hands of nobody." Indeed fo admirably is this mode of trial contrived for the fecurity of all ranks and conditions of men, that whilft it continues without innovation, it will be almost impossible to infringe upon *civil* liberty, even tho' the State itfelf may have lost her *political* liberty.

But it has been found from experience, that a government by representation, confifting of a fingle house of representatives, is in some degree liable to the fame inconveniences which attend a pure democracy; a few leading men influence the majority to pass laws calculated not for the public good, but to promote fome finifter views of their own. To prevent this, another representative branch is added : these two separate houses form mutual checks upon each other; but this expedient has not been found to be altogether effectual. If the legislative power, even tho' vested in two distinct houses, is left without any controul, they will inevitably encroach upon the executive and judicial; besides, not possessing an extensive legal knowledge, there will be a want of confiftency and uniformity in the laws. But further, as prejudices always prevail, more or lefs, in all popular governments, it is necessary that a check be

(40)

be placed fomewhere in the hands of a power, not immediately dependent on the breath of the people, in order to stem the torrent, and prevent the mischiefs which blind passions and rancorous prejudices might otherwise occasion. The executive and judicial powers should of course then be vested, with this check or controul, on the legislature; and that they may be enabled fully to effect this beneficial purpose, they should be rendered as independent as posfible.

When we take a comparative view of the governments of these States, that of England, and those of other governments upon the republican plan, the first object that strikes us is the folid foundation on which the former are erec-Whilft the governments of the old world ted. can trace their origin from no better fource than that of chance or violence, it has been our peculiar bleffing to be placed in fuch a fituation that we have been enabled " to turn to fhape, and " to give a local habitation" to what has hitherto been an "airy nothing." Our governments are univerfally founded on ORIGINAL COMPACT; they are the refult of pre-concerted plan, and calm deliberation. In vain have Englishmen boasted of a constitution; in vain shall we fearch their records for an original compact. No one part of the government can be faid to be unalterably fixed and established. The parliament are without any controul whatever; they are, in the language of their lawyers OMNIPOTENT; and I think Coke tells us they can do every thing except making a man a woman.

(41)

woman. One would suppose that if any thing whatever would be held facred and unalterable. it would be *reprefentation*; as every thing depends on this privilege of the people: without it, liberty would expire in a moment;-yet what changes and fluctuations have there been both with respect to the equality of representation and the duration of parliament. Parliaments were formerly annual, and continued fo with very little variation, to the times of Henry the VIIIth, who prolonged the period of their existence as best fuited his purposes; but under Philip and Mary, annual parliaments were again reftored. In Charles the IId's time, parliaments were made triennial; but during the fubsequent troubles, the long parliament, as it is called, continued to fit twelve years, 'till they were kicked out by Cromwell. Under Charles the IId, the triennial bill was repealed, and the period of parliament was left to the arbitrary pleasure of the crown; accordingly the penfioned parliament continued eighteen years. At the reftoration, the parliament was again reduced to triennial; but upon the acceffion of George the First, the pretended danger, in cafe of an election, of having a tory parliament returned, was urged as an argument to prove the necessity of a prolongation of the term; and accordingly parliaments were made septennial; and have continued to ever fince. Thus we find the constitution, (if indeed there is fuch a thing) has fixed no bounds to the period of parliament; but has left to the difcretion of parliament itself to lengthen or shor-

(42)

ten its own duration, as they in their wifdom fhall judge expedient; and accordingly we find parliaments have been annual,—triennial,—feptennial,—duodennial,—octodennial,—and, for ought we can fay, may foon become perennial. As to the equality of reprefentation, I fhall juft obferve, that out of 513, the number of members fent by England to parliament, the boroughs and cinque ports fend no lefs than 382. Some of thefe boroughs contain but one voter; many of them not more than ten, and the major part of them lefs than one hundred.

It is not unentertaining to hear judge Blackstone defining the precise period at which the constitution of England had arrived to its highest pitch of perfection. After recapitulating the important concessions made by the crown, in favour of liberty, at the reftoration of Charles the Second to the throne, he ventures to pronounce as "incontestable, that by the law, " as it then stood, the people had as large a " portion of real liberty as is confiftent with a " ftate of fociety; and fufficient power, refid-" ing in their own hands, to affert and preferve " that liberty, if invaded by the royal preroga-"tive;-for which I need but appeal to the " memorable cataftrophe of the next regn; for " when Charles's deluded brother attempted to " enflave the nation, he found it beyond his " power: the people both could, and did refift " him; and in confequence of fuch refistance, " obliged him to quit his enterprife, and the " throne together." Certainly the learned judge has not written here with his usual accuracy and

(43)

and precision; he has not diffinguished between the legal right of restraining power within just limits, (which ought to be provided for by the constitution of a State) and the natural right of repelling force by force; to which mankind are fometimes under the neceffity of recurring. Now it was by the exercise of this latter right, with the affistance of a foreign aid, that the people of England were enabled to expel the tyrant James. James had attempted to overturn the liberties of the nation, and to establish civil and religious tyranny; the people, for want of legal and constitutional means of restraining power, were reduced to the necessity of oppofing him by *force*; and, in direct violation of the law, made war on their fovereign lord the king. Is it not aftonishing then that the judge, to prove his position, viz. " that by the law, as it " then stood, the people had fufficient power " refiding in their own hands to affert and pre-" ferve liberty, if invaded by the royal prero-" gative;" should appeal to an act of the people, fo far from being authorifed by the law, that it was in fact the fubversion of both law and government; and I think it may fairly be retorted upon him, " that what appears incon-" testable is this, that by the law, as it then "ftood, the people had" not " as large a por-" tion of real liberty as is confiftent with a state " of fociety," or they would not fo foon have been reduced to the neceffity of diffolving the very bonds of *fociety*. And further, " that the " true balance between liberty and prerogative, " was" far from being " happily established; " for

(44)

" for which I need but to appeal to the memo-" rable cataftrophe of the next reign," when this imaginary balance was *unbappily* overturned.

The constitution of a State, as I have before observed, is that original compact entered into by every individual of a fociety, whereby a certain form of government is chalked out and established unalterably, except by the people themfelves: thus by a conftitution then, when applied to civil fociety, we do not mean government itself, but the manner of its formation and existence. When we fay such a man has a good conftitution, we do not mean merely that he is in a good state of health, but, recurring to the first principles of life, we mean that the component parts of his body are happily disposed with respect to each other; of which good health is the natural confequence: fo too, when we fay fuch a State has a good conftitution, we do not mean merely that the laws are well framed and well executed, but, recurring to the first principles of government, we mean that the component parts thereof are happily difposed with respect to each other; of which good government is the natural confequence. This happy disposition of parts, this soundness of conftitution to the former, is the gift of nature; to the latter, is derived from original compact. Now as there are a thoufand ways by which government, as well as the human frame, may be thrown into diforder, the advantage of a good constitution is this, that it has of itself a natural tendency to reftore health and

(45)

and vigour, and thereby fuperfede the neceffity of recurring to violent and dangerous remedies.

An original compact or conftitution, in which the powers of government are nicely defined and precifely afcertained, is a fupport to liberty, fo great, fo powerful, that this alone would compenfate for a thousand little defects in the confruction of a government. We cannot look into the hiftory of any free people, without being forcibly ftruck with the truth of this; we find every where, that one of the principal fources of arbitrary power, was the want of having the boundaries of the different powers of government, marked out and established. It is unneceffary to ranfack the hiftory of republican governments for proof of this; it stares you in the face every where. Among the Romans particularly, we find no bounds fixed any where; the people, the fenate, the confuls (as the one or the other got uppermoft) affumed the exercise of every power: there were no lefs than three diffinct modes of legislation; the decrees of the Senate, acts of the Centuries, and refolutions of the Tribes.

The judicial power, which as Montefquieu juftly obferves, is a fure criterion by which to judge of the goodnefs of a government, was always a mere inftrument of tyranny; the fenate, the people, the confuls, the tribunes, the dictators, the prætors, the quæftors, &c. all claimed a right to exercife this dangerous power; and their procedures ftript of all forms of juftice, were rather exertions of violence than legal judgments. The confequences of all

(46)

all this confusion and uncertainty in the administration of affairs, was the most arbitrary proceedings imaginable; every thing was conducted with violence, the state was continually agitated with tumults and feditions, the people were harraffed and perplexed, they faw the government in the utmost diforder, but knew not how or where to apply a remedy. Had the boundaries of the powers lodged in different parts of the government, been chalked out with precision, it is manifest it must have gone a great way toward restoring peace and tranquility to the nation. These boundaries could not have been overturned without giving the alarm; each part of the government would have stood a centinel upon the reft, and the people would have known where to have pointed their refentment.

The next circumftance which is peculiar to the people of these States, is the perfect equality which exifts amongft us. We have no fuch thing as orders, ranks, or nobility; and notwithstanding all that Mr. Adams and Mr. De Lolme have faid on this fubject, I will venture to affert that it is almost impossible they should even gain any footing here. It can never be brought about in any way, unlefs by an immenfe accumulation of wealth in the hands of a few people; but this is an exceeding improbable event; our laws of descent are every where favourable to the diftribution of property, and indeed the landed property in the middle and northern States is nine-tenths in the hands of an yeomanry. It is by commerce only then that overgrown

(47)

overgrown eftates could probably be acquired; but where there can be no monopolies, where there are no peculiar privilege in favour of any particular place or fet of men, where the communication both with foreigners and with one state with another, is every where fo easy and practicable, there is little danger to be apprehended from this fource of wealth being confined to a few places, or to a few perfons: in all probability it will be diffused every where. But admitting that a merchant, by fome fuperior advantage either of abilities or good fortune, has been enabled to amais together immense riches; would it not be next to a miracle that the heap should descend undiminished to the third or fourth generation: the chance, I should fuppose, would be a thousand to one. But admitting that it might be transmitted from father to fon without diminution; in what way would he go about to acquire nobility? The prejudices of the people would be most violently opposed to him; the fpirit of equality is fo deeply rooted amongst us, to strongly impressed on the minds of the people, that it would probably require ages to eradicate it. Foreigners, who are accustomed to view titles and orders, as matters of importance, cannot eafily conceive in what contempt the pretentions to thefe are held by the people of this country; but after all it would be impoffible to fucceed in the fcheme of forming a nobility, unless a large proportion of the landed property was engroffed in the hands of a few gentry: but for the following reasons, I prefume, that fo long as our prefent forms of government

(48)

government fubfift there can be very little probability of this event taking place.

1. The landed property in these States is at present nine-tenths of it in the hands of an yeomanry, and generally divided into small farms.

2. From the prevailing temper of the people and the complexion of our laws, these small farms will be divided and subdivided.

3. The proprietors of these small farms will never be disposed to part with their land but at a rate which no man can afford to give, with a view of renting it out.

4. But should a farmer be at any time disposed to fell, he will always find neighbours ready to buy, who from contiguity of situation, can afford to bid much higher than a stranger.

5. Whilft money continues to bear fo high an interest, it can never be advantageous to lay it out in the purchase of improved lands, in order to rent them out again.

6. The laws of this country are unfavourable to entails.

7. No man in this quarter of the globe can have any reafonable inducement to leave his effate to one child in exclusion to all the rest of his children.

But the truth of the matter is, that commerce has a natural tendency to diffuse wealth. As soon as commerce began to flourish in England, those immense baronies into which William had parcelled out the kingdom at the conquest, began gradually to crumble to pieces; and at present it is with difficulty the nobility in England can be preserved from beggary, notwithstanding

(49)

withstanding fo much has been done to prevent them from diffipating their estates.

As to family it can never have great influence, the door to promotion stands open fo wide, that no man of abilities, integrity, and activity, can be kept out long; let his family be ever fo low, he must make his way good in despite of all opposition. The consequence will be, that in a few generations fcarce a man in these States but may be able to race his origin from some diffinguished character in government. And as we know of no other diffinctions of rank but those which an office under government, or a feat in the legislature confers, the whole mass of the people will of courfe remain nearly upon an equality with refpect to birth and family: as to abilities they are merely perfonal, and cannot by any means be transmitted to posterity, notwithstanding the great pains Mr. Adams has taken to enforce this notion upon us. Mankind are much nearer upon a level in this refpect than is generally apprehended. It is knowledge, application, and industry, that form the principal distinction between the generality of men;--these qualifications are manifestly personal. Like comets, there will not probably arife about one or two geniuses in an age; and after all it is by fober fenfe and close application to bufinefs that the affairs of this world are to be managed : genius has too fine an edge for common use.---Swift in one of his letters to Lord Bolingbroke, has a passage fo much to the present purpose, that I cannot help transcribing it :--- " Provi-" dence, which defigned the world should be governed

(50)

" verned by many heads, made it a bufinefs " within the reach of common understandings; " while one great genius is buildly found among " ten millions. Did you never observe one of " your clerks cutting his paper with a blunt " ivory-knife? Did you ever know the knife to " fail going the true way? Whereas, if he " had used a razor or a penknife, he had odds " against him of spoiling the whole sheet."

The next peculiarity to be found in these states is, that we have established governments amongst us, approaching nearer to perfect democracies than any we have accounts of, either antient or modern; all power whatever is vefted in, and immediately derived from, the people only; the rulers are their deputies merely, and at certain short periods are removeable by them: nay, the very government itself is a creature formed by themfelves, and may, whenever they think it neceffary, be at any time new modelled. The governments in these States are in fact nothing more than focial compacts entered into for the mutual advantage of the individuals of whom the fociety is composed. But fay these gentlemen, Mr. De Lolme, Mr. Adams, &c. governments fo extremely democratic, can never last long: be its construction whatever it may, without Orders and Balances, it is impoffible to prevent a government from degenerating into a tyramy: the legislature will finally engross all power to themselves, and for prevention of this no other remedy can be devifed that will prove effectual. But are we blindly to take this leap in the dark? Is an hereditary monarch and no. bility,

(51)

bility, the only poffible expedient by means of which power can be limited and reftrained? I thank God that the people of these States are not yet reduced to this dreadful alternative; I trust there are other modes, more effectual and far lefs dangerous, of effecting this purpofe. I will readily admit that where the legislative power is confined to one affembly of reprefentatives, without any check or controul placed in the hands of the executive or judicial, the apprehensions of this evil may not be altogether without foundation. Man is eafily intoxicated with power; like a fot to his rum bottle, he becomes every day more and more attached to its charms. Tho' it is fo fhort a time fince our governments have been put in motion, yet examples have not been wanting of the prevalence of this dangerous thirst after more power in fome of our legiflatures; a negative therefore lodged in the hands of the executive and judicial powers, is abfolutely necessary in order that they may be able to defend themselves from the encroachments of the legislature. Wherever these checks are wanting, the government must neceffarily be unfteady and fluctuating; experience must in time convince the people of the neceffity of them, and we may reafonably expect they will finally become fundamentals in the conftitution of every State in the union.

The different conftitutions which have been adopted by these States, are experiments in government entirely new; they are founded upon principles peculiar to themselves: we are indeed indebted to England for those two noble discoveries

(52)

discoveries of a representative legislature, and a trial by jury; but with respect to the former, the copy is brought to a degree of perfection infinitely beyond the original. The whole of the legislative body, whether confifting of an affembly only, or of an affembly and fenate, are chosen by the people; which circumstance renders our governments the most democratic that ever have existed any where. The government of England will be found on examination to be an heterogeneous jumble of incoherent and inconfistent parts; a vain attempt to reconcile the jarring and incompatible interests of monarchy, ariftocracy, and democracy. The institutions which we have adopted, may really and truly be called the government of the people, and of the people only; but tho' they are fo extremely popular, yet the checks which have been invented, (particularly in fome of them) have rendered these governments capable of a degree of stability and confistency beyond what could have been expected, and which will be viewed with furprife by foreigners. In fine, when we confider the advantages of AN ORI-GINAL COMPACT,-defining, limiting, and restraining with precision and accuracy the various powers of government,---the equality of representation and frequency of elections,-the admirable checks which have been contrived to controul the legiflature; —we shall find that the conftitutions of fome of these States approach very near perfection, and have left all the governments of the old world, whether ancient or modern, far behind them.

(53)

But after all, every thing that has hitherto been done will fignify nothing without an effectual FOEDERAL GOVERNMENT. The plan that has been submitted to our confideration by the late Convention, furpasses my most fanguine expectation. When we confider the multiplicity of jarring interests, which mutual conceffion alone could reconcile, it really becomes matter of aftonishment that a system of legislation could have been effected in which fo few impertections are to be found. The man who can deliberately go about to oppose the adoption of this plan, must evidently be actuated by finister motives; for admitting it to be much more faulty than it really is, can we form any reasonable hope of obtaining a better?

What a glorious spectacle would the adoption of this constitution exhibit! an event to totally contradictory to the habits and fentiments which prevail every where but in Ame rica, would scarcely be credited. Elevated infinitely beyond even the conceptions of the wifest men of the East, our situation would excite the envy and admiration of all the world; and we should probably have the honor of teaching mankind this important, this interesting lesson, THAT MAN IS ACTUALLY CA-PABLE OF GOVERNING HIMSELF, and not (thro' the imbecility of his nature) "unavoidably" necessities to resign himself to the guidance of one or more masters.

It might be deemed arrogant in me should I prefume to suggest amendments to a constitution, in the formation of which the ablest political

litical artifts of the nation have been employed. To vindicate myfelf from this charge, I think it will be fufficient for me to fay that the conflitution, tho' excellent, is acknowledged on all hands to have its defects : how indeed could it be otherwife? The wonder is, that fo few are to be found. The following are the amendments I would propofe.

(54)

That the executive be divided into THREE GRAND DEPARTMENTS.

I. The PRESIDENT vefted with all the powers given him by the conftitution, except fuch as are hereafter proposed to be lodged in other hands. To make appointments without the advice and confent of the Senate.

II. The CHIEF JUSTICE to have the appointment of the Judges, and every other officer necessary to the administration of justice;—to hold his office during good behaviour.

III. The SUPERINTENDENT OF FINANCE to have the management of all matters relative to the collection and expenditure of the fœder 1 revenues; to have the appointment of all officers of the revenue; the treasurer or receiver general, treasfurers and receivers in each State, customhouse officers, excise officers, &c.—to hold his office during good behaviour.

These three great executive officers, to confitute a council to revise all bills which have passed the house of representatives and the senate, in the same manner as by the constitution it is directed to be done by the President. A majority to determine the sense of the council on all questions that may come before them.

(55)

An Auditor General to be chosen by a majority of the House of Representatives;—to continue in office during *their pleasure*. He must have the appointment of as many deputies as he may deem necessary.

I must beg leave to make a few observations on the above distribution.

I. The powers that must necessarily be intrufted in the hands of the Prefident, are amply fufficient to preferve his refpectability and independence; were they greater, he might become dangerous : for which reason the revision of the laws is not left *folely* to him; and the appointments under the Chief Justice and Superintendent of Finance, are given to each respectively. But there is another reason in favour of this last arrangement ;---as each in his department must know, better than any other perfon can, whether those who may offer themselves as candidates for office are properly qualified, we may prefume that they will of courfe be more competent to this business, and at the fame time more refponfible.

By giving the revision *altogether* to a Prefident, the judicial is left *unprotected*; and for want of a technical legal knowledge, the laws may be deftitute of uniformity and confiftency. Again, as a thorough knowledge of the fittest modes of raising and collecting a revenue is not easily acquired, we may reasonably apprehend that Congress, who cannot be supposed scientifically acquainted with this business, might, without the affistance, and in some measure controul 5 I

8

(56)

controul of a Superintendent of Finance, proceed upon mistaken principles, and run themfelves into most fatal mistakes.

III. It is manifest there would be danger in intrusting the powers of a President in the same hands for more than three or four years without a new election. This *necessary* dependence of the President on the voice of the people for his continuance in office, renders him, so far forth an unfit perfon to place in opposition to a bad measure, if it should happen to be popular.

IV. From the nature of the offices of Chief Juftice and Superintendent of Finance, a greater degree of permanency may be given to them, without danger to liberty; it is therefore proposed that these offices should be held during good behaviour, and be in the appointment of the President. These circumstances will render the possession for totally independent of all popular influence, that they may be fassely relied on, should an opposition to Congress be at any time necession.

V. The Prefident should have the chusing of his own advisers, as he will of confequence be the more responsible.—But at any rate, the Senate are very improper for this office, as they are to fit as judges in case of an impeachment of the Prefident.

VI. To guard against any danger there may be, of collusion between the Superintendent or any of his officers, and the Auditor or his deputies, it is necessary the Auditor be wholly under the power of Congress, and removeable at any time.

FINIS.

ERBATUM in the 7th Page,-for interest, read instinct.

129

26-A. New Jersey Form of Ratification Sent to Congress, 18 December 1787.

Constantion of the Shall of Some Sources and the Sources finite this open on the fundar & day of the and an opened to long of the the sources of the sources The the Richele of the United States - appropriate and the states Minter tales of Amile . at was clock and being of the putation I pakes and the chines in in for good, and her stren your a algor of the United Sales, and with first with only children had in the to that Lo there for the m part if the stan any ip fing under alland ar much an of with son on commit daw grant has and as from both 'c. 1. 1. 41 in marcher ... of present a set we dont a se the tribe - Cing her and shall in fight the land it probably and the

1. Engrossed MS, RG 11, Certificates of Ratification of the Constitution and Bill of Rights ..., 1787–92, National Archives.

NJ26A. New Jersey Form of Ratification Sent to Congress, 18 December 1787

5

. . . I ... 40 to ale sin as to be inter to he applied had and وهوردينا البرقود وبو . . I a de think & main a atoris harrow I for you to along out hope about & a hand I al to show to be light when the as april about loss has profiler to some the port with - - it le tu at and and the las ard & anno 1 The share in to repet in the is the mat and they come and grand a 4._ 44 8. + & Alis k.t. in the output of had ma pi the ja · marther in ead it sings 714with the a to get with ful office a Ear I hick inf. · 4 the sale .. ind ... the build above an 1. 6 ula 160. -m.1 of stat 4 a hope 144 6 14 4 111 -1%+ 1 per the Handed 4.4 by the m in the A. 61. ful of the liquilitais of the . " - 11 " f. H. a. the buildings , that it was and pages for . le all la - which that to encodiory ing intios 1 4 143 . 1. 6. The Mind of . Color.

in to anis. An It failes to the C y je n that TK he with hand a we wight , he . 1 the same and a 445inter of the soil of hates 12 and . antig L: L. /12 1- + 50 no repitation , is also mind , has In chin 44 . 2042 46664 a to the fact of an fut one Sign of an - her yrtetin y maren a be Mar jlan " mile low to godall & Là m N.H.L. in which to down from the righty , but as an expression of app opinities and by lang and a light on fature to an amount of the anists are openations of The lith , month which to reached to the Month's call on prior bothing any offer of Sight to last and him, about, without the surface of the . At . ing had what an for say ling from a primer thet . .

n sik my lindy, attion , a sa fantin , and blan a man and af ifd , an many , ait bits of attin on any this at wit and the and the an a la be so her infairing the different of more than any litter of addition - The provident because of the top of the second state on the infants of the second state on the second state of the second state of the second state on the second state of the second state on the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state on the second state of the s 4. in fry i f which an input a up to map mint -Astal - Curdes, y your - - for and the kis a ------

. . t. line. 11.

han to ald to be wond in from what is a higher to be Partia Bake of the said - A plat hill higher doing the herry for good and lighter and to plan and lighter and the her and any constant of allowing apart to the allowing the time of the grant of the first the second of the time of a second of the second of the time of hateling to white do was I with the in the Commit what . Act to the Consider the ray interior find a ---- fr The state how 1 is their my to an hard Sold at has interes I much lift they shall vige intrated of of the Orient Cate, there has to in Sufficient of the sounds . - " the property to be should enter in the proper - The Project leaves the analysis and the state to the sufficient of and sounds. I a mainty of the north of marks of antis, then the least of sounds there will be sufficient of and sounds. I a mainty of the north of marks of antis, then the least of sounds their will be sufficient of and the sound the for the sound of the sound the ar k. dana . to and of it's growned of ----- d shake as with the to maind. In that sound a in the and have no squal much. hit the first hough what in the . for more so more por la hild of he chate and a superior of all the state plat to maying to a chair - " sony of open to down of to the for plat to for the for a for the to the in. al la bier d there as a man, and he This has the base on to me to be and the spinet on granted to the spinet of the spinet of the spinet on the prove of the spinet 14 the in that 1. and put offices what astorn or one prover a resperance where while and is a consistence of an are a damp a consist to which is tion a "laterational bases or own - and a second of a second of a second base of the second of the s with this bakes . the second what the second of the second of

NJ26A. New Jersey Form of Ratification Sent to Congress, 18 December 1787

to an addition of the state of the second of the second of the second and the second and all the second is the second and the minites, b dat tele an el for fill, and fill and Alt fin & grant for mind and in first hiddered. In most of the thirdered. In most of the third of the second of the thirdered . Sami IV. shell in shall find not such a state of sine in secies take in the public with more so such and so secretary star with a star be togy from by grand tone parent to marine in which find out non preserving for to proved and in sport an enter a . inter . . . y to day . the Star has the any he admines by the long of all the same in a maple to the form a make and a more than any he admines by the partial of the form by the same of the long of the to be and the form by the form by the partial of the form by the form by the same of the to be added on the same of the to be to be the same of the to be to be the same of the to be to . We to entropy on the set of the to appear of the mappen of the mappen of the mappen of the mapped . C. alfinde . M. A . marte . Marke pet to make the design to and the second second

I mit Hin wich tangen to hand mit any one to had some of the top and the for good and the population and the marger work for the description of the source o

we know Mater as may to . by admitying to the style of the landing the line plan and Tay "Secured . Hat the stang of the regarding landing of the date to and they as in the course to and i later of this tale for the list day of Househo left made and pape the file ing Cal. Vint "The Cal to acting the List of the state to and in Connection of the Hard and for the test to and in Connection of the Hard State have been to be the state of the state to and in Connection of the Hard State have been to be the state of th and tim . hals al She any wife notication and . Nile before the signing harres, the section on words, my Consen of " now interimed between the population on suchand time on the second . t. d. John attiment : burndents on And Biligs & from the for sty of the atil 1.1.1. In Ma unly of Borgon Diti worly of banc. the Il the Mhe Secie Munity Auntinon ilme Contres. C.m. In tabien Witham Withal . Horris . . . Amin Bea.2 of wather birty Maper com men Pres Micolis 8.4 A. A Maila bis hill clight Themes Kryth free the Johna A Wallace Plus 2 haneran i stat Hhilen Cripp Man D. H. Kerry 264110 Must Son the John Ste? 1.4

In Convention of the Male of Ver firsty. Illifald thing the surprising a contratation for the analter sures . Annual and the second atte to go a stance , and and uprated to any up the form and In the in the words prairing by the of the United Mithes in order le form a man, a in and some the Bugungery Surty to carters and no being her an american for there retainer farmer outer down the Aninguerity beaute for the common top on the po the lenders chains of . tomened . . Intita I. Stills - Magnutic Paris and grands have been a company of a land and and and a source of the source when the construction , a first a second second and a second on the second one , where such as a such to be second on the second of a are builder wir erste demanner er alle alle manner en einer einer beiner er an einer er an einer gener in einer mann dem nicht mehr wirde beigder bei erste einer einer einer mehren einer einer einer einer einer er an ehrte g hand and and and an and a second of the seco to see the star general and their serve the sea the offer generation at e la bib de anno en sand annon de anna la construcción anna for construcción a branco a servición a a servició La construcción de anterior de anterior de anna de anna de anterior de anterior de la construcción de anterior d La construcción de anterior de la construcción de anterior de anterior de anterior de la construcción de anterior аналык бала бала алкар түкке кабаран калакт. Кабландан дак дак дактаралар кала култана балка калактан <mark>жаз</mark>аланан колонч that for any on a strand and going and going and and and sold as a last a could be to be bouting to a to a for going an assessment on a sold to be to be bouting to a to a for going an assessment on a (1) Standard and the second s second seco An example on the bary of the second second to be present or supremented for the second of the second second of the second of t second of the second of

1. Engrossed MS, Rutgers University Library.

26-B. New Jersey Form of Ratification Retained by the State, 18 December 1787¹

NJ26B. New Jersey Form of Ratification Retained by the State, 18 December 1787

bejours a that become the set that have a justified on the legence of any one of the same a non-the star for a set of the set of the

and the index of a matching branch is a matching of his of a second second second second branch of a second sec

Mehoyon belanna sanganan gana kananangan katahan anat nan antan katan kanan apanan kananan sangan kanan sangan kanan katan kanan katan kanan ka Kanan unumuna huna kanan kanan sanan kanan kan Kanan kana Kanan kan

BAR Sound a state of a second second second second and a second s

. Article 11

Which is consistent when which a set on a second of a sum fairs g downed. At shall was a first way for the many second second when a second second

.

In Sound have good in any finguraments to a mapping of a los and of hopenste to make comes proved to be ander to control comes, and a said no water of A state of the set of the seto

. tilit. III.

(PINE III)
A the formula from q in the part and to not incomposed on the second of the providence of the part of th

. til " .N.

is commented a second day in the sugar south general laws meeters a woman on that we take were flood Nich to Sure good Soudies and a second on the sport of a more some becels ? sugar shart is herevel, " the . pores thesees .

And a hard, the pair have.
 Market & Mark

longe to grant with a bear to me for some that a sale and a long to be to be a construction on the optimise of the light have bear how for the grant for any for the grant for a so ene den en na har e henre a na ser e ser e betrenne en en de de berre berre ser ander ander ander ander ander a nat beget en at en angen andere e her ten andere en e ten kar beherre ten artient in van de ante i arrent ser andere e her fande -Hillet VI.

• PHOLE VI.
• PHOLE VI.
• Photo: VI.
• Ph

. tolat. \ 11.

a gegene stander og an han om tingand par and sand sand sand gar and at at at at a san a stang sig to seen."

Inter the second of the first of the second more an emperating with the to . . They detiens from the promating

NJ26B. New Jersey Form of Ratification Retained by the State, 18 December 1787

to retinguing of the bound with the second to be and the second second to be the south and to be the south of the second to be t the entersion to a constitution . If speciel is of the many to bear in the or the fait of the fait and on the set of the back to the back to the back addes to be proportion " some smilly as is the some in Single survey . Subserved the Statinger of the respective described find the list is and bey as searchy requested to para a consisty nation as may as significant and the state of the " aques & later questions as afreend?" can commen Selane, persion a beauser a Charge beaut du d'an any agus territ, bagan the combabbar fuer backs. Bear a bear allow a transmission constat to be here bear to be barren. Caref barren - Caref barren - Caref barr hand at aging some and of the interior of some state of an and to tout he of the part of a rate unante with the some some Ast Sign to figure week to a sweet the second rate town in sign to be with some on to good be west and to be best her the hast at a list her the stational stringer being to be and find at the second second stringer been to be and to and to be a the best her at to be a the best her at the best "Aner's contro don Parts and delighty for the bush fit atiling ha. Ha. Sen skin . . C comiga istor tolin 2. . : 6 Services. Lester Tity In a county mai Crem Sec. Allering . 12 1 Same bergalis in such Taxes (.in, Atta, > (no burnt 2 minut tongues Records. det is a . Gini Minine. P. Aciga . 4 . ra Tune is Hackney ittelen program fit chester to channe a Martin innelis And Marine ghiling Camere his at 2. M. A.U.n. ŧ,